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PART |
Item 1. Financial Statements
Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)

Revenues:
Manufacturing
Leasing & Services

Operating costs:
Cost of revenues:
Manufacturing
Leasing & Services

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses:
Manufacturing
Leasing & Services
Corporate & other

Gains on dispositions of property:
Lease portfolio sales
Other

Total operating profit
Other (income) expense:
Interest expense, net

Other, net

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:

Current

Deferred

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations, net of benefit for income taxes of $0.6 and $1.3
Net income

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.

Basic earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.
Diluted earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:

Basic

Diluted

Three Months Ended

March 31,

2025

2024

(in millions, except per share amounts)

2982 $ 525.3
287.2 284.3
585.4 809.6
2716 476.3
171.6 168.6
4432 644.9
6.9 7.7
18.7 18.1
24.4 26.5
50.0 52.3
5.9 2.1
1.7 0.7
76 2.8
99.8 115.2
66.1 69.1
2.7) 3.4
63.4 725
36.4 42.7
135 13.1
(6.1) 2.1)
7.4 11.0
29.0 31.7
(1.9) (4.3)
271 274
5.0 3.7
221 $ 237
029 $ 0.34
(0.02) (0.05)
027 $ 0.29
029 $ 0.33
(0.02) (0.05)
026 $ 0.28
81.6 81.6
83.8 83.5

Note: Earnings per common share is calculated independently for each component and may not sum to total net income attributable to Trinity

Industries, Inc. per common share due to rounding.
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions)
Net income $ 271§ 27.4
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Derivative financial instruments:
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period, net of tax benefit (expense) of $0.6 and $(3.4) (2.0) 11.4
Reclassification adjustments for (gains) losses included in net income, net of tax benefit (expense) 21 (3.9)
of $0.5 and $(1.2)
0.1 7.5
Comprehensive income 27.2 34.9
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest 5.1 3.8
Comprehensive income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 221 $ 31.1

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net of allowance
Income tax receivable
Inventories:

Raw materials and supplies

Work in process

Finished goods

Restricted cash, including partially-owned subsidiaries of $35.9 and $39.1
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost, including partially-owned subsidiaries of $1,923.3 and

$1,920.5

Less accumulated depreciation, including partially-owned subsidiaries of $702.4 and $690.0

Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Debt:
Recourse
Non-recourse:
Wholly-owned subsidiaries
Partially-owned subsidiaries

Deferred income taxes

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Preferred stock — 1.5 shares authorized and unissued
Common stock — 400.0 shares authorized
Capital in excess of par value

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock

Trinity stockholders' equity

Noncontrolling interest

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

December 31,
March 31, 2025 2024

(unaudited)
(in millions)

$ 249 $ 228.2
368.9 379.1

2.5 2.4

265.4 320.0

101.3 1015

83.0 54.7

4497 476.2

140.2 146.2

9,847.7 9,751.1

(2,832.3) (2,763.0)

7,015.4 6,988.1

2215 2215

371.6 390.5

$ 8,664.7 $ 8,832.2
$ 2554 $ 251.7
281.9 353.0

598.0 597.8

3,961.6 4,021.3

1,056.6 1,071.8

5,616.2 5,690.9

1,069.5 1,075.6

142.0 153.8

7,365.0 7,525.0

0.8 0.8

14.1 8.8

1,051.6 1,054.1

4.2) 4.2)

(9.1) (0.6)

1,053.2 1,058.9

246.5 2483

1,299.7 1,307.2

$ 8,664.7 $ 8,832.2
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2025 2024

(in millions)
Operating activities:

Net income $ 271 $ 27.4
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 1.9 4.3
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities — continuing
operations:
Depreciation and amortization 74.3 73.4
Stock-based compensation expense 5.3 4.7
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes (6.1) (2.1)
Net gains on lease portfolio sales (5.9) (2.1)
Gains on dispositions of property and other assets 1.7) (0.7)
Non-cash interest expense 3.4 3.4
Other (0.4) 0.5
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables 101 (118.1)
(Increase) decrease in inventories 26.5 41.2
(Increase) decrease in other assets 8.2 (5.1)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 3.5 30.6
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities (61.1) (1.5)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (6.7) 0.6
Net cash provided by operating activities — continuing operations 78.4 56.5
Net cash used in operating activities — discontinued operations (1.9) (4.3)
Net cash provided by operating activities 76.5 52.2
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures — lease fleet (120.2) (147.5)
Proceeds from lease portfolio sales 33.7 24.2
Capital expenditures — operating and administrative (9.2) (4.6)
Proceeds from dispositions of property and other assets 4.1 3.9
Net cash used in investing activities (91.6) (124.0)
Financing activities:
Payments to retire debt (77.3) (803.8)
Proceeds from issuance of debt — 909.9
Payments to settle contingent consideration liability (8.0) (8.0)
Shares repurchased (8.2) —
Dividends paid to common shareholders (24.6) (23.0)
Purchase of shares to satisfy employee tax on vested stock (0.3) (0.3)
Distributions to noncontrolling interest (5.8) (3.0)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (124.2) 71.8
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (139.3) —
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 374.4 235.1
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 2351 $ 235.1

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(unaudited)

Common Stock Accumulated Treasury Stock
Capital in Other Trinity Total
$0.01 Par  Excess of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’ Noncontrolling Stockholders’
Shares Value Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Shares Amount Equity Interest Equity
(in millions, except par value and per common share amounts)
Balances at
December 31, 2024 818 $ 08 $ 88 $ 10541 $ (4.2) — 0.6) $ 1,058.9 $ 2483 $ 1,307.2
Net income — — — 221 — — — 221 5.0 271
Other comprehensive
income — — — — — — _ — 0.1 01
Cash dividends declared on
common stock ™ — — — (24.6) — — — (24.6) — (24.6)
Distributions to
noncontrolling interest - - - — - - - - (6.9) (6.9)
Stock-based compensation
expense — — 5.3 — — — — 5.3 — 5.3
Settlement of share-based
awards, net - - — _ - — (0.3) (03) - (03)
Shares repurchased — — — — — (0.3) (8.2) (8.2) — (8.2)
Balances at
March 31, 2025 81.8 § 08 $§ 141 § 10516 § (4.2) ©03) $ (91 $ 10532 § 2465 $ 1,299.7
Common Stock Accumulated Treasury Stock
$0.01 Capital in . Other Trinity . Total
Par Excess of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’ Noncontrolling Stockholders’
Shares Value Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Shares Amount Equity Interest Equity
(in millions, except par value and per common share amounts)
Balances at
December 31, 2023 818 $§ 08 $ 154 $ 1,0105 $ 11.0 — $ 0.6) $ 1,037.1  § 2384 $ 1,275.5
Net income — — — 23.7 — — — 23.7 3.7 274
Other comprehensive
income — — = = 7.4 = — 7.4 0.1 75
Cash dividends declared on
common stock () — — — (23.3) — — — (23.3) — (23.3)
Distributions to
noncontrolling interest — — — _ _ — _ — (3.0) (3.0
Stock-based compensation o o 47 o - o - 47 - 47
expense : ) :
Settlement of share-based
awards, net — — 0.1 — — — (0.4) (0.3) — (0.3)
Balances at
March 31, 2024 818 $ 08 $§ 202 $ 1,0109 § 18.4 — $ (1.0) $ 1,0493 § 2392 §$ 1,288.5

() Dividends of $0.30 and $0.28 per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The foregoing Consolidated Financial Statements are unaudited and have been prepared from the books and records of Trinity Industries, Inc.
and Subsidiaries (“Trinity,” “Company,” “we,” “our,” or "us"), which include the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and partially-owned
subsidiaries, TRIP Rail Holdings LLC (“TRIP Holdings”), RIV 2013 Rail Holdings LLC ("RIV 2013"), and Trinity Global Ventures Limited ("Trinity
Global Ventures"), in which we have a controlling interest. In our opinion, all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of
our financial position as of March 31, 2025 and the results of operations and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024
have been made in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been

eliminated. Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the 2025 presentation.

Due to seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 may not be indicative of expected
results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2025. These interim financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the
instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue associated with our railcar lease contracts is recognized in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, Leases.
Revenue associated with our railcar manufacturing, maintenance services, digital and logistics services businesses, and certain servicing,
maintenance, and management agreements is recognized in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Revenue is measured based on the allocation of the transaction price in a contract to satisfied performance obligations. The transaction price
does not include any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. We recognize revenue when we satisfy a performance obligation by transferring
control over a product or service to a customer. For all contracts with customers, we evaluate whether we are the principal (i.e., report revenues on
a gross basis) or agent (i.e., report revenues on a net basis). Generally, we are the principal in our contracts with customers and report revenues
on a gross basis as we control the product or service before it is transferred to a customer. We act as an agent for a small number of service
contracts and report those revenues on a net basis as we do not control the services before they are provided to the customer. Payments for our
products and services are generally due within normal commercial terms.

The following is a description of principal activities from which we generate our revenue, separated by reportable segments. See Note 4 for a
further discussion regarding our reportable segments.

Railcar Leasing and Services Group

In our Railcar Leasing and Services Group ("Leasing Group"), revenue from rentals and operating leases, including contracts that contain non-
level fixed lease payments, is recognized monthly on a straight-line basis. Leases not classified as operating leases are generally considered
sales-type leases as a result of an option to purchase.

We review our operating lease receivables for collectibility on a regular basis, taking into consideration changes in factors such as the lessee’s
payment history, the financial condition of the lessee, and business and economic conditions in the industry in which the lessee operates. In the
event that the collectibility of a receivable with respect to any lessee is no longer probable, we derecognize the revenue and related receivable and
recognize future revenue only when the lessee makes a rental payment. Contingent rents are recognized when the contingency is resolved.

Selling profit or loss associated with sales-type leases is recognized upon lease commencement, and a net investment in the sales-type lease is
recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Interest income related to sales-type leases is recognized over the lease term using the effective
interest method. See "Lease Accounting" below for additional information regarding sales-type leases.
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We report all sales of railcars from the lease fleet and selling profit or loss associated with sales-type leases as a net gain or loss from the
disposal of a long-term asset in accordance with ASC 610-20, Gains and losses from the derecognition of non-financial assets. These sales are
presented in the Lease portfolio sales line in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Our maintenance services business is primarily dedicated to servicing our lease fleet. Revenues related to maintenance services performed on
Company-owned railcars under full-service lease agreements are eliminated within the Railcar Leasing and Services Group. Services that are not
included in the full-service lease agreement, such as repairs of railcar damage or other customer-specific requirements, as well as maintenance
and repair activities on railcars owned by third parties, including our investor-owned fleet, are reflected in the Leasing Group's revenues and are
not eliminated in consolidation.

Within maintenance services, revenue is recognized over time as repair and maintenance projects are completed, using an input approach
based on the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of performing the project. We recorded contract assets of $11.5 million and
$9.6 million as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively, related to unbilled revenues recognized on repair and maintenance
activities that have been performed, but for which the entire project has not yet been completed, and the railcar has not yet been shipped to the
customer. These contract assets are included within the Receivables, net of allowance line in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Rail Products Group

Our railcar manufacturing business recognizes revenue related to new railcars at a point in time when the customer has submitted its certificate
of acceptance and legal title of the railcar has passed to the customer. Certain contracts for the sales of railcars include price adjustments based
on changes to input costs; this amount represents variable consideration for which we are generally unable to estimate the final consideration until
the railcar is delivered.

Revenue related to sustainable railcar conversions is recognized over time as sustainable railcar conversions are completed, using an input
approach based on the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of performing the project. Revenue related to certain support services is
recognized over time based on our stand-ready obligation to provide such services. We recorded contract assets of $3.7 million and $3.4 million as
of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively. These contract assets are included within the Receivables, net of allowance line in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We account for shipping and handling costs as activities to fulfill the promise to transfer the good; as such, these fees are recorded in revenue.
The fees and costs of shipping and handling activities are accrued when the related performance obligation has been satisfied.

Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in future periods related to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of March 31, 2025 and the percentage of the outstanding performance obligations as of March 31, 2025
expected to be delivered during the remainder of 2025:

Unsatisfied performance obligations at March

Total Percent expected to be
Amount delivered in 2025
(in millions)
Rail Products Group:
New railcars:
External customers $ 1,702.2
Leasing Group 184 .4
$ 1,886.6 40.3 %
Sustainable railcar conversions $ 3.1 100.0 %
Railcar Leasing and Services Group:
Leasing and management $ 52.8 26.0 %
Maintenance services $ 3.5 100.0 %
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The remainder of the unsatisfied performance obligations for the Rail Products Group is expected to be delivered through 2028. The orders in
the Rail Products Group's backlog from the Leasing Group are fully supported by lease commitments with external customers. The final amount of
backlog attributable to the Leasing Group may vary by the time of delivery as customers may elect to change their procurement decision.

Unsatisfied performance obligations for the Railcar Leasing and Services Group are related to servicing, maintenance, and management
agreements and are expected to be performed through 2029.

Lease Accounting
Lessor

Our Leasing Group enters into railcar operating leases with third parties with terms generally ranging between one year and ten years. The
maijority of our fleet operates on full-service leases that earn fixed monthly lease payments. Generally, lease payments are due at the beginning of
the applicable month. A portion of our fleet operates on per diem leases that earn usage-based variable lease payments. Some of our leases
include options to extend the leases for up to five years, and a small percentage of our leases include early termination options with certain notice
requirements and early termination penalties. As of March 31, 2025, non-lease fleet operating leases in which we are the lessor were not
significant, and we had no direct finance leases.

We manage risks associated with residual values of leased railcars by investing across a diverse portfolio of railcar types, staggering lease
maturities within any given railcar type, avoiding concentration of railcar type and industry, and actively participating in secondary
markets. Additionally, our lease agreements contain normal wear and tear return condition provisions and high mileage thresholds designed to
protect the value of our residual assets. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.

The following table summarizes the impact of our leases on our Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions)
Operating lease revenues $ 201.8 $ 191.8
Variable operating lease revenues $ 132 § 13.7
Interest income on sales-type lease receivables $ 02 $ 0.2
Future contractual minimum revenues for operating leases will mature as follows (in millions)(":
Remaining nine months of 2025 $ 561.4
2026 633.3
2027 496.1
2028 3323
2029 2101
Thereafter 417.4
Total $ 2,650.6

() Total contractual minimum rental revenues on operating leases relates to our wholly-owned and partially-owned subsidiaries and sub-lease rental revenues associated with the
Leasing Group's operating lease obligations.

Future contractual minimum lease receivables for sales-type leases will mature as follows (in millions):

Remaining nine months of 2025 $ 0.8
2026 1.1
2027 1.1
2028 1.1
2029 1.1
Thereafter 7.9
Total 13.1
Less: Unearned interest income (3.5)
Net investment in sales-type leases () $ 9.6

M Included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

10
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Financial Instruments

We consider all highly liquid debt instruments to be either cash and cash equivalents if purchased with a maturity of three months or less, or
short-term marketable securities if purchased with a maturity of more than three months and less than one year.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk are primarily cash investments, including restricted cash and
receivables. We place our cash investments in bank deposits, investment grade short-term debt instruments, highly-rated money market funds,
and highly-rated commercial paper. We limit the amount of credit exposure to any one commercial issuer. The carrying values of cash, receivables,
and accounts payable are considered to be representative of their respective fair values.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to control procedures that monitor the credit worthiness of customers, the
large number of customers in our customer base, and their dispersion across different end markets and geographic areas. Receivables are
generally evaluated at a portfolio level based on these characteristics. As receivables are generally unsecured, we maintain an allowance for credit
losses using a forward-looking approach based on historical losses and consideration of current and expected future economic conditions.
Historically, we have observed that the likelihood of loss increases when receivables have aged beyond 180 days. When a receivable is deemed
uncollectible, the write-off is recorded as a reduction to the allowance for credit losses. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, we
recognized approximately $4.0 million of credit loss expense and wrote off $0.2 million related to our trade receivables that are in the scope of ASC
326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses, bringing the allowance for credit losses balance from $14.3 million at December 31, 2024 to
$18.1 million at March 31, 2025. This balance excludes the general reserve for operating lease receivables that is permitted under ASC 450,
Contingencies.

Supply Chain Finance Program

In cooperation with a participating financial institution, we facilitate a voluntary supply chain finance ("SCF") program for several of our suppliers.
We negotiate payment terms with suppliers that are in line with average industry terms. We have not pledged any assets as security or provided
other forms of guarantees to the financial institution. Under the SCF program, participating suppliers may choose to sell, at a discounted price,
receivables due from us to the financial institution, at the sole discretion of both the suppliers and the financial institution, prior to the invoices’
scheduled due dates. The payment terms that we negotiate with all suppliers are consistent regardless of whether the supplier chooses to
participate in the SCF program for a particular invoice. The SCF program is administered by a third-party financial institution, and our responsibility
is limited to making payments based on the terms originally negotiated with participating suppliers, regardless of whether such suppliers sell
receivables to the financial institution.

Amounts due to our participating suppliers in the SCF program totaled $10.7 million and $8.2 million as of March 31, 2025 and December 31,
2024, respectively, and are included in accounts payable in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Payments made under the SCF program are
reflected in net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Not Yet Adopted

ASU 2023-09 — In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, "Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures," which enhances
transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires, on an annual basis, a tabular disclosure using specific
categories in the rate reconciliation and providing additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, as well as the
disaggregation of income taxes paid by federal, state, and foreign jurisdictions. ASU 2023-09 is effective for public companies during annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis, with an option for retrospective application. We are currently
evaluating the impact ASU 2023-09 will have on our income tax disclosures.

ASU 2024-03 — In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, "Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses," which improves
financial reporting and responds to investor input by requiring public companies to disclose additional information about certain expenses in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. ASU 2024-03 requires disclosures, on an annual and interim basis, of the amounts of purchases of
inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and intangible asset amortization included in each relevant expense category; a qualitative
description of amounts remaining that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively; and the amount of selling expenses and, in annual reporting
periods, the definition of selling expenses. ASU 2024-03 is effective for public companies during annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2026 on a prospective basis, with an option for retrospective application. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating
the impact ASU 2024-03 will have on our financial statement disclosures.

1
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Note 2. Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations
Acquisitions
Acquisition of Holden America

In December 2022, we acquired Holden America, a manufacturer of market-leading multi-level vehicle securement and protection systems,
gravity-outlet gates, and gate accessories for freight rail in North America. The purchase agreement included minimum additional consideration of
$10.0 million, which was payable in installments of $5.0 million per year in each of 2024 and 2025. The purchase agreement also contained a
provision whereby additional consideration could become payable based on the achievement of certain revenue targets, up to a maximum payout
of $10.0 million. The first installment of the additional consideration, totaling $10.0 million, was paid during the three months ended March 31,
2024.

During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the second and final installment of the additional consideration, totaling $10.0 million, was paid.
This payment is reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, of which $8.0 million related to the initial estimated fair value is included
in financing activities, and $2.0 million related to the remeasurement of the initial estimated fair value is included in operating activities.

Discontinued Operations

In the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed the sale of Trinity Highway Products, LLC (“THP”). Upon completion of the sale, the accounting
requirements for reporting THP as a discontinued operation were met. In connection with the sale, the Company agreed to indemnify the buyer for
certain liabilities related to the highway products business, including certain liabilities resulting from or arising out of the ET-Plus® System, a
highway guardrail end-terminal system (the “ET Plus”). Consequently, results from discontinued operations include certain legal expenses that are
directly attributable to the highway products business. Similar expenses related to these retained obligations that may be incurred in the future will
likewise be reported in discontinued operations. For the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, we recorded expenses related to these
obligations of $2.5 million ($1.9 million, net of income taxes) and $5.6 million ($4.3 million, net of income taxes), respectively. These expenses are
included in loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 15 of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding obligations retained in connection with the THP sale.

12
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Note 3. Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurements
Derivative Instruments

We use derivative instruments to mitigate interest rate risk, including risks associated with the impact of changes in interest rates in anticipation
of future debt issuances and to offset interest rate variability of certain floating rate debt issuances outstanding. We also use derivative instruments
to mitigate the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
are accounted for by recording the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument in accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss ("AOCI") as a separate component of stockholders' equity. These accumulated gains or losses are reclassified into earnings in the periods
during which the hedged transactions affect earnings. Derivative instruments that are not designated as hedges are accounted for by recording the
realized and unrealized gains or losses on the derivative instrument in other, net (income) expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
We continuously monitor our derivative positions and the credit ratings of our counterparties and do not anticipate losses due to non-performance.
See Note 8 for a description of our debt instruments.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

Interest Rate Hedges

Included in accompanying balance sheet
at March 31, 2025

AOCI - loss/(income)

Notional Interest Controlling Noncontrolling
Amount Rate "  Asset/(Liability) Interest Interest

($ in millions)

Expired hedges:

2018 secured railcar equipment notes $ 249.3 441% $ — 3 01 $ —

Tribute Rail secured railcar equipment notes $ 256.0 286 % $ — 01 $ 0.1

2017 promissory notes — interest rate cap $ 169.3 3.00% $ — 3 (0.1) $ —
Open hedges:

2017 promissory notes — interest rate swap $ 374.8 231% $ 43 $ 4.0 $ —

TRL-2023 term loan $ 256.5 379% $ (1.3) $ 1.3 $ =

TILC @ $ 280.0 372% $ 1.2) $ 12 § —

(1)Weighted average fixed interest rate, except for the interest rate cap on the 2017 promissory notes.
@) we entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge a portion of the risk of potential interest rate increases in anticipation of a debt refinancing, which was completed on
April 30, 2025. See Note 8 for further information. The balance at March 31, 2025 is comprised of a derivative liability of $2.1 million with one counterparty and a derivative asset of
$0.9 million with a different counterparty.
Effect on interest expense — increase/(decrease)
Three Months Ended Expected effect

March 31, during next twelve
2025 2024 months

(in millions)

Expired hedges:

2018 secured railcar equipment notes $ — 3 — 3 0.1

Tribute Rail secured railcar equipment notes $ 02 $ 02 $ 0.2

2017 promissory notes — interest rate cap $ — 5 — 5 (0.1)
Open hedges ™:

2017 promissory notes — interest rate swap $ (1.9) $ (3.1) $ (4.0)

TRL-2023 term loan $ 04) $ (1.0) $ (0.3)

TILC $ $ — 3 0.2

() Based on the fair value of open hedges as of March 31, 2025.
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Foreign Currency Hedges

Our exposure related to foreign currency transactions is currently hedged for up to a maximum of nine months. Information related to our foreign
currency hedges is as follows:

Included in
accompanying balance Effect on cost of revenues —
sheet at March 31, 2025 increase/(decrease)
Three Months Ended Expected effect
Notional Asset/ AOCI - March 31, during next twelve
Instrument Amount (Liability) loss/(income) 2025 2024 months ("
(in millions)

Forward contracts $ 798 $ (29) $ 46 $ 47 $ (1.5) $ 4.6
Options $ 503 $ 04 $ 08 $ — 9 03 $ 1.2
() Based on the fair value of open hedges as of March 31, 2025.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments ()

Effect on other, net (income) expense —
increase/(decrease)
- Three Months Ended
Notional Interest Asset/(;.tlablllty) March 31,
Amount Rate March 31, 2025 2025 2024
($ in millions)

Interest rate derivatives — open:

TILC warehouse facility — interest rate cap ~ $ 680.0 250% $ 173 §$ 29 $ 0.7

TILC — interest rate cap @ $ 680.0 250% $ (17.3) $ (29) $ 24
Interest rate derivatives — expired ©:

TILC warehouse facility — interest rate cap ~ $ 800.0 250% $ — % — 5 1.0

TILC — interest rate cap $ 800.0 250% $ — 3 — 3 (1.0)

mComprised of back-to-back interest rate caps entered into with the same counterparty in connection with our risk management objectives.

(3 The amount recorded to other, net (income) expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 includes a fee of $3.1 million related
to the execution of back-to-back interest rate caps associated with the Trinity Industries Leasing Company (“TILC”) warehouse loan facility.

©) These interest rate caps matured and settled in 2024.
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Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for that asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. An entity is required
to establish a fair value hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair
value. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are listed below.

Level 1 — This level is defined as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Our cash equivalents and restricted cash are
instruments of the U.S. Treasury or highly-rated money market mutual funds. The assets measured on a recurring basis as Level 1 in the fair value
hierarchy are summarized below:

Level 1
March 31, 2025 December 31, 2024
(in millions)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 598 $ 209.6
Restricted cash 140.2 146.2
Total assets $ 2000 $ 355.8

Level 2 — This level is defined as observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices
in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term
of the assets or liabilities. Interest rate swaps and interest rate caps are valued at exit prices obtained from each counterparty. Foreign currency
hedges are valued at exit prices obtained from each counterparty, which are based on currency spot and forward rates and forward points. The
assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy are summarized below:

Level 2
March 31, 2025 December 31, 2024
(in millions)
Assets ()
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate hedges $ 52 $ 10.4
Foreign currency hedges 0.4 0.4
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Interest rate derivatives 17.3 23.3
Total assets $ 229 § 34.1
Liabilities @:

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate hedges $ 34 $ —
Foreign currency hedges 29 9.5
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Interest rate derivatives 17.3 23.3

Total liabilities $ 236 $ 32.8

() Included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
@) Included in accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Level 3 — This level is defined as unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of
the assets or liabilities. As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, we have no assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis as Level 3 in
the fair value hierarchy.

See Note 8 for the estimated fair values of our debt instruments. The fair values of all other financial instruments are estimated to approximate
carrying value.
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Note 4. Segment Information

We report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the Railcar Leasing and Services Group, which owns and operates a fleet of
railcars and provides third-party fleet leasing, management, and administrative services; railcar maintenance and modification services; and other
railcar logistics products and services; and (2) the Rail Products Group, which manufactures and sells railcars and related parts and components.

Our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") is our Chief Executive Officer. Operating profit is the primary measure our CODM uses to assess
performance and allocate resources to each of our reportable segments. Gains and losses from the sale of property, plant, and equipment are
included in the operating profit of each respective segment.

Sales and related net profits ("deferred profit") from the Rail Products Group to the Leasing Group are recorded in the Rail Products Group and
eliminated in consolidation. Sales between these groups are recorded at prices comparable to those charged to external customers, taking into
consideration quantity, features, and production demand. Amortization of deferred profit on railcars sold to the Leasing Group is included in the
operating profit of the Leasing Group, resulting in the recognition of depreciation expense based on our original manufacturing cost of the railcars.
Lease portfolio sales are included in the Leasing Group, with related gains and losses computed based on the net book value of the original
manufacturing cost of the railcars.

The financial information for these segments is shown in the tables below (in millions). We operate principally in North America.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2025

Railcar Leasing and Rail Products
Services Group Group Total
External revenues $ 2872 $ 2982 $ 585.4
Intersegment revenues 0.2 122.3 122.5
Total revenues 287.4 420.5 707.9

Elimination of intersegment revenues (122.5)
Total consolidated revenues $ 585.4
Less ()

Rail Products Group cost of revenues @ * 387.7

Depreciation and amortization for Company-owned railcars ) 61.1 *

Maintenance and compliance for Company-owned railcars ¢ 38.0 *

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 18.7 6.9

Gains on lease portfolio sales (5.9) *

Other segment items ©) 71.0 —
Segment operating profit $ 1045 $ 259 $ 130.4
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External revenues
Intersegment revenues
Total revenues
Elimination of intersegment revenues
Total consolidated revenues
Less ()
Rail Products Group cost of revenues @
Depreciation and amortization for Company-owned railcars ®
Maintenance and compliance for Company-owned railcars ©)4)
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses
Gains on lease portfolio sales
Other segment items ©
Segment operating profit

*Not identified as a significant expense for this segment.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Railcar Leasing and Rail Products
Services Group Group Total
$ 2843 $ 5253 $ 809.6
0.9 1421 143.0
285.2 667.4 952.6
(143.0)
809.6
* 615.9
59.9 *
30.4 *
18.1 7.7
(2.1) *
78.6 —
$ 100.3 $ 438 $ 144.1

U] Significant expense categories and amounts align with the segment-level information that is regularly provided to and reviewed by the CODM. Intersegment expenses are included

within the amounts shown.

@) Cost of revenues in the Rail Products Group primarily includes materials, labor, and overhead, including depreciation and amortization.

®) Company-owned railcars include wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

) Maintenance and compliance expense is reported at cost with respect to the services performed by our maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet.

®) Other segment items for each reportable segment include:

— Railcar Leasing and Services Group: the remaining operating costs for our maintenance services and digital and logistics services businesses, including materials, labor, and
overhead costs; other operating costs for the lease fleet, including equipment rental, property taxes, and freight and storage expenses; and gains or losses on dispositions of

other property.
— Rail Products Group: (gains) or losses on dispositions of other property.

The reconciliation of segment operating profit to consolidated net income is as follows:

Operating profit:
Railcar Leasing and Services Group
Rail Products Group
Segment Totals
Corporate and other
Eliminations
Consolidated operating profit
Other (income) expense
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net income
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Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions)
$ 1045 $ 100.3
25.9 43.8
130.4 1441
(24.4) (26.5)
(6.2) (2.4)
99.8 115.2
63.4 72.5
7.4 11.0
(1.9) (4.3)
$ 271 $ 274
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Additional financial information by segment is shown in the tables below.
Total Assets
March 31, 2025 December 31, 2024

(in millions)

Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 8,1486 $ 8,151.7
Rail Products Group 943.4 967.7
Segment Totals 9,092.0 9,119.4
Corporate and other 242.2 383.3
Eliminations (669.5) (670.5)
Total assets $ 8,664.7 $ 8,832.2
Depreciation & Amortization Capital Expenditures
Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
March 31, March 31,
2025 2024 2025 2024
(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 665 $ 654 $ 1225 $ 150.0
Rail Products Group 7.0 6.9 6.6 2.1
Corporate and other 0.8 1.1 0.3 —
Total $ 743 $ 734 3 1294 $ 152.1

Note 5. Partially-Owned Subsidiaries
Investments in Leasing Subsidiaries

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, TILC, we formed two subsidiaries, TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013, for the purpose of providing railcar
leasing services in North America for institutional investors. Each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 are direct, partially-owned subsidiaries of TILC in
which we have a controlling interest. Each is governed by a seven-member board of representatives, two of whom are designated by TILC. TILC is
the agent of each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and, as such, has been delegated the authority, power, and discretion to take certain actions on
behalf of the respective companies.

At March 31, 2025, the carrying value of our investments in TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 totaled $129.2 million. Our ownership interests in TRIP
Holdings and RIV 2013 are 42.6% and 30.5%, respectively, with the remaining interests owned by third-party, investor-owned funds. These
investments in our partially-owned leasing subsidiaries are eliminated in consolidation.

Each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 has wholly-owned subsidiaries that are the owners of railcars acquired from our Rail Products and Leasing
Groups. TRIP Holdings has wholly-owned subsidiaries known as Triumph Rail LLC ("Triumph Rail") and Tribute Rail LLC ("Tribute Rail"). RIV 2013
has a wholly-owned subsidiary known as TRP 2021 LLC ("TRP-2021"). TILC is the contractual servicer for Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-
2021, with the authority to manage and service each entity's owned railcars. Our controlling interest in each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 results
from our combined role as both equity member and agent/servicer. The noncontrolling interest included in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets primarily represents the non-Trinity equity interest in these partially-owned subsidiaries.

Trinity has no obligation to guarantee performance under any of our partially-owned subsidiaries' (or their respective subsidiaries’) debt
agreements, guarantee any railcar residual values, shield any parties from losses or guarantee minimum yields.

The assets of each of Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021 may only be used to satisfy the particular subsidiary's liabilities, and the
creditors of each of Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021 have recourse only to the particular subsidiary's assets. Each of TILC and the third-
party equity investors receive distributions from TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013, when available, in proportion to its respective equity interests, and
has an interest in the net assets of the partially-owned subsidiaries upon a liquidation event in the same proportion. TILC is paid fees for the
services it provides to Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021 and has the potential to earn certain incentive fees. There are no remaining equity
commitments with respect to TRIP Holdings or RIV 2013.

See Note 8 for additional information regarding the debt of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries.
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Other Investment in Consolidated Affiliate

In 2023, the Company and a third party formed Trinity Global Ventures to deliver railcars and provide warranty support services in Saudi Arabia.
Trinity Global Ventures is owned 51.0% by Trinity Rail Group, LLC ("Trinity Rail Group"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and 49.0% by
the third party. Upon consideration under the variable interest entity (“VIE”) model of ASC 810, Consolidation, Trinity has concluded that Trinity
Global Ventures meets the definition of a VIE. Trinity Rail Group has a variable interest in Trinity Global Ventures arising from its 51.0% equity
ownership position. We determined that Trinity is the primary beneficiary and therefore consolidates this entity as we have the power to direct the
activities of the entity that most significantly impact its economic performance. At March 31, 2025, the carrying value of our investment in Trinity
Global Ventures totaled $2.7 million, which is eliminated in consolidation.

Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliate

In 2021, the Company and Wafra, Inc. (“Wafra”), a global alternative investment manager, entered into a railcar investment vehicle program
between Trinity and certain funds managed by Wafra (“Wafra Funds”). As part of this program, a joint venture was formed, Signal Rail Holdings
LLC (“Signal Rail”), which is currently owned 87.4% by Wafra Funds and 12.6% by TILC. TILC services all railcars owned by Signal Rail.

Upon consideration under the VIE model of ASC 810, Consolidation, Trinity has concluded that Signal Rail meets the definition of a VIE. TILC
has variable interests in Signal Rail arising from its 12.6% equity ownership position and its role as a service provider. We determined that Trinity is
not the primary beneficiary and therefore does not consolidate this entity as we do not have the power to direct the activities of the entity that most
significantly impact its economic performance. We will absorb portions of Signal Rail's expected losses and/or receive portions of expected
residual returns commensurate with our 12.6% equity interest in Signal Rail.

Our investment in Signal Rail is being accounted for under the equity method of accounting. At March 31, 2025, the carrying value of TILC’s
equity investment in Signal Rail was $21.0 million, which is included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The carrying value of this
investment represents our maximum exposure in Signal Rail.
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Note 6. Railcar Leasing and Services Group

The Railcar Leasing and Services Group owns and operates a fleet of railcars and provides third-party fleet leasing, management, and
administrative services; railcar maintenance and modification services; and other railcar logistics products and services. See Note 1 for information
on future contractual minimum rental revenues related to the Leasing Group's railcar operating leases. Information related to the Leasing Group is
as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024 Percent
($ in millions) Change

Revenues:

Leasing and management $ 2190 § 209.0 4.8 %

Maintenance services () 59.2 65.2 (9-2)%

Digital and logistics services 9.2 11.0 (16.4)%
Total revenues $ 2874 % 285.2 0.8 %
Cost of revenues @ 171.8 169.6 1.3 %
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 18.7 18.1 3.3 %
Gains on dispositions of property:

Lease portfolio sales 59 2.1 *

Other 1.7 0.7 *
Total operating profit $ 104.5 $ 100.3 42 %
Total operating profit margin 36.4 % 35.2 %
Total operating profit margin, excluding lease portfolio sales 34.3 % 34.4 %
Selected expense information for Company-owned railcars ©):

Depreciation and amortization expense © $ 61.1 $ 59.9 2.0 %

Maintenance and compliance expense © $ 38.0 $ 304 25.0 %

Other fleet operating costs © $ 80 $ 7.7 3.9%

Interest expense 7 $ 564  $ 57.4 (1.7)%

* Not meaningful

() Revenues related to services performed by the maintenance services business on Company-owned railcars under full-service lease agreements are eliminated within the Railcar
Leasing and Services Group and are excluded from the totals reported on this line.

@ Includes depreciation and amortization expense, maintenance and compliance expense, and other fleet operating costs related to our lease fleet, as well as operating costs for our
maintenance services and digital and logistics services businesses.

©) Includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

“) Depreciation and amortization expense includes deferred profit related to new railcar additions, sustainable railcar conversions, railcar modifications, and other betterments,
resulting in the recognition of depreciation expense based on the original cost of the railcars and services.

() Maintenance and compliance expense is reported at cost with respect to the services performed by our maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet.
®) Other fleet operating costs include freight, storage, rent, and ad valorem taxes.
™) Interest expense is not a component of operating profit and includes the effect of hedges.

Information related to lease portfolio sales is as follows:
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
($ in millions)
Lease portfolio sales $ 337 $ 24.2
Operating profit on lease portfolio sales $ 59 $ 2.1
Operating profit margin on lease portfolio sales 17.5 % 8.7 %
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Debt. Wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Leasing Group’s debt at March 31, 2025 consisted primarily of non-recourse debt. As of March 31, 2025,
Trinity’s wholly-owned subsidiaries included in the Leasing Group held equipment with a net book value of $5,542.1 million, which is pledged solely
as collateral for Leasing Group debt held by those subsidiaries. The net book value of unpledged equipment at March 31, 2025 was $445.2 million.
See Note 8 for more information regarding the Leasing Group’s debt.

Partially-owned subsidiaries. Debt owed by TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries is non-recourse to Trinity and TILC.
Creditors of each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries have recourse only to the particular subsidiary's assets. As of
March 31, 2025, TRIP Holdings held equipment with a net book value of $999.4 million, which is pledged solely as collateral for the TRIP Holdings'
debt held by its subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2025, TRP-2021 equipment with a net book value of $404.8 million is pledged solely as collateral for
the TRP-2021 debt.

Note 7. Property, Plant, and Equipment

The following table summarizes the components of property, plant, and equipment:

March 31, 2025 December 31, 2024

(in millions)
Railcars in our lease fleet:
Wholly-owned subsidiaries:
Equipment on lease $ 7,806.0 $ 7,715.0
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,818.7) (1,766.9)
5,987.3 5,948.1
Partially-owned subsidiaries:
Equipment on lease 2,235.9 2,233.1
Less: accumulated depreciation (831.7) (817.1)
1,404.2 1,416.0
Deferred profit on railcar products sold (1,076.0) (1,069.8)
Less: accumulated amortization 345.1 337.3
(730.9) (732.5)
Total railcars in our lease fleet 6,660.6 6,631.6
Operating and administrative assets:
Land 16.3 16.3
Buildings and improvements 404.9 403.2
Machinery and other 445.9 441.8
Construction in progress 14.7 11.5
881.8 872.8
Less: accumulated depreciation (527.0) (516.3)
Total operating and administrative assets 354.8 356.5
Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 70154 §$ 6,988.1

M Includes deferred profit related to new railcar additions, sustainable railcar conversions, railcar modifications, and other betterments. The deferred profit is subsequently eliminated
in consolidation.
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Note 8. Debt

The carrying amounts of our debt are as follows:
December 31,

March 31, 2025 2024
(in millions)
Corporate — Recourse:
Revolving credit facility $ — 3 —
Senior notes due 2028, inclusive of unamortized premium of $4.0 and $4.3 604.0 604.3
604.0 604.3
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (6.0) (6.5)
Total recourse debt 598.0 597.8
Lease fleet — Non-recourse:
Wholly-owned subsidiaries:
Secured railcar equipment notes, net of unamortized discount of $0.3 and $0.3 2,418.8 2,447.3
2017 promissory notes, net of unamortized discount of $1.1 and $1.5 620.6 631.3
TRL-2023 term loan 320.7 323.4
TILC warehouse facility 566.0 584.6
Other equipment financing 49.4 50.0
3,975.5 4,036.6
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (13.9) (15.3)
3,961.6 4,021.3
Partially-owned subsidiaries:
Secured railcar equipment notes, net of unamortized discount of $0.1 and $0.1 1,061.0 1,076.8
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (4.4) (5.0)
1,056.6 1,071.8
Total non-recourse debt 5,018.2 5,093.1
Total debt $ 56162 $ 5,690.9

Estimated Fair Value of Debt — The estimated fair value of our 7.75% senior notes due 2028 ("Senior Notes due 2028") is based on a quoted
market price in a market with little activity (Level 2 input). The estimated fair values of our secured railcar equipment notes are based on our
estimate of their fair value using unobservable input values provided by a third party (Level 3 inputs). The respective carrying values of our
revolving credit facility, 2017 promissory notes, TRL-2023 term loan, and TILC warehouse facility approximate fair value because the interest rate
adjusts to the market interest rate. As of March 31, 2025, we evaluated the fair value of the other equipment financing liability using Level 3 inputs
and determined that the carrying value approximates fair value. The estimated fair values of our debt are as follows:

March 31, 2025 December 31, 2024

(in millions)
Level 2 $ 6221 $ 623.2
Level 3 $ 34215 §$ 3,430.5

Revolving Credit Facility — We have a $600.0 million unsecured corporate revolving credit facility. During the three months ended March 31,
2025, there were no borrowings and no repayments under the revolving credit facility. Additionally, we had outstanding letters of credit issued in an
aggregate amount of $8.7 million, leaving $591.3 million available for borrowing as of March 31, 2025. Our outstanding letters of credit as of March
31, 2025 support performance bonds related to certain railcar orders. The revolving credit facility bears interest at a variable rate of SOFR plus (1)
a benchmark adjustment of 10 basis points and (2) a facility margin of 1.50%, for an all-in interest rate of 5.96% as of March 31, 2025. A
commitment fee accrues on the average daily unused portion of the revolving credit facility at the rate of 0.175% to 0.40% (0.20% as of March 31,
2025).

The revolving credit facility requires the maintenance of ratios related to minimum interest coverage for the leasing and manufacturing operations
and maximum leverage. As of March 31, 2025, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants.
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TILC Warehouse Loan Facility — TILC has a $800.0 million warehouse loan facility to finance railcars owned by TILC. During the three months
ended March 31, 2025, we had total repayments of $18.6 million under the TILC warehouse loan facility. The entire unused facility amount of
$234.0 million was available as of March 31, 2025 based on the amount of warehouse-eligible, unpledged equipment. Advances under the facility
bear interest at one-month term SOFR plus a facility margin of 1.75%, for an all-in interest rate of 6.07% at March 31, 2025.

Subsequent Events

TRL-2023 Term Loan — On April 30, 2025, Trinity Rail Leasing 2023 LLC (“TRL-2023"), a limited purpose, indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company owned through TILC, entered into an amended and restated term loan agreement (the “TRL-2023 term loan agreement”) to (i) increase
the aggregate amount of the term loan from $320.7 million as of March 31, 2025 to $1.05 billion; (ii) extend the maturity date to April 30, 2030; and
(iii) reduce the applicable interest rate to daily simple SOFR plus a facility margin of 1.50%. The TRL-2023 term loan is an obligation of TRL-2023
and is non-recourse to Trinity. The obligation is secured by a portfolio of railcars and operating leases thereon, certain cash reserves, and other
assets to be acquired and owned by TRL-2023. Net proceeds received from the transaction were used to redeem in full the outstanding
borrowings of approximately $616.0 million under Trinity Rail Leasing 2017, LLC (“TRL-2017"), as described below; to repay approximately
$75.8 million of borrowings under TILC's warehouse loan facility; and for general corporate purposes.

Redemption of TRL-2017 Promissory Notes — On April 30, 2025, with the net proceeds of the TRL-2023 term loan agreement described above,
we redeemed in full the TRL-2017 promissory notes (the "2017 Promissory Notes"), of which $616.0 million was outstanding at the redemption
date. The interest rate for the 2017 Promissory Notes was at one-month term SOFR plus (1) a benchmark adjustment of 11 basis points and (2) a
facility margin of 1.50%.

Terms and conditions of our other debt, including recourse and non-recourse provisions and scheduled maturities, are described in Note 9 of our
2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Note 9. Income Taxes

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was an expense of 20.3%, which differs from the
U.S. statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to the benefit of noncontrolling interest for which we do not provide income taxes and foreign tax true-
ups, partially offset by state income taxes and other permanent differences.

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was an expense of 25.8%, which differs from the
U.S. statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to state income taxes and foreign income taxes, partially offset by the benefit of noncontrolling interest
for which we do not provide income taxes.

As of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, our income tax payable for federal, state, and foreign income taxes is $26.7 million and $16.2
million, respectively, which is included in accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Deferred income taxes related to railcars in our lease fleet were $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024,
respectively.
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Note 10. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Changes in AOCI for the three months ended March 31, 2025 are as follows:

Unrealized gains/(losses) Net actuarial Accumulated other

on derivative financial gains/(losses) of defined comprehensive income
instruments benefit plans (loss)

Balances at December 31, 2024 $ (3.00 $ 1.2) $ (4.2)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax, before reclassifications (2.0) — (2.0)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI, net of tax benefit of $0.5, $—, 21 . 21

and $0.5 : :
Less: noncontrolling interest (0.1) — (0.1)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — —
Balances at March 31, 2025 $ (3.0) $ (12) $ (4.2)

See Note 3 for additional information on the reclassification of amounts in AOCI into earnings. Reclassifications of unrealized before-tax gains
and losses on derivative financial instruments are included in interest expense, net for our interest rate hedges and in cost of revenues for our
foreign currency hedges in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Reclassifications of before-tax net actuarial gains/(losses) of defined
benefit plans are included in other, net (income) expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Note 11. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense totaled approximately $5.3 million and $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024,
respectively. The Company's annual grants of share-based awards generally occur in the first and second quarters under our Fifth Amended and
Restated Stock Option and Incentive Plan.

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation awards granted during the three months ended March 31, 2025:

Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant-

Granted Date Fair Value per Award
Restricted stock units 1,338 $ 34.39
Performance units 96,775 $ 44.63

The fair value of restricted stock units granted is based on the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant. For the performance units
granted during the three months ended March 31, 2025 for which the payout is based on relative total shareholder return, the fair value was
estimated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation with assumptions that reflect market conditions at the date of grant, including stock
price, risk-free interest rate, expected term, expected volatility, and dividend yield.
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Note 12. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. per common share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income attributable to Trinity by
the weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding for the period. Except when the effect would be antidilutive, the calculation of
diluted EPS includes the net impact of potentially dilutive common shares. The Company has certain unvested restricted stock awards that
participate in dividends on a nonforfeitable basis and are therefore considered to be participating securities. Consequently, diluted net income
attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. per common share is calculated under both the two-class method and the treasury stock method, and the
more dilutive of the two calculations is presented.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.:
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Income from continuing operations $ 290 $ 31.7

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (5.0) (3.7)
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. 24.0 28.0
Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. (1.9) (4.3)
Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 221 $ 23.7
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 81.6 81.6

Effect of dilutive securities 22 1.9
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 83.8 83.5
Basic earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 029 $ 0.34

Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.05)

Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 027 % 0.29
Diluted earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 029 $ 0.33

Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.05)

Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 026 $ 0.28

Potentially dilutive securities excluded from EPS calculation:
Antidilutive restricted shares 0.1 0.2
Antidilutive stock options — —

Note: Earnings per common share is calculated independently for each component and may not sum to total net income attributable to Trinity
Industries, Inc. per common share due to rounding.
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Note 13. Contingencies
East Palestine, OH Train Derailment

As previously disclosed, on February 3, 2023, a Norfolk Southern Railway freight train derailed 38 railcars in East Palestine, Ohio. TILC has
been named in various actions associated with this incident. TILC was the owner of one tank car cited in these actions, which was leased to a third
party, who is also a third-party defendant in these matters. Developments in these proceedings since the filing of our 2024 Annual Report on Form
10-K include those described below.

On March 24, 2025, the trial court denied Norfolk Southern’s Motion for Entry of Partial Final Judgment in the case styled The State of Ohio,_ex
rel., Dave Yost, Ohio Attorney General, and the United States of America,_Plaintiffs v. Norfolk Southern Railway Company_and Norfolk Southern
Corporation, Defendants, Civil Action No. 4:23-cv-00517.

The previously disclosed litigation styled as Josh Hickman, et al. v. Norfolk Southern Railway Company, et al., has been assigned Case No.
25CV-01-859, in the Court of Common Pleas, Franklin County, Ohio. The previously disclosed litigation styled as Gregory Taylor, et al. v. Norfolk
Southern Railway Company, et al., has been assigned Case No. 25CV-02-858, in the Court of Common Pleas, Franklin County, Ohio.

Previously disclosed litigation styled as Richard Tsai, et al. v. Norfolk Southern Corporation, et al., has been assigned Case No. CV25111454, in
the Court of Common Pleas, Cuyahoga County, Ohio. On February 3, 2025, the same plaintiffs filed an action styled as Richard Tsai, et al. v.
Norfolk Southern Corporation, et al., Case No. 2025-10140, in the Court of Common Pleas, Lawrence County, Pennsylvania, in which TILC,
among others, was named as a defendant. On April 2, 2025, Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the Lawrence County, Pennsylvania lawsuit. On April
3, 2025, Plaintiffs also voluntarily dismissed previously disclosed litigation styled as Richard Tsai, et al. v. Norfolk Southern Corporation,_et al.,
Case No. 250200416 in Philadelphia County, Pennsylvania.

The Company believes it has substantial defenses and intends to vigorously defend itself against all allegations in the third-party and direct
claims asserted against TILC. The Company or its subsidiaries could be named in similar litigation involving other plaintiffs, but the ultimate
number of claims and the jurisdiction(s) in which such claims, if any, may be filed may vary. We do not believe at this time that a loss is probable in
these matters, nor can a range of possible losses be determined. Accordingly, no accrual or range of loss has been included in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. The Company maintains liability insurance coverage and commercial contractual indemnity rights to protect the
Company'’s assets from losses arising from these types of litigation claims.

Highway products litigation

Pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement related to the sale of THP, the Company agreed to indemnify the buyer for certain liabilities related
to the highway products business, including those liabilities resulting from or arising out of ET Plus systems or specified ET Plus component parts
that are both (i) manufactured prior to December 31, 2021, and (ii) sold in the United States on or prior to April 30, 2022, or related warranty
obligations with respect thereto. There have been no significant developments in such proceedings since those previously described in Note 15 of
our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Other matters

The Company is involved in claims and lawsuits incidental to our business arising from various matters, including product warranty, personal
injury, environmental issues, workplace laws, and various governmental regulations. The Company evaluates its exposure to such claims and suits
periodically and establishes accruals for these contingencies when a range of loss can be reasonably estimated. The range of reasonably possible
losses for such matters is $7.5 million to $18.7 million. At March 31, 2025, total accruals of $9.0 million, including environmental and workplace
matters described below, are included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company believes any
additional liability would not be material to its financial position or results of operations.

Trinity is subject to remedial orders and federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations relating to the environment and the workplace. The
Company has reserved $1.1 million to cover our probable and estimable liabilities with respect to the investigations, assessments, and remedial
responses to such matters, taking into account currently available information and our contractual rights to indemnification and recourse to third
parties. However, estimates of liability arising from future proceedings, assessments, or remediation are inherently imprecise. Accordingly, there
can be no assurance that we will not become involved in future litigation or other proceedings involving the environment and the workplace or, if
we are found to be responsible or liable in any such litigation or proceeding, that such costs would not be material to the Company. We believe that
we are currently in substantial compliance with environmental and workplace laws and regulations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to provide management's
perspective on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and certain other factors that may affect our future results. Our MD&A should
be read in conjunction with the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes in Part I, ltem 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q and Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This MD&A includes financial measures compiled in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and certain non-GAAP
measures. Please refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section herein for information on the non-GAAP measures included in the MD&A,
reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, and the reasons why management believes each measure is useful to
management and investors.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q (or statements otherwise made by the Company or on the Company’s behalf from time to time in other
reports, filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), news releases, conferences, website postings, or otherwise) contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements contained herein that are
not historical facts are forward-looking statements and involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include expectations,
beliefs, plans, objectives, future financial performances, estimates, projections, goals, and forecasts. Trinity uses the words “anticipates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “forecasts,” “may,” “will,” “should,” and similar expressions to identify these forward-looking
statements. Potential factors, which could cause our actual results of operations to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements,
include, among others:

* market conditions and customer demand for our business products and services;

+ the cyclical nature of the industries in which we compete;

+ actions by U.S. and/or foreign governments (particularly Mexico and Canada) relative to tariffs, trade policies, federal government budgeting,
taxation policies, government expenditures, and borrowing/debt ceiling limits;

 variations in weather in areas where our products are manufactured, delivered, or used;

» naturally-occurring events, pandemics, fires, and/or disasters causing disruption to our facilities, manufacturing, product deliveries, and
production capacity, thereby giving rise to an increase in expenses, loss of revenue, and property losses;

+ disruptions in the transportation network used to transport parts and components to our production facilities and to deliver products to our
customers, particularly with respect to the delivery of finished railcars from Mexico to the U.S., which may impact our ability to manufacture
and timely deliver railcars to our customers;

» shortages of labor;

* impacts from asset impairments and related charges;

+ the timing of introduction of new products;

» the inability to effectively integrate acquired businesses;

» the timing and delivery of customer orders, lease portfolio sales, or a breach of customer contracts;

+ the creditworthiness of customers and their access to capital;

* product price changes;

+ changes in mix of products sold;

» the costs incurred to align manufacturing capacity with demand and the extent of its utilization;

+ the operating leverage and efficiencies that can be achieved by our manufacturing businesses;

+ availability and costs of steel, component parts, supplies, and other raw materials;

» competition and other competitive factors;

» changing technologies;

* material failure, interruption of service, compromised data security, phishing emails, or cybersecurity breaches in our information technology
(or that of the third-party vendors who provide information technology or other services);

» surcharges and other fees added to fixed pricing agreements for steel, component parts, supplies, and other raw materials;

« inflation, interest rates, and capital costs;

» counter-party risks for financial instruments;

* long-term funding of our operations;

+ taxes;

+ the stability of the governments and political and business conditions in certain foreign countries, particularly Mexico;

» fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly the Mexican peso;

+ geopolitical events, including armed conflicts, and their impact on supply chains, pricing, and the global economy;

» changes in import and export quotas and regulations;

* business conditions in emerging economies;

» costs and results of litigation, including trial and appellate costs;

» changes in accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of accounting policies;

+ changes in laws and regulations that may have an adverse effect on demand for our products and services, our results of operations, financial
condition, or cash flows;

» legal, regulatory, and environmental issues, including compliance of our products with mandated specifications, standards, or testing criteria
and obligations to remove and replace our products following installation or to recall our products and install different products;

» o« » o« » o«
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+ the use of social or digital media to disseminate false, misleading and/or unreliable or inaccurate information; and
+ the inability to sufficiently protect our intellectual property rights.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made. Except as required by federal securities laws,
Trinity undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement
is made. For a discussion of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking

statements, see “Risk Factors” in our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K, this Form 10-Q, and future Forms 10-Q and Current Reports on Forms 8-
K.
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Company Overview

Trinity Industries, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries own businesses that are leading providers of railcar products and services in North
America. We market our railcar products and services under the trade name TrinityRail®. Our platform also includes the brands of RSI Logistics, a
provider of software and logistics solutions, and Holden America, a supplier of railcar parts and components. Our platform provides railcar leasing
and management services; railcar manufacturing; railcar maintenance and modifications; and other railcar logistics products and services.

We report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the Railcar Leasing and Services Group (the "Leasing Group"), which owns and
operates a fleet of railcars and provides third-party fleet leasing, management, and administrative services; railcar maintenance and modification
services; and other railcar logistics products and services; and (2) the Rail Products Group, which manufactures and sells railcars and related
parts and components.

Executive Summary
Cyclical, Seasonal and Other Trends Impacting Our Business
General Business Trends

Demand for many of our railcar products and services is correlated to changes in North American industrial production. We are actively
monitoring trade policy and tariff announcements and the potential impacts to our business. Uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment is
negatively impacting our results of operations and demand for our products and services, and is likely to continue. We remain focused on
minimizing impacts to our supply chain resulting from these announcements and any future developments.

The industries in which our customers operate are cyclical in nature. Although lease rates and lease fleet utilization remain strong, weaknesses
in certain sectors of the North American and global economy may make it more difficult to sell or lease certain types of railcars. Additionally,
changes in certain commodity prices, or changes in demand for certain commodities, could impact customer demand for various types of railcars.
Further, disruptions in the global supply chain have impacted demand for, and the costs of, certain of our products and services.

We continuously assess demand for our products and services and take steps to rationalize and diversify our leased railcar portfolio and align
our operating capacity appropriately. We evaluate the creditworthiness of our customers and monitor performance of relevant market sectors;
however, weaknesses in any of these market sectors could affect the financial viability of our customers, which could negatively impact our
revenues, credit loss expense, and operating profits. We continue to believe that our rail platform is able to respond to cyclical changes in demand
and perform throughout the railcar cycle.

We believe that our leasing business provides a natural hedge against inflation and changes in interest rates; however, like many leasing
companies, the debt component of our capital structure exposes us to changes in the interest rate environment. A significant portion of the
earnings from our leasing business is derived from multi-year full-service leases. We consider changes in interest rates, inflation, and other
relevant factors in the pricing of new and renewing leases; however, only a portion of our leased railcar portfolio is repriced each year.
Consequently, our earnings could be impacted by timing differences between when interest rate changes and changes in the inflationary
environment occur and when we are able to factor these changes into our lease rates.

Due to their transactional nature, lease portfolio sales are the primary driver of fluctuations in results in the Leasing Group.
Input Costs

We periodically experience volatility in the costs of steel, components, and certain other inputs that represent a substantial portion of our cost of
revenues. We typically use contract-specific purchasing practices, existing supplier commitments, contractual price escalation provisions, and
other arrangements with our customers to reduce the impact of the volatility of certain input costs on our operating profit. Further, the cost and
volume of lease fleet maintenance and compliance events remain elevated, which we expect to continue in the near term. We continually assess
the impact of input costs on our operational efficiency, margins, and overall profitability.
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Supply Chain and Transportation Network Disruptions

As a result of disruptions in the global supply chain, we have, from time to time, experienced shortages of materials used to manufacture or
repair certain railcar types. We are also subject to disruptions in the rail transportation network, including potential rail traffic closures or congestion
in Eagle Pass, Texas, the primary border crossing used for railcar deliveries from our manufacturing facilities in Mexico. We continuously monitor
rail and truck traffic at the U.S.-Mexico border and continue to evaluate available alternatives for rail and truck transportation between Mexico and
the U.S. Additionally, we actively monitor our supply chain and take appropriate steps within our control to mitigate the potential impacts on our
production schedules and delivery timelines. However, challenges related to supply chain and transportation network disruptions could negatively
impact our operations or our ability to timely deliver railcars to our customers.

Financial and Operational Highlights

Our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2025 were $585.4 million, representing a decrease of 27.7%, compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2024. Our operating profit for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $99.8 million, representing a
decrease of 13.4%, compared to $115.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

The Leasing Group's lease fleet of 110,150 company-owned railcars was 96.8% utilized as of March 31, 2025, compared to a lease fleet
utilization of 97.5% on 110,205 company-owned railcars as of March 31, 2024. Our company-owned lease fleet includes wholly-owned
railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

For the three months ended March 31, 2025, we made a net fleet investment of approximately $86.5 million, which primarily includes new
railcar additions, railcar modifications, and other betterments, net of deferred profit, as well as secondary market purchases; and is net of
proceeds from lease portfolio sales.

The total value of the new railcar backlog at March 31, 2025 was $1.9 billion, compared to $2.9 billion at March 31, 2024. The Rail
Products Group received orders for 695 railcars and delivered 3,060 railcars in the three months ended March 31, 2025, in comparison to
orders for 1,880 railcars and deliveries of 4,695 railcars in the three months ended March 31, 2024.

o Deliveries in 2024 included approximately 1,200 railcar shipments that were delayed at the end of 2023 due to the U.S.-Mexico
border closure and delivered during the first quarter of 2024.

See "Consolidated Results of Operations" and "Segment Discussion" below for additional information regarding our operating results.

Dividend Growth Cash Flow from Operations with Net
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[l Cash Flow from Continuing Operations
[ Dividend per Share Dividend Yield [l Net Gains on Lease Portfolio Sales

() Dividend yield is calculated as dividends declared for the four previous quarters divided by the closing stock price on the last trading day of each respective quarter.

(2) Non-GAAP financial measure. See the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section within this Form 10-Q for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure and why
management believes this measure is useful to management and investors. Dollar amounts are presented for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024.

31




Table of Contents

Litigation Updates
See Note 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for an update on the status of certain litigation.
Subsequent Events

On April 30, 2025, Trinity Rail Leasing 2023 LLC (“TRL-2023"), a limited purpose, indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company owned
through Trinity Industries Leasing Company (“TILC”), entered into an amended and restated term loan agreement to (i) increase the aggregate
amount of the term loan from $320.7 million as of March 31, 2025 to $1.05 billion; (ii) extend the maturity date to April 30, 2030; and (iii) reduce the
applicable interest rate to daily simple SOFR plus a facility margin of 1.50%. Net proceeds received from the transaction were used to redeem in
full the outstanding borrowings of approximately $616.0 million under Trinity Rail Leasing 2017, LLC (“TRL-2017"); to repay approximately
$75.8 million of borrowings under TILC's warehouse loan facility; and for general corporate purposes. The interest rate for the TRL-2017
promissory notes was at one-month term SOFR plus (1) a benchmark adjustment of 11 basis points and (2) a facility margin of 1.50%.

32



Table of Contents

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our consolidated results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions)
Revenues $ 585.4 $ 809.6
Cost of revenues 443.2 644.9
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 50.0 52.3
Gains on dispositions of property 7.6 2.8
Total operating profit 99.8 115.2
Interest expense, net 66.1 69.1
Other, net (2.7) 3.4
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 36.4 42.7
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 7.4 11.0
Income from continuing operations $ 290 $ 31.7
Revenues
The tables below present revenues by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024:
Three Months Ended March 31, 2025
Revenues Percent
External Intersegment Total Change
(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 2872 $ 02 $ 287.4 0.8 %
Rail Products Group 298.2 122.3 420.5 (37.0)%
Segment Totals 585.4 122.5 707.9 (25.7)%
Eliminations — (122.5) (122.5)
Consolidated Total $ 585.4 §$ — 585.4 (27.7)%
Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
Revenues
External Intersegment Total
(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 2843 $ 09 §$ 285.2
Rail Products Group 525.3 142.1 667.4
Segment Totals 809.6 143.0 952.6
Eliminations — (143.0) (143.0)
Consolidated Total $ 809.6 $ — $ 809.6
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Operating Costs

Operating costs are comprised of cost of revenues; selling, engineering, and administrative costs; and gains or losses on property disposals.
Operating costs by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024

(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group () $ 1829 $ 184.9
Rail Products Group 394.6 623.6
Segment Totals 577.5 808.5
Corporate and other 24.4 26.5
Eliminations (116.3) (140.6)
Consolidated Total $ 4856 $ 694.4

) Includes gains on lease portfolio sales of $5.9 million and $2.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.
Operating_Profit
Operating profit by segment for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was as follows:
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024

(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 1045 $ 100.3
Rail Products Group 25.9 43.8

Segment Totals 130.4 144.1

Corporate and other (24.4) (26.5)
Eliminations (6.2) (2.4)
Consolidated Total $ 998 $ 115.2

Discussion of Consolidated Results

Revenues — Our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2025 were $585.4 million, representing a decrease of $224.2 million, or 27.7%,
over the prior year period primarily due to lower external deliveries, including sustainable railcar conversions, in the Rail Products Group.

Cost of revenues — Our cost of revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $443.2 million, representing a decrease of $201.7
million, or 31.3%, over the prior year period primarily due to lower external deliveries, including sustainable railcar conversions, in the Rail
Products Group.

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses — Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31,
2025 were $50.0 million, representing a decrease of $2.3 million, or 4.4%, when compared to the prior year period primarily due to lower
employee-related costs, including incentive-based compensation, and lower consulting costs.

Gains on dispositions of property — Gains on dispositions of property increased by $4.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025, when
compared to the prior year period primarily due to higher gains on lease portfolio sales.

Operating profit — Operating profit for the three months ended March 31, 2025 totaled $99.8 million, representing a decrease of $15.4 million, or
13.4%, from the prior year period primarily due to lower external deliveries and costs associated with workforce reductions in the Rail Products
Group, partially offset by higher lease rates and higher gains on lease portfolio sales.

For further information regarding the operating results of individual segments, see "Segment Discussion" below.

Interest expense, net — Interest expense, net for the three months ended March 31, 2025 totaled $66.1 million, compared to $69.1 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2024, primarily driven by lower average debt and lower interest rates in 2025.
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Other, net — Other, net for the three months ended March 31, 2025 resulted in income of $2.7 million, compared to expense of $3.4 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2024. Other, net for the three months ended March 31, 2024 includes a fee related to the execution of back-to-back
interest rate caps associated with the TILC warehouse loan facility. The changes in other, net (income) expense also include the remeasurement
impact of foreign currency fluctuations related to the Mexican peso.

Income taxes — The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was an expense of 20.3%, which
differs from the U.S. statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to the benefit of noncontrolling interest for which we do not provide income taxes and
foreign tax true-ups, partially offset by state income taxes and other permanent differences.

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was an expense of 25.8%, which differs from the
U.S. statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to state income taxes and foreign income taxes, partially offset by the benefit of noncontrolling interest
for which we do not provide income taxes.
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Segment Discussion

Railcar Leasing and Services Group

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024 Percent
($ in millions) Change

Revenues:

Leasing and management $ 219.0 $ 209.0 48 %

Maintenance services () 59.2 65.2 (9-2)%

Digital and logistics services 9.2 11.0 (16.4)%
Total revenues $ 287.4 $ 285.2 0.8 %
Cost of revenues @ 171.8 169.6 1.3 %
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 18.7 18.1 3.3 %
Gains on dispositions of property:

Lease portfolio sales 59 2.1 *

Other 1.7 0.7 *
Total operating profit $ 104.5 $ 100.3 42 %
Total operating profit margin 36.4 % 352 %
Total operating profit margin, excluding lease portfolio sales 34.3 % 34.4 %
Selected expense information for Company-owned railcars @

Depreciation and amortization expense © $ 61.1 $ 59.9 2.0 %

Maintenance and compliance expense ©® $ 380 $ 30.4 25.0 %

Other fleet operating costs © $ 80 $ 7.7 39%

Interest expense ) $ 56.4  $ 57.4 (1.71)%

* Not meaningful

(1) Revenues related to services performed by the maintenance services business on Company-owned railcars under full-service lease agreements are eliminated within the Railcar
Leasing and Services Group and are excluded from the totals reported on this line.

@) Includes depreciation and amortization expense, maintenance and compliance expense, and other fleet operating costs related to our lease fleet, as well as operating costs for our
maintenance services and digital and logistics services businesses.

) Includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

@) Depreciation and amortization expense includes deferred profit related to new railcar additions, sustainable railcar conversions, railcar modifications, and other betterments,
resulting in the recognition of depreciation expense based on the original cost of the railcars and services.

() Maintenance and compliance expense is reported at cost with respect to the services performed by our maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet.
®) Other fleet operating costs include freight, storage, rent, and ad valorem taxes.
™ Interest expense is not a component of operating profit and includes the effect of hedges.

Information related to lease portfolio sales is as follows:
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
($ in millions)
Lease portfolio sales $ 33.7 $ 24.2
Operating profit on lease portfolio sales $ 59 $ 2.1
Operating profit margin on lease portfolio sales 17.5 % 8.7 %

Total revenues for the Railcar Leasing and Services Group were relatively flat for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the prior
year period. Leasing and management revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2025 were favorably impacted primarily by higher lease
rates, when compared to the three months ended March 31, 2024.
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Our maintenance services business is primarily dedicated to servicing our lease fleet. Revenues related to maintenance services performed on
Company-owned railcars under full-service lease agreements are eliminated within the Railcar Leasing and Services Group. Services that are not
included in the full-service lease agreement, such as repairs of railcar damage or other customer-specific requirements, as well as maintenance
and repair activities on railcars owned by third parties, including our investor-owned fleet, are reflected in the maintenance services revenues line
above and are not eliminated in consolidation. Revenues in our maintenance services business decreased for the three months ended March 31,
2025 when compared to the prior year period as a result of a lower volume of repairs completed for third parties.

Cost of revenues for the Railcar Leasing and Services Group increased by 1.3% for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to the
prior year period primarily due to higher maintenance and compliance costs for the lease fleet, partially offset by a lower volume of external
repairs, including the impact of weather disruptions, in our maintenance services business.

Leasing Group operating profit for the three months ended March 31, 2025 increased by 4.2% when compared to the prior year period primarily
due to higher lease rates and higher gains on lease portfolio sales, partially offset by a lower volume of external repairs in the maintenance
services business.

The Leasing Group generally uses its non-recourse warehouse loan facility or cash to provide initial funding for a portion of the purchase price of
the railcars. After initial funding, the Leasing Group may obtain long-term financing for the railcars in the lease fleet through non-recourse asset-
backed securities; long-term recourse debt; long-term non-recourse promissory notes; or third-party equity.

Information regarding the Leasing Group’s lease fleet is as follows:

March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024
Number of railcars:
Wholly-owned () 86,885 86,655
Partially-owned 23,265 23,550
110,150 110,205
Investor-owned 34,215 32,995
144,365 143,200
Company-owned railcars @
Average age in years 13.9 13.2
Average remaining lease term in years 29 29
Fleet utilization 96.8 % 97.5%

) Includes 2,240 railcars and 2,490 railcars under leased-in arrangements as of March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively.
@) Includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.
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Rail Products Group

Three Months Ended March 31,

2025 2024
($ in millions)

Revenues:

Rail products ™ $ 387.8 $ 639.2

Parts & components 32.7 28.2
Total revenues $ 4205 % 667.4
Operating costs:

Cost of revenues 387.7 615.9

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 6.9 7.7
Operating profit $ 259 §$ 43.8
Operating profit margin 6.2 % 6.6 %

Percent
Change

(39.3)%
16.0 %
(37.0)%

(37.1)%
(10.4)%
(40.9)%

() Includes sustainable railcar conversion revenues of $50.2 million, representing 675 railcars, for the three months ended March 31, 2024. There were no sustainable railcar

conversion revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2025.

Revenues and cost of revenues for the Rail Products Group decreased for the three months ended March 31, 2025 by 37.0% and 37.1%,
respectively, when compared to the prior year period primarily as a result of lower deliveries, including sustainable railcar conversions.

Operating profit for the Rail Products Group decreased for the three months ended March 31, 2025 by 40.9% when compared to the prior year

period primarily due to lower deliveries and costs associated with workforce reductions.

Information related to our Rail Products Group backlog of new railcars is set forth below.

March 31,
2025 2024 Percent
(in millions) Change
External customers $ 1,7022 $ 2,626.3
Leasing Group 184.4 312.6
Total $ 18866 $ 2,938.9 (35.8)%
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2025 2024 Percent
(in units, $ in whole dollars) Change
Beginning balance 16,005 25,890
Orders received 695 1,880 (63.0)%
Deliveries (! (3,060) (4,695) (34.8)%
Ending balance 13,640 23,075 (40.9)%
Average selling price in ending backlog $ 138,314 $ 127,363 8.6 %

() Deliveries for the three months ended March 31, 2024 included approximately 1,200 railcar shipments that were delayed at the end of 2023 due to the U.S.-Mexico border closure

and delivered during the first quarter of 2024.

Total backlog dollars decreased by 35.8% when compared to the prior year period. We expect to deliver approximately 40.3% of our railcar
backlog value during the remaining nine months of 2025 and 19.7% during 2026, with the remainder to be delivered through 2028. The orders in
our backlog from the Leasing Group are fully supported by lease commitments with external customers. The final amount of backlog attributable to

the Leasing Group may vary by the time of delivery as customers may elect to change their procurement decision.
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Transactions between the Rail Products Group and the Leasing Group are as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
($ in millions)
Revenues:
New railcars $ 113.8 $ 135.2
Sustainable railcar conversions $ — 3 04
Parts & components $ 85 $ 6.5
Deferred profit (loss) $ 62 $ 2.1
Number of new railcars (in units) 830 1,095
Number of sustainable railcar conversions (in units) — 5
Corporate and other
Three Months Ended March 31,
2025 2024 Percent
(in millions) Change
Operating costs:
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses $ 244 $ 26.5 (7.9)%
Operating loss $ (244) $ (26.5) (7.9)%

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2025 decreased by 7.9% when compared to the prior
year period primarily from lower consulting costs and lower employee-related costs, including incentive-based compensation.

39



Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

We expect to finance future operating requirements with cash, cash equivalents, and short-term marketable securities; cash flows from
operations; and short-term debt, long-term debt, and equity. Debt instruments that we have utilized include the TILC warehouse loan facility, senior
notes, convertible subordinated notes, asset-backed securities, non-recourse promissory notes, and our revolving credit facility.

As of March 31, 2025, we have total committed liquidity of $920.2 million. Our total available liquidity includes: $94.9 million of unrestricted cash
and cash equivalents; $591.3 million unused and available under our revolving credit facility; and $234.0 million unused and available under the
TILC warehouse loan facility based on the amount of warehouse-eligible, unpledged equipment. We believe we have access to adequate capital
resources to fund operating requirements and are an active participant in the capital markets.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and
2024:

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2025 2024

(in millions)

Net cash flows from continuing operations:

Operating activities $ 784 % 56.5
Investing activities (91.6) (124.0)
Financing activities (124.2) 71.8
Net cash flows from discontinued operations (1.9) (4.3)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ (139.3) $ —

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was
$78.4 million compared to net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations of $56.5 million for the three months ended March
31, 2024. The changes in our operating assets and liabilities are as follows:

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions)
(Increase) decrease in receivables, inventories, and other assets $ 448 $ (82.0)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other liabilities (64.3) 29.7
Changes in operating assets and liabilities $ (19.5) $ (52.3)

The changes in our operating assets and liabilities resulted in a net use of $19.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025, as
compared to a net use of $52.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024. The changes in operating assets and liabilities were impacted
primarily by higher receivables balances associated with higher deliveries in the prior year period and by payments of incentive-based
compensation during the three months ended March 31, 2025 that were accrued as of December 31, 2024.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $91.6
million compared to $124.0 million of net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024.
Significant investing activities are as follows:

*  We made a net fleet investment of $86.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2025, compared to $123.3 million in the prior
year period primarily due to the timing of fleet additions. Our investment in the lease fleet primarily includes new railcar additions,
sustainable railcar conversions, railcar modifications, and other betterments, net of deferred profit, as well as secondary market
purchases; and is net of proceeds from lease portfolio sales.
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Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $124.2 million compared to
$71.8 million of net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024. Significant financing activities are as follows:

* During the three months ended March 31, 2025, we had total debt repayments of $77.3 million related to normal amortization activity.
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, we had total borrowings of $909.9 million and total repayments of $803.8 million, for net
proceeds of $106.1 million, primarily from debt proceeds to support our investment in the lease fleet and for general corporate purposes.

*  We paid $24.6 million and $23.0 million in dividends to our common stockholders during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and
2024, respectively.

*  During the three months ended March 31, 2025, we repurchased common stock totaling $8.2 million, resulting in a remaining authorization
to repurchase up to $220.8 million of our common stock under the share repurchase program as of March 31, 2025. There were no shares
repurchased during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

Current Debt Obligations

The revolving credit facility contains several financial covenants that require the maintenance of ratios related to minimum interest coverage for
the leasing and manufacturing operations and maximum leverage. A summary of our financial covenants is detailed below:

Actual at
Ratio Covenant March 31, 2025
Maximum leverage (") No greater than 3.75 to 1.00 1.36
Minimum interest coverage ? No less than 2.25 to 1.00 7.22

() Defined as the ratio of consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") for the Borrower and its restricted
subsidiaries for the period of four consecutive quarters ending with March 31, 2025.

@) Defined as the ratio of the difference of (A) consolidated EBITDA less (B) consolidated capital expenditures — operating and administrative to consolidated interest expense to the
extent paid in cash, in each case for the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries for the period of four consecutive quarters ending with March 31, 2025.

As of March 31, 2025, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants. Please refer to Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements
for a description of our current debt obligations.

Capital Expenditures

For the full year 2025, we anticipate a net fleet investment of between $300 million and $400 million. Capital expenditures related to operating
and administrative activities, including supporting automation, technology, and modernization of our facilities and processes, are projected to range
between $45 million and $55 million for the full year 2025.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31, 2025, we had outstanding letters of credit issued under our revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of $8.7 million, which
support performance bonds related to certain railcar orders. See Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about our
corporate revolving credit facility. Additionally, we had a letter of credit issued outside our revolving credit facility for $8.5 million to satisfy a liquidity
reserve requirement associated with our TILC warehouse loan facility, which renews by its terms each year.

Derivative Instruments

We use derivative instruments to mitigate interest rate risk, including risks associated with the impact of changes in interest rates in anticipation
of future debt issuances and to offset interest rate variability of certain floating rate debt issuances outstanding. We also use derivative instruments
to mitigate the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Derivative instruments are accounted for in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. See Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of how we utilize our derivative instruments.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We have included financial measures compiled in accordance with GAAP and certain non-GAAP measures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q to provide management and investors with additional information regarding our financial results. Non-GAAP measures should not be considered
in isolation or as a substitute for our reported results prepared in accordance with GAAP and, as calculated, may not be comparable to other
similarly titled measures for other companies. For each non-GAAP financial measure, we provide a reconciliation to the most comparable GAAP
measure.

Cash Flow from Operations with Net Gains on Lease Portfolio Sales

Cash flow from operations with net gains on lease portfolio sales is a non-GAAP financial measure. We believe this measure is useful to both
management and investors as it provides a relevant measure of liquidity and a useful basis for assessing the breadth of the cash flow generation
capabilities across our operating platform, as well as our ability to fund our operations and repay our debt. This measure is defined as net cash
provided by operating activities from continuing operations as computed in accordance with GAAP, plus net gains on lease portfolio sales and is
reconciled to net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, in the
following table.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2025 2024
(in millions)
Net cash provided by operating activities — continuing operations $ 784 $ 56.5
Net gains on lease portfolio sales 5.9 2.1
Cash flow from operations with net gains on lease portfolio sales $ 843 $ 58.6

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

As of March 31, 2025, there have been no material changes to our contractual obligations from December 31, 2024.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information about recent accounting pronouncements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There has been no material change in our market risks since December 31, 2024 as set forth in Item 7A of our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Refer to Note 3 and Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the impact of hedging activity and debt-related activity,
respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2025.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able to collect and record the information we are required to
disclose in the reports we file with the SEC, and to process, summarize, and disclose this information within the time periods specified in the rules
of the SEC. Our Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining these procedures and, as required
by the rules of the SEC, evaluating their effectiveness. Based on their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures that took place as of
the end of the period covered by this report, the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers concluded that these procedures are effective to 1)
ensure that we are able to collect, process, and disclose the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file with the SEC within the
required time periods and 2) accumulate and communicate this information to our management, including our Chief Executive and Chief Financial
Officers, to allow timely decisions regarding this disclosure.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this report, there have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal controls over financial reporting.
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PARTII
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The information provided in Note 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements is hereby incorporated into this Part Il, Item 1 by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A of our 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

This table provides information with respect to purchases by the Company of shares of its common stock during the quarter ended March 31,
2025:

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar

Total Number of Value) of Shares
Shares Purchased as that May Yet Be
Number of Average Price Part of Publicly Purchased Under the
Shares Paid per Announced Plans or Plans or Programs @
Period Purchased (" Share Programs @ (in millions)
January 1, 2025 through January 31, 2025 69,021 $ 36.60 61,845 $ 226.8
February 1, 2025 through February 28, 2025 94,689 $ 33.29 93,951 $ 223.6
March 1, 2025 through March 31, 2025 97,853 $ 29.46 95,900 $ 220.8
Total 261,563 251,696

() These columns include the following transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2025: (i) the surrender to the Company of 9,659 shares of common
stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock issued to employees; (ii) the purchase of 208 shares of common stock
by the Trustee for assets held in a non-qualified employee profit sharing plan trust; and (iii) the purchase of 251,696 shares of common stock on the open market
as part of our share repurchase program.

@) In December 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program effective December 9, 2022 with no expiration. The share repurchase
program authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $250.0 million of its common stock. The Company repurchased 251,696 shares under the share repurchase
program during the three months ended March 31, 2025, at a cost of approximately $8.2 million, resulting in a remaining authorization to repurchase up to $220.8
million of its common stock under the share repurchase program as of March 31, 2025. The approximate dollar value of shares that were eligible to be
repurchased under our share repurchase program is shown as of the end of such month or quarter.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Item 5. Other Information
Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement

On April 30, 2025, TRL-2023, a limited purpose, indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) owned through the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, TILC, entered into an Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 30, 2025 (the
“Amended and Restated Loan Agreement”) among the lenders party thereto, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent,
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Collateral Agent and U.S. Bank National Association, as Depositary. The Amended and
Restated Loan Agreement amends and restates the Term Loan Agreement dated as of June 12, 2023 (the “Original Loan Agreement”) among the
lenders party thereto, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as
Collateral Agent and U.S. Bank National Association, as Depositary. The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement:

« increases the aggregate amount of the term loan under the Original Loan Agreement from $340.0 million to $1.05 billion;
» extends the maturity date by approximately twenty-two months to April 30, 2030; and

» reduces the applicable interest rate to daily simple SOFR plus a facility margin of 1.50% from daily simple SOFR plus (i) a benchmark
adjustment of 0.10% and (ii) a facility margin of 1.80% under the Original Loan Agreement.

The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement also adds approximately 10,590 additional railcars and operating leases thereon (the “Additional
Collateral”) to the collateral pool of railcars, operating leases, and other assets of TRL-2023 securing TRL-2023’s obligations under the Amended
and Restated Loan Agreement. TRL-2023 purchased the Additional Collateral from its affiliates (i) TRL-2017, a limited purpose, indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company owned through TILC, and (ii) Trinity Rail Leasing Warehouse Trust (“TRLWT”), a Delaware statutory trust of
which TILC is the sole beneficiary.

Net proceeds received from the sale of the Additional Collateral by TRL-2017 and TRLWT to TRL-2023 will be used (i) to redeem in full
approximately $616.0 million of secured notes issued by TRL-2017, (ii) to repay approximately $75.8 million of borrowings under TRLWT'’s secured
warehouse credit facility, and (iii) for general corporate purposes.

Obligations under the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement are solely the obligations of TRL-2023 and may be declared due and payable
upon the occurrence of certain customary events of default. TILC has entered into certain agreements relating to the management and servicing of
TRL-2023's assets. These agreements contain certain representations, undertakings, and indemnities customary for service providers in
transactions of this type.

The description of the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement set forth above is necessarily limited and is qualified in its entirety by reference
to the full terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.1 to this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and incorporated by reference herein.

Stock Trading Plan

During the three months ended March 31, 2025, none of our directors or executive officers informed the Company of the adoption or termination
of a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”, as those terms are defined in ltem 408 of SEC Regulation S-
K.
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Item 6. Exhibits
NO.

DESCRIPTION

10.1

311
31.2
321

32.2
101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

104

Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 30, 2025, among_Trinity Rail Leasing 2023 LLC; the Lenders;
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association,_as Administrative Agent for the Lenders; U.S. Bank Trust Company, National

Rule 13a-15(e).and 15d-15(e)_Certification of the Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith).
Rule 13a-15(e).and 15d-15(e)_Certification of the Chief Financial Officer (filed herewith).

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed
herewith).

herewith).

Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed electronically herewith).

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TRINITY INDUSTRIES, INC. By: /s/ Eric R. Marchetto
Registrant

Eric R. Marchetto

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 1, 2025
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Exhibit 10.1
Execution Version

AMENDED AND RESTATED TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
dated as of April 30, 2025
among

TRINITY RAIL LEASING 2023 LLC,
as Borrower,

THE LENDERS
FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO,

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent,

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Collateral Agent,

and

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Depositary

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Joint Structuring Agent, Joint Lead Arranger and Joint Bookrunner,

and

CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANK,
as Joint Structuring Agent, Joint Lead Arranger, Joint Bookrunner and Green Advisor
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AMENDED AND RESTATED TERM LOAN AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated as of April 30, 2025 and is among TRINITY
RAIL LEASING 2023 LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Borrower”), the lenders from time to time party hereto (each a
“Lender” and collectively, the “Lenders”, as such terms are defined below), WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as
Administrative Agent for the Lenders referred to herein (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”), U.S. BANK TRUST
COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, not in its individual capacity, but solely in its capacity as Collateral Agent for the Protected
Parties referred to herein (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent”) and U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, not in its individual
capacity, but solely in its capacity as Depositary for the Protected Parties referred to herein (in such capacity, the “Depositary™).

WHEREAS, the Borrower is a party to that certain Term Loan Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date (as amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Loan Agreement "), among the Borrower,
the Lenders party thereto, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Depositary;

WHEREAS, the Borrower (a) has requested that the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary
and the current “Derivatives Creditors”, under and as defined in the Existing Loan Agreement (the “Existing Derivatives Creditors™),
amend and restate the Existing Loan Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein and (b) wishes to borrow loans from the
Lenders in order to (i) refinance the Initial Portfolio Railcars and related Leases that are currently “Portfolio Railcars” and “Portfolio
Leases”, in each case, under and as defined in the Existing Loan Agreement (collectively, the “Existing Portfolio”), and (ii) finance the
purchase by the Borrower of the other Initial Portfolio Railcars and related Leases (collectively, the “Additional Portfolio™); and

WHEREAS, (a) the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and the Existing Derivatives
Creditors agree to amend and restate the Existing Loan Agreement subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and (b) the
Lenders desire to make loans to the Borrower subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS
SECTION 1.01 Defined Terms. The following terms, as used herein, have the following meanings:

“A.A.R.” means the Association of American Railroads, and its successors.
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“Accounts” means, collectively, the Collection Account, the Modifications and Improvements Account, the Operating
Expenses Account, the Optional Reinvestment Account and the Liquidity Reserve Account.

“Additional Collateral Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit A-2 hereto, with appropriate
insertions and deletions or with such other changes as may be reasonably agreed to by the Collateral Agent (acting at the direction of
the Administrative Agent) and the Administrative Agent, and which certificate contains a description of the Railcars and related Leases
which are to become Portfolio Railcars and Portfolio Leases after the Restatement Closing Date, as the case may be.

“Additional Portfolio” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.

“Administrative Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, in its capacity as agent for the Lenders hereunder and
under the other Loan Documents, and its successor or successors in such capacity.

“Administrative Agent Fee” has the meaning set forth in the Administrative Agent Fee Letter.

“Administrative Agent Fee Letter” means that certain Amended and Restated Administrative Agent Fee Letter, dated as of the
Restatement Closing Date, between the Administrative Agent and the Borrower.

“Administrative Agent’s Office” means the Administrative Agent’s address and, as appropriate, account as set forth and
identified as such in Schedule 11.01, or such other address and account as the Administrative Agent may from time to time notify to
the Borrower and the Lenders.

“Administrative Services Agreement” means the Administrative Services Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, between the
Borrower and TILC, as administrator (in such capacity, the “Administrator”™).

“Administrator” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Administrative Services Agreement”.
“Advance” means the Advance Rate multiplied by the Aggregate Original Value of the Initial Portfolio Railcars.

“Advance Rate” means 66.2%.

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial Institution.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, (i) any Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
Controls such Person (including all directors and officers of
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such Person) (a “Controlling Person”) or (ii) any other Person which is Controlled by or is under common Control with a Controlling
Person.

“Aggregate Original Value” means, as of any date of determination with respect to any specified group of Railcars, the
aggregate of the Original Values of all such Railcars.

“Aggregated Default Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).

“Agreement” means this Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement, as amended, supplemented, amended and restated or
otherwise modified from time to time.

“Allocable Debt” means, with respect to any Railcar as of any date of determination, the product of (x) the Allocable
Percentage related to such Railcar immediately prior to such date, and (y) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans as
of such date.

“Allocable Percentage” means, with respect to any Railcar as of any date of determination, a fraction, expressed as a decimal
carried to five (5) decimal places, equal to the quotient of (x) the Original Value for such Railcar divided by (y) the Aggregate Original
Value of all Portfolio Railcars.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(b).

“Anti-Terrorism Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(b).

“Applicable Alternate Rate” means, with respect to the Loans for any day during any Interest Period, the sum of (i) the Federal
Funds Rate for such day, plus (ii) 50 basis points (0.50%) per annum, plus (iii) the Applicable Facility Margin.

“Applicable Facility Margin” means, with respect to the Loans at any time, 150 basis points (1.50%) per annum.

“Applicable Law” means, with reference to any Person, all laws (foreign or domestic), statutes, rulings, codes, ordinances and
treaties, including the FRA and the Interchange Rules, and all judgments, decrees, injunctions, writs and orders of any court, arbitrator
or other Governmental Authority, and all rules, regulations, orders, interpretations, directives, licenses and permits of any
governmental body, instrumentality, agency or other regulatory authority applicable to such Person or its property or in respect of its
operations.

“Applicable Rate” means, with respect to the Loans for any day during any Interest Period, the sum of (i) Daily Simple SOFR
for such day, plus (ii) the Applicable Facility Margin.

“Appraised Fair Market Value”, with respect to any Railcar, means the fair market value of such Railcar, expressed in terms of
Dollars, determined by the Independent Appraiser to be the amount, using an income approach “desk-top appraisal”, that may
reasonably be expected for property exchanged between a willing buyer and a willing seller with equity to both, neither under any
compulsion to buy or sell and both fully aware of all relevant, reasonably ascertainable facts.
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“Approved Fund” means (i) with respect to any Lender, an entity (whether a corporation, partnership, limited liability
company, trust or otherwise) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in bank loans and similar
extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business and is managed by such Lender or an Affiliate of such Lender, and (ii) with
respect to any Lender that is a fund that invests in bank loans and similar extensions of credit, any other fund that invests in bank loans
and similar extensions of credit and is managed by the same investment advisor as such Lender or by an Affiliate of such investment
advisor.

“Approved Successor Administrative Agent” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.09.

“Asset Disposition” means any sale, lease or other disposition by the Borrower (other than the lease of a Railcar pursuant to an
Eligible Lease) of any Portfolio Railcar, Portfolio Lease or other item of Collateral, whether by sale (including a Permitted
Discretionary Sale), lease, transfer, Event of Loss, Condemnation or otherwise (for the avoidance of doubt, not including a Casualty
but including any subsequent sale of a Railcar subject to a Casualty).

“Assignment and Acceptance” means an Assignment and Acceptance, substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto, under
which an interest of a Lender hereunder is transferred to an Eligible Assignee pursuant to Section 11.06(b).

“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, (a) if
such Benchmark is a term rate, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining the length
of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement or (b) otherwise, any payment period for interest calculated with reference to such
Benchmark (or component thereof) that is or may be used for determining any frequency of making payments of interest calculated
with reference to such Benchmark, in each case, as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority in
respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU
of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation, rule or requirement for such
EEA Member Country from time to time that is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United
Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or rule
applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions
or their affiliate (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Bankruptcy Code” means the United States Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, as amended, and all other liquidation,
conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency,
reorganization or similar debtor
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relief laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdiction from time to time affecting the rights of creditors generally.

“basis point” means one-hundredth of a percent (0.01%).

“Benchmark” means, initially, Daily Simple SOFR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred with respect to
Daily Simple SOFR or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent
that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to Section 3.06(c)(i).

“Benchmark Replacement” means, with respect to any Benchmark Transition Event, the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark
rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower giving due consideration to (i) any selection or
recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body
or (il) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement to the then-current
Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; provided that,
if such Benchmark Replacement as so determined would be less than the Floor, such Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be
the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-current Benchmark with an
Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable Available Tenor, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or
determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Administrative
Agent and the Borrower giving due consideration to (a) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark
Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body or (b) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread
adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the
applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities.

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current
Benchmark:

(a) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (i) the date of the public
statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such
Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(b) in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the first date on which such Benchmark (or
the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been determined and announced by the regulatory supervisor for the
administrator of such
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Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be non-representative; provided, that such non-representativeness will be determined by
reference to the most recent statement or publication referenced in such clause (c) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark
(or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such date.

For the avoidance of doubt, the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (a) or
(b) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-
current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current
Benchmark:

(a) apublic statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published
component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors
of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or
publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such
component thereof);

(b) apublic statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or
the published component used in the calculation thereof), the FRB, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with
jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component)
has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely;
provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any
Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(c) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or
the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component
thereof) are not, or as of a specified future date will not be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark
if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of
such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Start Date” means, in the case of a Benchmark Transition Event, the earlier of (a) the applicable
Benchmark Replacement Date and (b) if such Benchmark Transition Event is a public statement or publication of information of a
prospective event, the 90th day prior to the expected date of such event as of such public statement or publication of



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

information (or if the expected date of such prospective event is fewer than 90 days after such statement or publication, the date of
such statement or publication).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date
has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and
under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 3.06(c) and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced
the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 3.06(c).

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership setting forth the individual(s)
controlling and/or having direct or indirect ownership of the Borrower as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Bill of Sale” means a bill of sale delivered to the Borrower from the applicable Seller with respect to a Railcar and, if
applicable, any related Lease, in connection with the Borrower’s purchase of such Railcar and related Lease from such Seller.

“Books and Records” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11.

“Books and Records Inspection” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11.

“Borrower” means Trinity Rail Leasing 2023 LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“Borrowing” means the borrowing of Loans pursuant to Section 2.01 hereof.

“Business Day” means any day excluding (a) Saturday, (b) Sunday, (c) any day on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York is closed and (d) a day on which banking institutions are authorized or required by law, executive order or governmental decree
to close in New York, New York, Dallas, Texas, Cincinnati, Ohio, or Charlotte, North Carolina.

“Calculation Date” means the last day of each calendar month.
“Capital Contributions” means contributions of cash or property to the Borrower from its members.

“Capital Lease” of any Person means any lease of property (whether real, personal or mixed) by such Person as lessee which
would, in accordance with GAAP, be required to be accounted for as a capital lease on the balance sheet of such Person.

“Cash Equivalents” means (i) marketable direct obligations issued by, or fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United
States of America or issued by any agency or instrumentality thereof and backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, in
each case maturing within one year from the date of acquisition, (ii) certificates of deposit, demand or time deposits, eurocurrency
time deposits or overnight bank deposits having maturities of one year or
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less from the date of acquisition issued by any United States commercial bank having a long-term senior unsecured debt rating of at
least “A” by S&P or “A3” by Moody’s (or equivalent ratings by another nationally recognized credit rating agency if both such
corporations are not in the business of rating long-term senior unsecured debt of commercial banks), (iii) commercial paper of an
issuer rated at the time of acquisition at least “A-1" by S&P or “P1” by Moody’s or carrying an equivalent rating by an internationally
recognized rating agency, if both of the two named rating agencies cease publishing ratings of commercial paper issuers generally, and
maturing within one year from the date of acquisition, (iv) repurchase obligations of any commercial bank satisfying the requirements
of clause (ii) of this definition, having a term of not more than 30 days, with respect to securities issued or fully guaranteed or insured
by the United States of America, (v) securities with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully
guaranteed by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States, by any political subdivision or taxing authority of any such
state, commonwealth or territory or by any foreign government, the securities of which state, commonwealth, territory, political
subdivision, taxing authority or foreign government (as the case may be) are rated at the time of acquisition at least “A-1"+ by S&P or
“P1” by Moody’s or carrying an equivalent rating by an internationally recognized rating agency, (vi) securities with maturities of one
year or less from the date of acquisition backed by standby letters of credit issued by a commercial bank satisfying the requirements of
clause (ii) of this definition or (vii) shares of money market mutual or similar funds that are registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and operated in accordance with Rule 2a-7
thereunder and that, at the time of such investment, are rated “Aaa” by Moody’s and/or “AAA” by S&P (or equivalent ratings by
another nationally recognized credit rating agency if both such corporations are not in the business of rating shares of money market
mutual or similar funds described above) or invest exclusively in assets satisfying the requirements of clauses (i) through (vi) of this
definition.

“Cash Flow” means all amounts paid or payable by or on behalf of, or credited to, the Borrower from any source under or in
respect of a Lease or otherwise from the ownership or operation of the Portfolio, including, without limitation, Monthly Rent, Net
Cash Proceeds, service charges, rentals, Railroad Mileage Credits, indemnification amounts paid or payable pursuant to the Purchase
and Contribution Agreement, delivery costs reimbursed by a Lessee and cancellation or penalty payments, as well as all other amounts
paid under each Lease or any other Lease Document as reimbursement, indemnity, fees or commissions, or on account of assumed
financial responsibility or liability or otherwise, but excluding any Excepted Payments and any Trinsight/RSI Fees.

“Casualty” means any casualty, loss, damage, destruction or other similar loss with respect to any Portfolio Railcar or other
item of Collateral constituting a partial loss.

“Casualty Insurance Policy” means any insurance policy maintained by or on behalf of the Borrower covering losses with
respect to Casualties involving one or more Portfolio Railcars or other items of Collateral.
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“Casualty Proceeds” means all proceeds under any Casualty Insurance Policy, and all other insurance proceeds, damages,
awards, claims and rights of action of the Borrower with respect to any Casualty.

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (a) the adoption or taking
effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation,
implementation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority or (c) the making or issuance of any request, rule, guideline or
directive (whether or not having the force of law) by any Governmental Authority; provided that notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements or
directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines,
requirements or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or
any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in
each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted, implemented or issued.

“Change of Control” means TILC shall cease to own directly 100% of the Equity Interests of the Borrower on a fully diluted
basis assuming the conversion and exercise of all outstanding Equity Equivalents (whether or not such securities are then currently
convertible or exercisable).

“Closing Date” means June 12, 2023.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any successor statute thereto, as interpreted by the rules
and Treasury Regulations issued thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time. Reference to particular sections of the Code
shall be construed also to refer to any successor sections.

“Collateral” means all of the property which is subject or is purported to be subject to the Liens granted by the Collateral
Documents.

“Collateral Agent” means U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association in its capacity as collateral agent and representative
for the Protected Parties under the Security Agreement and the Depository Agreement.

“Collateral Documents” means, collectively, the Security Agreement, the Depository Agreement, any additional pledges,
security agreements, or mortgages required to be delivered pursuant to the Loan Documents and any instruments of assignment,
control agreements, lockbox letters or other instruments or agreements executed pursuant to the foregoing.

“Collection Account” means the “Collection Account” established by the Depositary pursuant to the Depository Agreement.
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“Commitment” means, with respect to any Lender, the commitment amount of such Lender as of the Restatement Closing
Date, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the amount identified as its Commitment on Schedule 1.01 hereto or in the applicable
Assignment and Acceptance, and as increased by the additional commitment amount (if any) of such Lender as of any Increased
Amount Date.

“Commitment Percentage” means, for each Lender, the percentage of the aggregate Commitments of all Lenders represented
by such Lender’s Commitment.

“Competitor of the Borrower” means:

(a) aPerson who either (i) is engaged in the railcar operating leasing, management, servicing or manufacturing business or
(i1) has a material non-passive investment interest (whether held directly or indirectly) in, or is otherwise an Affiliate of, a Person that
is engaged in the railcar operating leasing, management, servicing or manufacturing business; provided, however, that a Person which
is a commercial bank, savings institution, insurance company, trust company or national banking association or an Affiliate of any
thereof, in each case acting for its own account, shall be deemed not to be a Competitor of the Borrower, and for the avoidance of
doubt, Wells Fargo shall be deemed not to be a Competitor of the Borrower; and

(b) such other Persons as may, from time to time, be mutually agreed (each party acting reasonably) by the Borrower and
the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required Lenders).

“Compliance Certificate™ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01(3).

“Concentration Limits” means the concentration limits set forth in Schedule A.

“Condemnation” means any taking of property or assets, or any part thereof or interest therein, for public or quasi-public use
under the power of eminent domain, by reason of any public improvement or condemnation or in any other manner.

“Condemnation Award” means all proceeds of any Condemnation or transfer in lieu thereof with respect to any Portfolio
Railcar or other item of Collateral.

“Conforming_Changes” means, with respect to either the use or administration of Daily Simple SOFR or the use,
administration, adoption or implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes
(including changes to the definition of “Applicable Alternate Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “U.S.
Government Securities Business Day,” the definition of “Interest Period” or any similar or analogous definition (or the addition of a
concept of “interest period”), timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing
requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods and other technical,
administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and
implementation of any such rate or to permit the use and

10
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administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative
Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent
determines that no market practice for the administration of any such rate exists, in such other manner of administration as the
Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents).

“Contractual Obligation” means, as to any Person, any provision of any security issued by such Person or of any indenture,
loan agreement, mortgage, deed of trust, contract or other agreement, instrument or undertaking to which such Person is a party or by
which it or any of its property or assets is bound. Contractual Obligation does not include obligations under the Loan Documents.

“Control” of a Person means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting Equity Interests, by contract or otherwise. “Controlled” and
“Controlling” have meanings correlative to the foregoing.

“Corporate Base Rate” means for any day, the higher of (i) the prime rate per annum announced from time to time by The Wall
Street Journal in effect on such day or (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus 100 basis points, but in any event no less than zero. (The
Corporate Base Rate is not intended to represent the lowest rate charged by any Lender for extensions of credit.)

“Credit Exposure” means, for any Lender, the aggregate principal balance of the outstanding Loans held by such Lender on the
applicable date of determination.

“Credit Obligations” means, without duplication:

(1) all principal of and interest (including, without limitation, any interest which accrues after the commencement of
any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding with respect to the Borrower, whether or not allowed or allowable as a claim under
the Bankruptcy Code) on any Loan under, or any Note issued pursuant to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document;

(i) all fees, expenses, indemnification obligations and other amounts of whatever nature now or hereafter payable by
the Borrower (including, without limitation, any amounts which accrue after the commencement of any bankruptcy or
insolvency proceeding with respect to the Borrower, whether or not allowed or allowable as a claim under the Bankruptcy
Code) pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document;

(iii)  all expenses of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent as to which the Administrative Agent or the
Collateral Agent has a right to reimbursement under Section 11.04 of this Agreement or under any other similar provision of
any other Loan Document, including, without limitation, any and all sums advanced by the Collateral Agent to preserve the
Collateral or preserve its security interests in the Collateral; and

11
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(iv)  all amounts paid by any Indemnitee as to which such Indemnitee has the right to reimbursement under Section
11.05 of this Agreement or under any other similar provision of any other Loan Document;

together in each case with all renewals, modifications, consolidations or extensions thereof.

“Creditor” means, without duplication, each Lender, each Derivatives Creditor, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent,
each Protected Party and each Indemnitee and their respective successors and assigns, and “Creditors” means any two or more of such
Creditors.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day (a “SOFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to the greater of (a) SOFR for the day
(such day, a “SOFR Determination Day”) that is five (5) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (i) if such SOFR Rate
Day is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such SOFR Rate Day or (ii) if such SOFR Rate Day is not a U.S. Government
Securities Business Day, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately preceding such SOFR Rate Day, in each case, as
such SOFR is published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website, and (b) the Floor. If by 5:00 p.m. on the
second (2") U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following any SOFR Determination Day, SOFR in respect of such
SOFR Determination Day has not been published on the SOFR Administrator’s Website and a Benchmark Replacement Date with
respect to the Daily Simple SOFR has not occurred, then SOFR for such SOFR Determination Day will be SOFR as published in
respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such SOFR was published on the SOFR
Administrator’s Website; provided that any SOFR determined pursuant to this sentence shall be utilized for purposes of calculation of
Daily Simple SOFR for no more than three (3) consecutive SOFR Rate Days. Any change in Daily Simple SOFR due to a change in
SOFR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in SOFR without notice to the Borrower.

“Debt” of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all
obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person
under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property purchased by such Person to the extent of the value of
such property (other than customary reservations or retentions of title under agreements with suppliers entered into in the ordinary
course of business), (iv) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than current
accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business), (v) the capitalized amount of all Capital Leases of such Person that would
appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP, (vi) all obligations (other than
obligations in respect of like kind exchanges) of such Person in respect of securities repurchase agreements or otherwise to purchase
securities or other property which arise out of or in connection with the sale of the same or substantially similar securities or property,
(vii) all non-contingent obligations (and, for purposes of Section 7.01, all contingent obligations) of such Person to reimburse any
bank or other Person in respect of amounts paid under a letter of credit, bankers’ acceptance or similar instrument, (viii) all obligations
of others secured by (or for which the holder of such obligations has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) a
Lien on, or payable out of the
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proceeds of production from, any property or asset of such Person, whether or not such obligation is assumed by such Person;
provided that the amount of any Debt of others that constitutes Debt of such Person solely by reason of this clause (viii) shall not for
purposes of this Agreement exceed the greater of the book value or the fair market value of the properties or assets subject to such
Lien, (ix) all Guaranty Obligations of such Person, (x) all Disqualified Stock of such Person, (xi) all Derivatives Obligations of such
Person and (xii) the Debt of any other Person (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner and any
unincorporated joint venture in which such Person is a joint venturer) to the extent such Person would be liable therefor under
Applicable Law or any agreement or instrument by virtue of such Person’s ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity,
except to the extent the terms of such Debt provide that such person shall not be liable therefor.

“Default” means any condition or event which constitutes an Event of Default or which with the giving of notice or lapse of
time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

“Default Margin” means 200 basis points (2.00%) per annum.
“Depositary” means U.S. Bank National Association, or a successor thereto appointed pursuant to the Depository Agreement.

“Depository Agreement” means the Depository Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among the Borrower, the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Depositary.

“Derivatives Agreement” means (i) any and all rate swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate
transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options, forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond
price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options,
forward foreign exchange transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-
currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the
foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to
any master agreement and (ii) any and all transactions of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and
conditions of, or governed by, any form of master agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.,
any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement or any other master agreement.

“Derivatives Creditor” means any entity which is either (i) a Person that is a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender on the date on
which the related Derivatives Agreement was entered into by the Borrower, or (ii) any other entity which (a) on the date of entering
into any Derivatives Agreement (x) is an interest rate swap dealer that has been approved in writing by the Administrative Agent
(which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) or (y) has a long-term senior unsecured debt rating of not less than
“A+” by Fitch and not less than “A1” by Moody’s or such other long-term rating or short-term rating as has been approved by the
Administrative Agent in writing in its sole discretion; and (b) in the Derivatives Agreement to
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which it is a party, (x) consents to the assignment of the Borrower’s rights under such Derivatives Agreement to the Collateral Agent

hereof and which has entered into a Derivatives Agreement with the Borrower on or prior to the date of such transfer.

“Derivatives Obligations” of any Person means all obligations (including, without limitation, any amounts which accrue after
the commencement of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding with respect to such Person, whether or not allowed or allowable as a
claim under the Bankruptcy Code) of such Person in respect of any Derivatives Agreement.

“Derivatives Termination Value” means, after actually taking into account the effect of any legally enforceable netting
agreements relating to such Derivatives Agreement, the amount payable by (in which case the amount shall be positive) or payable to
(in which case the amount shall be negative), the Borrower as a result of the termination, in whole or in part, of such Derivatives
Agreement.

“Derivatives Trigger Event” means failure by the Borrower to comply with its obligations set forth in Section 2.13(a).

“Disqualified Stock™ of any Person means any Equity Interest of such Person which by its terms (or by the terms of any
security for which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable or exercisable), or upon the happening of any event or otherwise
(including an event which would constitute a Change of Control), (A) matures or is mandatorily redeemable or subject to any
mandatory repurchase requirement, pursuant to a sinking fund or otherwise, (B) is convertible into or exchangeable for Debt or
Disqualified Stock or (C) is redeemable or subject to any repurchase requirement arising at the option of the holder thereof, in whole
or in part.

“Division” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.03.
“Dollars” and the sign “$” means lawful money of the United States.

“DSCR” or “Debt Service Coverage Ratio” means on each DSCR Test Date, the ratio of (i) the aggregate amount of
(A) Monthly Rent, Railroad Mileage Credits, car hire payments, net payment to the Borrower under Derivatives Agreements, interest
earned on deposits in the Accounts, Servicer Advances received by the Borrower, Operating Expense Reserve Amounts from the

Contributions, in each case deposited into the Collection Account during the applicable DSCR Calculation Period, less (B) the
aggregate amount of (1) (x) Operating Expenses (excluding Operating Expenses that are reimbursable by a Lessee under a Lease) and
(y) amounts deposited into the Operating Expenses Account pursuant to clause ninth of Section 2.07(c)(i) or clause eighth of Section
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amounts deposited from the proceeds of cash Capital Contributions) (collectively, “Operating_Expense Reserve Amounts™), (2) any
Servicer’s Fees, (3) any Administrative Agent Fee, and (4) reimbursement of Servicer Advances pursuant to Section 2.07(c)(i) or

(X) scheduled interest accrued on the Loans during such DSCR Calculation Period and any Derivatives Obligations accrued during
such DSCR Calculation Period (in each case, whether or not actually paid during such period), plus (Y) the aggregate amount of
Required Principal Payment Amounts scheduled to be paid on each Settlement Date occurring during such DSCR Calculation Period.
For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to any DSCR Test Date occurring prior to the DSCR Test Date occurring on October 31,
2025, the DSCR shall be calculated to include all corresponding applicable amounts under the Existing Loan Agreement during the
applicable DSCR Calculation Period.

“DSCR Calculation Period” means, with respect to any DSCR Test Date, the trailing 6 month period ending on such DSCR
Test Date.

“DSCR Failure” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(b)(i).

“DSCR Minimum” means one point one five to one (1.15:1.00).

“DSCR Test Date” means (a) the Calculation Date occurring on the last day of the calendar month in which the Restatement
Closing Date occurs and (b) each Calculation Date thereafter.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country that is
subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country that is a parent of an
institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country that is a
subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with public administrative
authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial
Institution.

“Eligible Assignee” means:

(i) any Lender or any Affiliate of a Lender;

(i) any Approved Fund; or

15



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

(iii) a commercial bank, insurance company, specialized lending fund or other financial institution, in each case, that
is regularly engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans approved in writing by the
Administrative Agent (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and, so long as no Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, the Borrower (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and having (together with
its Affiliates) total assets in excess of $500,000,000;

provided, (x) the Borrower, any Affiliate of the Borrower, or any party working in concert with the Borrower or any Affiliate of the
Borrower shall not be an Eligible Assignee and (y) so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at the time of the
relevant transfer, a Competitor of the Borrower shall not be an Eligible Assignee without the prior written consent of the Borrower,
which consent may be withheld at the Borrower’s sole discretion.

“Eligible Green Assets” means Portfolio Railcars which meet the criteria set forth in the Framework.
“Eligible Lease” means, as of any date of determination, a Lease:
(1) which constitutes an operating lease in accordance with GAAP;

(i1) under which the Lessee is a Person (other than a natural Person) organized under the laws of the United States (or
any state thereof or the District of Columbia), Canada (or any province thereof) or Mexico (or any state thereof) or otherwise
approved in writing by the Administrative Agent as evidenced by the approval of the related Funding Package;

(iii)) which provides for payment in Dollars;
(iv) which complies with all Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction in which it was originated;

(v)  which represents the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Lessee thereunder, is enforceable against such
Lessee in accordance with its terms (subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally and to general equitable principles) and was duly executed by parties having
legal capacity to do so;

(vi)  which is not the subject of, and with respect to which there does not exist any actions, suits, investigations or
legal, equitable or arbitrative or administrative proceedings against or materially adversely affecting the Borrower or the
Servicer (other than Lessee bankruptcy filings);

(vii) which has not been satisfied, subordinated or rescinded and remains in full force and effect;
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(viii) in respect of which the Security Agreement is effective to create a valid and perfected first priority Lien in favor
of the Collateral Agent, subject only to Permitted Liens;

(ix)  which, upon becoming a Portfolio Lease (or, in the case of a Portfolio Lease in the Existing Portfolio, on the
Restatement Closing Date), shall not violate the Concentration Limits; and

(x) under which there is no Lease Event of Default relating to payments which are more than sixty (60) days past due
or Lessee bankruptcy filings, in each case, as of the date such Lease becomes a Portfolio Lease (or, in the case of a Portfolio
Lease in the Existing Portfolio, on the Restatement Closing Date), other than as disclosed to and approved by the
Administrative Agent.

“Eligible Railcar” means, as of any date of determination any Railcar:

(i) that at the time such Railcar becomes a Portfolio Railcar (or, in the case of a Portfolio Railcar in the Existing
Portfolio that is subject to a Lease on the Restatement Closing Date, on the Restatement Closing Date), such Railcar is leased
to a third party pursuant to a Lease which is an Eligible Lease; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, any Portfolio Railcar
in the Existing Portfolio that is not subject to a Lease on the Restatement Closing Date shall not be subject to the Eligible
Railcar criteria in this clause (i);

(il))  which, upon becoming a Portfolio Railcar (or, in the case of a Portfolio Railcar in the Existing Portfolio, on the
Restatement Closing Date), shall not cause the violation of the Concentration Limits; and

(iii)) in respect of which the Security Agreement is effective to create a valid and perfected first priority Lien in favor
of the Collateral Agent, subject only to Permitted Liens.

“Environmental Laws” means any legal requirement of any Governmental Authority pertaining to (i) the protection of health,
safety, and the environment, (ii) the conservation, management, damage to or use of natural resources and wildlife, (iii) the protection
or use of surface water and groundwater or (iv) the management, manufacture, possession, presence, use, generation, transportation,
treatment, storage, disposal, release, threatened release, abatement, removal, remediation or handling of, or exposure to, any hazardous
or toxic substance or material and includes, without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 USC 9601 et seq., Solid Waste
Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 and Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendment of
1984, 42 USC 6901 et seq., Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 USC 1251 et seq.,
Clean Air Act of 1966, as amended, 42 USC 7401 et seq., Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, 15 USC 2601 et seq., Hazardous
Materials Transportation Act, 49 USC App. 1801 et seq., Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, 29
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USC 651 et seq., Oil Pollution Act of 1990, 33 USC 2701 et seq., Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986,
42 USC 11001 et seq., National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 42 USC 4321 et seq., Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as
amended, 42 USC 300f et seq., any analogous implementing or successor law, any comparable state, local and regional laws, and any
amendment, rule, regulation, order or directive issued thereunder.

“Equity_Equivalents” means with respect to any Person any rights, warrants, options, convertible securities, exchangeable
securities, indebtedness or other rights, in each case exercisable for or convertible or exchangeable into, directly or indirectly, Equity
Interests of such Person or securities exercisable for or convertible or exchangeable into Equity Interests of such Person, whether at
the time of issuance or upon the passage of time or the occurrence of some future event.

“Equity Interests” means all shares of capital stock, partnership interests (whether general or limited), limited liability company
membership interests, beneficial interests in a trust and any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a
share of profits or losses, or distributions of assets, of an issuing Person, but excluding any debt securities convertible into such Equity
Interests.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or any successor statute, as interpreted
by the rules and regulations thereunder, all as the same may be in effect from time to time. References to sections of ERISA shall be
construed also to refer to any successor sections.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with the Borrower within
the meaning of Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code (and Sections 414(m) and (o) of the Code for purposes of provisions relating to
Section 412 of the Code).

“Erroneous Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11(a).

“Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11(d).

“Erroneous Payment Impacted Class™ has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11(d).

“Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11(d).

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or
any successor person), as in effect from time to time.

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.01.

“Event of Loss”, with respect to any Portfolio Railcar, means any of the following events:
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(i) during the term of any Lease with respect to such Railcar, such events with respect to such Railcar as are included
in the definition of “Destroyed,” “Event of Loss,” “Total Loss,” or any equivalent term, as the case may be, in such Lease; and

(i1)) when no Lease of such Railcar is in effect, any of the following events with respect to such Railcar:

(A) loss of such Railcar or the use of such Railcar for a period in excess of 180 days due to destruction of or
damage to such Railcar or any other casualty which renders repair uneconomic or which renders such Railcar
permanently unfit for normal use;

(B) any damage to such Railcar which results in the receipt of Net Cash Proceeds by the Administrative Agent
or the Collateral Agent with respect to such Railcar on the basis of an actual, constructive or compromised total loss;

(C) the theft or disappearance of such Railcar for a period in excess of 180 consecutive days;

(D) the confiscation, seizure of or requisition or taking of title to or other Condemnation of such Railcar by
any Governmental Authority other than an instrumentality or agency of the United States whose obligations bear the
full faith and credit of the United States, for a period of more than 365 consecutive days; or

(E) as aresult of any law, rule, regulation, order or other action by the STB or other Governmental Authority
having jurisdiction, use of such Railcar in the normal course of business of rail transportation is prohibited for a period
of longer than 365 consecutive days;

provided that upon the earliest of (i) the date the Borrower or the Servicer reasonably determines that no corresponding Lessee,
insurance or other third party payment will be received in respect of such “Event of Loss”, (ii) the date that such payment is actually
received (or, if directed by the Servicer to be deposited into the Optional Reinvestment Account, the date that such payment, to the
extent not used in a reinvestment, is released to the Collection Account) or (iii) the one-year anniversary of the date that the Borrower
or the Servicer has Knowledge that such “Event of Loss” has occurred, such Railcar shall be deemed to have suffered an “Event of
Loss” and the Borrower or the Servicer will identify and designate such Railcar as an “Event of Loss Unit” on the Monthly Report
relating to the monthly period in which any of the foregoing occurs.

“Excepted Payments” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.
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“Excluded Tax” means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Protected Party or required to be withheld or
deducted from a payment to a Protected Party, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise
Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such Protected Party being organized under the laws of, or
having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or
any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such Protected
Party and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Protected Party having executed, delivered,
become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged
in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Loan Document),
(b) in the case of a Lender, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender with
respect to an applicable interest in a Loan or Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which (i) such Lender becomes a
party to this Agreement (other than pursuant to an assignment request by the Borrower under Section 2.08) or (ii) such Lender changes
its lending office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant to Section 3.01, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable
either to such Lender’s assignor immediately before such Lender became a party hereto or to such Lender immediately before it
changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Protected Party’s failure to comply with Section 3.01(d) or (g), and (d) any
U.S federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

“Existing Derivatives Creditors™ has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.

“Existing Loan Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.
“Existing Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01.

“Existing Portfolio” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor
version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current and future regulations or
official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory
legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among Governmental
Authorities and implementing such Sections of the Code.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the rates on overnight federal
funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the
Business Day next succeeding such day, provided that if such rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the Federal
Funds Rate for such day shall be the average of the quotation for such day on such transactions received by the Administrative Agent
from three federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by the Administrative Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
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the Federal Funds Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Fee Letters” means the Administrative Agent Fee Letter, the Lender Fee Letter and any other letter agreement entered into
between the Borrower and a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender.

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc., or any successor that is a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.
“Floor” means a rate of interest equal to 0.00%.

“Follow-On Lease” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.13.

“FRA” means the Federal Railroad Administration Rules and Regulations, as such regulations are amended from time to time,
or corresponding provisions of future regulations.

“Framework™ means Trinity Industries Leasing Company’s Green Financing Framework, published January 2021 at
https://s25.q4cdn.com/774532758/files/doc_downloads/2021/01/TILC Green-Financing-Framework vF.pdf, which is in alignment
with the Green Bond Principles administered by the International Capital Markets Association and the Green Loan Principles
developed by the Loan Market Association, Loan Syndications and Trading Association, and Asia Pacific Loan Market Association.

“FRB” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.

“Funding Package” means with respect to each Railcar:

(i) acopy of all related Leases; and

(i)  for each Railcar to be purchased or otherwise acquired by the Borrower (and for each Railcar in the Existing
Portfolio to be refinanced on the Restatement Closing Date), a current (within 90 days) Independent Appraisal evidencing the
Original Value of such Railcar;

provided that to the extent one or more Lease Documents relating to a Railcar that is or is intended to be subject to a Lease that will
become a Portfolio Lease on the Restatement Closing Date has not been executed at the time such Funding Package is delivered to the
Administrative Agent, drafts of such documents may be included in such Funding Package, and provided, further, that if drafts of the
foregoing are submitted, final versions of such documents must be received by the Administrative Agent at least three days prior to the
Restatement Closing Date.

“GAAP” means at any time generally accepted accounting principles as then in effect in the United States.
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“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local, provincial or foreign government, authority, agency, central bank,
quasi-governmental or regulatory authority, court or other body or entity, and any arbitrator with authority to bind a party at law.

“Green Loan Principles” means those principles dated February 2023 that have been launched by the Loan Market Association,
Loan Syndications and Trading Association, and Asia Pacific Loan Market Association and publicly promulgated at www.lma.eu.com,
as such principles may be amended, re-enacted or replaced.

“Green Loan Report” means the required annual reporting within Schedule 7.1(e) of the TILC Servicing Agreement related to
the underlying Portfolio Railcars’ alignment to the eligibility criteria laid out in the Framework.

“Guaranty Obligation” means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, any obligation (other than endorsements in the
ordinary course of business of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection) guarantying, intended to guaranty, or having the
economic effect of guarantying, any Debt of any other Person in any manner, whether direct or indirect, and including without
limitation any obligation, whether or not contingent, (i) to purchase any such Debt or other obligation or any property constituting
security therefor, (ii) to advance or provide funds or other support for the payment or purchase of such indebtedness or obligation or to
maintain working capital, solvency or other balance sheet condition of such other Person (including, without limitation, maintenance
agreements, comfort letters, take or pay arrangements, put agreements or similar agreements or arrangements) for the benefit of the
holder of Debt of such other Person, (iii) to lease or purchase property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the
owner of such Debt or (iv) to otherwise assure or hold harmless the owner of such Debt or obligation against loss in respect thereof.
The amount of any Guaranty Obligation hereunder shall (subject to any limitations set forth therein) be deemed to be an amount equal
to the outstanding principal amount (or maximum principal amount, if larger) of the Debt in respect of which such Guaranty
Obligation is made.

“Illegality Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06(b).

“Increased Amount Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).

“Increased Cost” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03(a).
“Indemnified Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05.

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on
account of any obligation of the Borrower under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in (a), Other Taxes.

“Indemnitee” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.05.

“Independent Appraisal” means a document addressed to the Administrative Agent at the address for appraisals set forth in
Schedule 11.01 executed by an Independent Appraiser setting
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forth the Appraised Fair Market Value of the Railcar or other item of equipment being appraised and the data and explanation, all in
reasonable detail, supporting such Appraised Fair Market Value.

“Independent Appraiser” means (i) RailSolutions, Inc. or (ii) any independent railcar appraisal expert of recognized standing
selected by the Borrower and approved by the Administrative Agent (at the direction of the Required Lenders), or if an Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing, selected by the Administrative Agent; provided that RailSolutions, Inc. shall be the
Independent Appraiser with respect to the Independent Appraisals delivered in accordance with Section 4.02(h) in connection with the
Restatement Closing Date.

“Initial Portfolio Railcar” means an Eligible Railcar included in the Portfolio on the Restatement Closing Date and listed on
Schedule 1.01A (collectively, the “Initial Portfolio Railcars™). For the avoidance of doubt, the Initial Portfolio Railcars include both
the Railcars in the Existing Portfolio and the Railcars in the Additional Portfolio.

“Initial Principal Amount” means $1,050,000,000.

“Insolvency Event” means any condition or event set forth in Section 9.01(g) (without giving effect to any cure or grace
periods therein).

“Interchange Rules” means the interchange rules and supplements thereto promulgated by the A.A.R., as in effect from time to
time.

“Interest Period” means, with respect to each Loan made pursuant to this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
Existing Loans) (i) initially, the period commencing on (and including) the Restatement Closing Date and ending on (but excluding)
the first Settlement Date thereafter, and (ii) thereafter, the period from (and including) the last day of the immediately preceding
Interest Period to (but excluding) the next succeeding Settlement Date; provided that the final Interest Period shall end on (but
exclude) the Termination Date.

“Investment” in any Person means (i) the acquisition (whether for cash, property, services, assumption of Debt, securities or
otherwise) of assets, Equity Interests, bonds, notes, debentures, time deposits or other securities of such other Person, (ii) any deposit
with, or advance, loan or other extension of credit to or for the benefit of such Person (other than deposits made in connection with the
purchase of equipment or inventory in the ordinary course of business) or (iii) any other capital contribution to or investment in such
Person, including by way of Guaranty Obligations of any obligation of such Person, any support for a letter of credit issued on behalf
of such Person incurred for the benefit of such Person or any release, cancellation, compromise or forgiveness in whole or in part of
any Debt owing by such Person.

“Joinder Agreement” means each joinder agreement entered into to effect the New Term Loan Commitments in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Borrower, the New Term Loan Lenders and the Administrative Agent.
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“Knowledge” means (i) an individual will be considered to have “Knowledge” of a fact or matter if the individual is actually
aware of the fact or matter; and (ii) an entity will be considered to have “Knowledge” of a fact or matter if any individual who is
serving as a director, manager or senior executive officer (or, in the case of the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, a Responsible
Officer) of that entity is, or was at any time while serving in such official capacity, actually aware of the fact or matter.

“Lease” means, with respect to any Railcar, and only to the extent it relates to such Railcar (i) any lease entered into by the
Borrower, as lessor, and any and all supplements and amendments related thereto or (ii) any such lease transferred to the Borrower
pursuant to the Purchase and Contribution Agreement. Any specified schedule to a master lease agreement identifying Railcar(s)
thereto shall be considered to be a separate “Lease.”

“Lease Default” means the occurrence of any default (other than a default which has been waived in compliance with Section
7.14, excluding the proviso therein) under a Lease which is not or has not become, through the giving of notice and/or passage of time
or otherwise, a Lease Event of Default.

“Lease Documents” means (i) each of the Leases and (ii) each other document, certificate or opinion delivered or caused to be
delivered to or for the benefit of the Borrower pursuant thereto.

“Lease Event of Default” means any default (other than a default which has been waived with the specific written consent of
the Administrative Agent (at the direction of the Required Lenders) under Section 7.14, excluding the proviso thereof) under a Lease
which, through the giving of notice, the passage of time or otherwise, has become an “event of default” or similar term (as defined and
used in such Lease) thereunder, it being the intention that a Lease Event of Default shall mean a default under a Lease as to which the
cure period, if any, has expired or which has no cure period.

“Lease Notice Requirements” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.14(d).

“Lender” means any Person listed on Schedule 1.01 and shown as having a Commitment and any Person or an Eligible
Assignee which thereafter acquires a Loan and Note (if any) hereunder in accordance with Section 11.06(b) and their respective
SUCCESSOrs.

“Lender Fee Letter” means that certain Lender Fee Letter, dated as of the Restatement Closing Date, among the Administrative
Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower.

“Lessee” means any lessee under any Lease.

“Lessee Consent” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.14(e).

“Lessee Consent Requirements” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.14(e).

“Lessee Consent Trigger Event” means the occurrence of the event described in Section 6.14(e).
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“Lessee Notice” means a notice to a Lessee in writing that the applicable Lease has been assigned to the Collateral Agent under
the Loan Documents for the benefit of the Protected Parties.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance,
lien (statutory or other), charge, or preference, priority or other security interest or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature
whatsoever (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any financing lease having substantially the same
economic effect as any of the foregoing, and the filing of any financing statement or memorandum of lien under the Uniform
Commercial Code or comparable laws of any jurisdiction), including the interest of a purchaser of accounts receivable, chattel paper,
payment intangibles or promissory notes. For the avoidance of doubt, a security interest granted by a Lessee on such Lessee’s
leasehold interest with respect to any Railcar shall not be a “Lien” for purposes of this Agreement so long as such grant would not
entitle the grantee to any interest in such Railcar (other than an interest in the Lessee’s leasehold interest as evidenced by the Lease)
under Applicable Law.

“Liquidity Reserve Account” means the “Liquidity Reserve Account” established by the Depositary pursuant to the Depository
Agreement.

“Liquidity Reserve Target Amount” means (i) as of the Restatement Closing Date and as of the first Settlement Date occurring
after the Restatement Closing Date, an amount equal to (a) the Applicable Rate (as such rate may be reduced or increased after giving
effect to the obligations of the Borrower under existing Derivatives Agreements entered into by the Borrower) divided by
four multiplied by (b) the outstanding principal amount of the Loans as of the Restatement Closing Date, and (ii) as of each other
Settlement Date, an amount equal to three times the sum of (a) the aggregate interest expense payable on the Loans for the Interest
Period ending on such Settlement Date, minus (b) any amounts (other than any Derivatives Termination Value) owed to the Borrower
as of such Settlement Date under any Derivatives Agreement, plus (c) any amounts (other than any Derivatives Termination Value)
owed by the Borrower as of such Settlement Date under any Derivatives Agreement (for purposes of this calculation, the amounts
referred to in clauses (b) and (c) shall only include amounts accruing during the Interest Period as to which the amount in clause (a) is
computed).

“Loan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01, and shall include, unless the context shall otherwise require, each New Term
Loan.

“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the Fee Letters, the Notice of Borrowing, each Additional Collateral Certificate,
each Qualifying Replacement Railcar Certificate, each Assignment and Acceptance, each Joinder Agreement, the Servicing
Documents, the Administrative Services Agreement, the Notes, the Collateral Documents, the Lease Documents, the Purchase and
Contribution Agreement, and the Marks Company Trust Agreement, collectively.

“Loan-to-Value Ratio” means, as of any LTV Test Date, the ratio of (i) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans
as of such LTV Test Date to (ii) (x) the aggregate
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Appraised Fair Market Value of all Eligible Railcars that are Portfolio Railcars as of such LTV Test Date (based on the most recent
Independent Appraisal conducted by the Independent Appraiser as of such LTV Test Date and, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding
any Portfolio Railcars subject to a Casualty with respect to which amounts are on deposit in the Optional Reinvestment Account) plus
(y) the amount on deposit in the Optional Reinvestment Account as of such LTV Test Date (other than any amounts deposited from the
proceeds of cash Capital Contributions).

“LTV Breach” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(a)(i).

“LTV Cash Sweep Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(a)(i).

“LTV Cash Sweep Ratio Threshold” means 71.0%.

“LTV Failure” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(a)(i).

“LTV Maximum Ratio” means 73.0%.
“LTV Test Date” means the last Business Day of April of each calendar year beginning on April 30, 2026.
“LTV Trigger Event” means the occurrence of the event described in Section 7.12(a)(1).

“Mandatory Prepayment Amount” means, as of the relevant Mandatory Prepayment Date, with respect to:

(i) a Railcar Sale Trigger Event, 105% of the Allocable Debt attributable to the relevant Railcar(s) as of such date;

(i) an Event of Loss or a Lessee Consent Trigger Event, 100% of the Allocable Debt attributable to the relevant
Railcar(s) as of such date; and

(iii) a Derivatives Trigger Event, either (A) an amount such that, if a partial prepayment of the Loans had been made
immediately prior to the occurrence of the Derivatives Trigger Event, such Derivatives Trigger Event would not have occurred,
or (B) if such Derivatives Trigger Event would have occurred notwithstanding any such prepayment, the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of the Loans as of such date.

“Mandatory Prepayment Date” means, with respect to:

(i) an Event of Loss, the first Settlement Date falling after the date on which any loss proceeds are first received under
the insurances (including from A.A.R.) or from the applicable Lessee or railroad or otherwise in respect of such Event of Loss,
but in any event, no more than 180 days after such Event of Loss;
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(i1) a Railcar Sale Trigger Event, the date such event occurred as set forth in the definition thereof;

(ii1) a Derivatives Trigger Event, the date falling 30 days after the date on which the Borrower notifies the
Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 6.01(g), or the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower, as applicable, of the
occurrence of such event;

(iv) a Lessee Consent Trigger Event, the date such event occurred as set forth in Section 6.14(e).

“Mandatory Prepayment Event” means the occurrence of any of the following: (i) an Event of Loss, (ii) a Railcar Sale Trigger
Event, (iii) a Derivatives Trigger Event, or (iv) a Lessee Consent Trigger Event.

“Manufacturer” means the relevant manufacturer of each Railcar.

“Margin Stock” means “margin stock™ as such term is defined in Regulation U.
“Marks” means identification marks of Railcars.

“Marks Company” means Trinity Marks Company, a Delaware statutory trust.

“Marks Company Servicing Agreement” means the Management and Servicing Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2001, between
TILC and the Marks Company.

“Marks Company Trust Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Marks Company Trust Agreement, dated as of May 17,
2001, between TILC and Wilmington Trust Company.

“Material Adverse Effect” means (i) any material adverse effect upon the operations, business, properties or condition
(financial or otherwise) of the Borrower (after taking into account any applicable insurance and any applicable indemnification (to the
extent the provider of such insurance or indemnification has the financial ability to support its obligations with respect thereto and is
not disputing or refusing to acknowledge the same)), (i) a material adverse effect on the ability of the Borrower to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby to occur on the Restatement Closing Date, (iii) a material impairment of the ability of the Borrower
to perform any of its obligations under any Loan Document or (iv) a material impairment of the validity or enforceability of the rights
and benefits of the Lenders under any Loan Document.

“Maturity Date” means the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Restatement Closing Date.

“Maximum New Term Loan Commitment Amount” means, with respect to any Increased Amount Date, $525,000,000 less the
amount of any New Term Loan Commitment established on a prior Increased Amount Date.

“Measuring_Period”, as determined with respect to any Settlement Date, means the period from the second preceding
Calculation Date to the then most recent Calculation Date; provided
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that the Measuring Period relating to the first Settlement Date after the Closing Date shall be from the Closing Date to the Calculation
Date immediately preceding such Settlement Date.

“Minimum [oan Amount” means $250,000,000.

“Modifications and Improvements Account” means the ‘“Modifications and Improvements Account” established by the
Depositary pursuant to the Depository Agreement.

“Monthly Rent” means the aggregate amount of scheduled monthly (or other scheduled periodic) rent payments actually paid
by each Lessee under the applicable Lease (excluding any Trinsight/RSI Fees) plus the aggregate amount (if any) applied from
Security Deposits to cover such rent payments; provided that if any Lease requires scheduled payments of rent other than on a monthly
basis, an amount of such rent shall be allocated to each month on a pro rata basis for the purpose of determining the aggregate amount
of “Monthly Rent.”

“Monthly Report” means a report by the Borrower (or the Servicer on its behalf) in substantially the form of Exhibit A-3 hereto
or such other form as may hereafter be agreed by the Borrower, the Servicer and the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of
the Supermajority Lenders), with appropriate insertions, or with such other changes as may be reasonably agreed to by the
Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Supermajority Lenders).

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its successors or, absent any such successor,

such nationally recognized statistical rating organization as the Borrower and the Administrative Agent may select.
“Net Cash Proceeds” means:

(i)  with respect to any Asset Disposition (other than pursuant to a Securitization), (A) the gross amount of cash
proceeds (including the proceeds of any Condemnation Awards and Event of Loss but not including Casualty Proceeds (but
including proceeds from a sale of a Railcar subject to a Casualty)) actually paid to or actually received by the Borrower in
respect of such Asset Disposition (including any cash proceeds received as income or other proceeds of any noncash proceeds
of any Asset Disposition as and when received), less (B) the sum of (x) the amount, if any, of all taxes (other than income
taxes) (to the extent that the amount of such taxes shall have been set aside for the purpose of paying such taxes when due),
and customary fees, brokerage fees, commissions, costs and other expenses (excluding all such fees, brokerage fees,
commissions, costs and other expenses payable to any Affiliates of the Borrower other than as reimbursement for such amounts
incurred for the benefit of the Borrower and paid by such Affiliates to unrelated third parties on behalf of the Borrower) that
are incurred in connection with such Asset Disposition and are payable by the Borrower, but only to the extent not already

reserve in accordance with GAAP against any liabilities associated with such Asset Disposition; and
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(il))  with respect to any Securitization, the gross amount of cash proceeds paid to or received by the Borrower in
respect of the closing of such Securitization, net of underwriting discounts and commissions or placement fees, investment
banking fees, legal fees, consulting fees, accounting fees and other customary fees and expenses directly incurred by the
Borrower in connection therewith (other than those payable to any Affiliate of the Borrower).

“New Term Loan Advance Rate” means the lesser of: (a) (i) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans
(excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of any New Term Loans to be advanced on such
Increased Amount Date) as of such Increased Amount Date divided by (ii) (x) the aggregate Appraised Fair Market Value of all
Eligible Railcars that are Portfolio Railcars (based on the most recent Independent Appraisal conducted by the Independent Appraiser
as of such Increased Amount Date and, for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any Portfolio Railcars subject to a Casualty with respect
to which amounts are on deposit in the Optional Reinvestment Account and the New Term Loan Railcars that will become Portfolio
Railcars on such Increased Amount Date) on such Increased Amount Date plus (y) the amount on deposit in the Optional
Reinvestment Account as of such Increased Amount Date (other than any amounts deposited from the proceeds of cash Capital
Contributions), and (b) the Advance Rate, in each case multiplied by the Aggregate Original Value of the New Term Loan Railcars.

“New Term Loan Commitment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).
“New Term Loan Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).

“New Term Loan Railcars” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(b).

“New Term Loans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(c).

“Non-Railcar Partial Prepayment” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.07(a)(1).

“Note” and “Notes” means, a promissory note, substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, evidencing the obligation of the
Borrower to repay outstanding Loans, as such note may be amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed or replaced from
time to time.

“Notice of Borrowing” means a request by the Borrower for a Borrowing, substantially in the form of Exhibit A-1 hereto.

“Obligations” means, at any date, (i) all Credit Obligations and (ii) all Derivatives Obligations of the Borrower owed or owing
to any Derivatives Creditor.

“OFAC” means the United States Department of Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control.
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“Operating Expense Reserve Amounts” has the meaning specified in the definition of “DSCR”.

“Onperating Expenses” means with respect to any period (and without duplication): (a) with respect to the Portfolio, (i) storage,
maintenance, test runs, repossession (whether or not successful), reconfiguration, refurbishment, repair expenses, shipping fuel,
upgrade and integration expenses related to the Railcars, incurred by the Borrower or the Servicer (in its capacity as the Servicer under
the Servicing Documents), including all expenses relating to compliance with Interchange Rules and including the fees and expenses
of independent technicians and other experts retained for any of the foregoing purposes other than with respect to expenditures
specifically agreed to be borne by the Servicer; (i1) insurance expenses related to the Portfolio Railcars, including all fees and expenses
of insurance advisors and brokers; (iii) fees and expenses of independent advisors; (iv) outside legal counsel fees and expenses and
other professional fees and expenses (A) related to litigation concerning any Railcar, (B) related to negotiations, documentation, legal
opinions and other legal assistance normally requested by a lessor in connection with leasing a Railcar, (C) related to any actual or
proposed amendment, workout, forbearance, repossession, foreclosure or other remedial action relating to any Railcar or (D) related to
out of the ordinary course of business situations; (v) all amounts (including indemnities) payable by the Borrower pursuant to any
Lease or termination thereof, or amounts payable by the Borrower pursuant to the sale of a Railcar; (vi) sales, use, property and other
taxes (including any of those which may have been paid by the Servicer on behalf of the Borrower) payable in connection with the
sale or lease of any Portfolio Railcar by or on behalf of the Borrower or otherwise payable by the Borrower, but excluding any sales,
use, property or other taxes payable by the applicable Seller under the Purchase and Contribution Agreement; (vii) remarketing
expenses and broker fees in connection with the actual or potential sale or lease of any Railcar, (viii) additional delivery expenses for
any Railcar, to the extent that the actual delivery expenses for such Railcar exceed the estimated delivery expense amount included in
the purchase price paid for any Railcar under the Purchase and Contribution Agreement (to the extent that the estimated delivery
expense amount included in such purchase price for any Railcar exceeds the actual delivery expense amount for such Railcar, such
excess amount shall be deducted from the total “Operating Expenses”), (ix) Required Modifications and the amount of modifications
and improvements permitted to be funded under Section 6.08 (but excluding Optional Modifications) and (x) any Servicer
Reimbursable Expenses, and (b) all other fees, costs and operating expenses of the Borrower including all day-to-day expenses and all
capital costs, in each case to the extent actually incurred by the Borrower or the Servicer during such period.

“Onperating_Expenses Account” means the “Operating Expenses Account” established by the Depositary pursuant to the
Depository Agreement.

“Optional Modification” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.08(d).

“Optional Reinvestment Account” means the “Optional Reinvestment Account” established by the Depositary pursuant to the
Depository Agreement.
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“Organization Documents” means: (i) with respect to any corporation, the certificate or articles of incorporation and the
bylaws; (ii) with respect to any limited liability company, the certificate of formation (or articles of organization, as the case may be)
and operating agreement; and (iii) with respect to any partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of business entity, the partnership,
joint venture or other applicable agreement of formation and any agreement, instrument, filing or notice with respect thereto filed in
connection with its formation with the secretary of state or other department in the state or other jurisdiction of its formation, in each
case as amended from time to time.

“Original Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.09.
“Original Value” means,

(i) with respect to any Railcar that is an Initial Portfolio Railcar, the Appraised Fair Market Value of such Railcar as
set forth in the Independent Appraisal provided as contemplated by Section 4.02(h); and

(i1)  with respect to any Replacement Railcar or additional Eligible Railcar as contemplated by Section 2.14, Section
7.12(a) or Section 7.12(b), the Appraised Fair Market Value of such Railcar as set forth in the Independent Appraisal provided
in accordance with Section 2.14, Section 7.05, Section 7.12(a) or Section 7.12(b), as applicable.

provided, however, on and after an Event of Loss with respect to a Railcar, its Original Value will be deemed to be zero.

“Other Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(b).

“Part” or “Parts” means all appliances, parts, instruments, appurtenances, accessories, furnishings and other equipment of
whatever nature, which may from time to time be installed on, incorporated in or attached to, a Railcar and, so long as such items
remain subject to this Agreement, all such items which are subsequently removed therefrom and which are owned by the Borrower.

“Participant Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.06(e).

“Patriot Act” means the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)), as amended and
supplemented from time to time.

“Payment Default” means any condition or event described in Section 9.01(a) (without giving effect to any cure or grace
periods therein).

“Payment Recipient” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11(a).

“Pension Plan” means an “employee pension benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), other than a
“multiemployer plan” (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA), that is subject to Title IV of ERISA and is sponsored or maintained by
the Borrower or
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any ERISA Affiliate or to which the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate contributes or has an obligation to contribute.

“Permit” means any license, permit, franchise, right or privilege, certificate of authority or order, or any waiver of the
foregoing, issued or issuable by any Governmental Authority.

“Permitted Discretionary Acquisition” means the acquisition of one or more Railcars by the Borrower with the Net Cash
Proceeds of a Permitted Discretionary Sale pursuant to which:

(1) the Borrower has provided the Administrative Agent with advance written notice prior to the date of such
Permitted Discretionary Sale that the Borrower, in good faith, intends to acquire Qualifying Replacement Railcars with the Net
Cash Proceeds of such Permitted Discretionary Sale;

(i)  at the time of such acquisition, no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (unless this clause (ii) is
waived by the Required Lenders);

(iii)) each Replacement Railcar that is acquired is a Qualifying Replacement Railcar;

(iv)  after giving effect to such acquisition, there is no (A) violation of the Concentration Limits, (B) LTV Failure
(calculated on a pro forma basis), (C) DSCR Failure (calculated on a pro forma basis), (D) Utilization Failure or
(E) Derivatives Trigger Event;

(v)  (a) the Borrower delivers to the Administrative Agent, with respect to each Replacement Railcar, the Funding
Package and (b) the Supplemental Conditions shall have been satisfied or waived with respect thereto; and

(vi)  (a) (x) the sum of (I) the Aggregate Original Value of all Relinquished Railcars subject to the related Permitted
Discretionary Sale (the Net Cash Proceeds of which are or will be used to acquire Replacement Railcars pursuant to such
acquisition (the “Current Acquisition™)) plus (II) the Aggregate Original Value of all Relinquished Railcars subject to prior
Permitted Discretionary Sales (the Net Cash Proceeds of which were used to acquire Replacement Railcars pursuant to prior
Permitted Discretionary Acquisitions that were consummated in the same calendar year as the Current Acquisition), divided by
(y) the Aggregate Original Value of all Initial Portfolio Railcars, shall not exceed 25%, and (b) (x) the sum of (I) the Aggregate
Original Value of all Relinquished Railcars subject to the related Permitted Discretionary Sale (the Net Cash Proceeds of which
are or will be used to acquire Replacement Railcars pursuant to such acquisition) plus (II) the Aggregate Original Value of all
Relinquished Railcars subject to prior Permitted Discretionary Sales (the Net Cash Proceeds of which were used to acquire
Replacement Railcars pursuant to prior Permitted Discretionary Acquisitions), divided by (y) the Aggregate Original Value of
all Initial Portfolio Railcars, shall not exceed 50%.
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“Permitted Discretionary Sale” means a sale of one or more Railcars (including a sale to a Lessee pursuant to a Lessee
purchase option in the applicable Lease) in which:

(i) the Borrower has provided the Administrative Agent with advance written notice prior to the date of such sale that
the Borrower (x) in good faith, intends to acquire Qualifying Replacement Railcars with the Net Cash Proceeds of such sale

(i)  at the time of such sale, no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (unless this clause (ii) is waived by
the Required Lenders); provided, however, the Borrower may continue to undertake sales of Railcars to Lessees pursuant to a
Lessee purchase option in the applicable Lease;

(iii)) the Net Cash Proceeds with respect to any such sale (other than a sale to a Lessee pursuant to a Lessee purchase
option in the applicable Lease or a sale in connection with a Railcar Partial Prepayment) (A) are paid by the purchaser of such
Railcar(s) directly into the Optional Reinvestment Account, and (B) are equal to or greater than the aggregate of (x) the
Mandatory Prepayment Amount and the Prepayment Premium (if any) that would be applicable to such sale as if it were a
Railcar Sale Trigger Event (regardless of whether it is), and (y) all other amounts that would be required to partially prepay the
Loans pursuant to Section 2.07(b) in the event such Railcar Sale Trigger Event occurs;

(iv) after giving effect to such sale (and any Railcar Partial Prepayment in connection therewith), there is no
(A) violation of the Concentration Limits, (B) LTV Failure (calculated on a pro forma basis), (C) DSCR Failure (calculated on
a pro forma basis), (D) Utilization Failure or (E) Derivatives Trigger Event;

(v) the consideration therefor is cash; and

(vi)  the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans is not less than the Minimum Loan Amount, if a
Mandatory Prepayment Event that would result from a Railcar Sale Trigger Event were to occur on or after the date of such
sale (regardless of whether it does), and after giving effect to such prepayment.

“Permitted Liens” means with respect to any Portfolio Railcar: (i) the Liens granted by the Borrower to the Collateral Agent
under the Loan Documents; (ii) the respective rights of a Lessee under the Lease with respect to such Railcar (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, the rights of any sublessee of the Lessee, to the extent such sublease was entered into in accordance with the
Lease); (iii) Liens for Taxes payable by the Borrower either not yet due or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings
diligently conducted so long as such proceedings do not involve any imminent danger of the sale, forfeiture or loss of such Railcar or
any interest therein; (iv) materialmen’s, suppliers’, mechanics’, workmen’s, repairmen’s, employees’ or other like Liens arising in the
ordinary course of business for amounts the payment of which is either not yet delinquent or is being contested in good faith by
appropriate
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proceedings diligently conducted so long as such proceedings do not involve any imminent danger of the sale, forfeiture or loss of
such Railcar or any interest therein; (v) Liens arising out of judgments or awards against the Borrower that do not give rise to any
Default or Event of Default and with respect to which there shall have been secured a stay of execution pending appeal or review; and
(vi) customary salvage and similar rights of insurers under policies of insurance maintained with respect to the Collateral.

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a limited liability company, a trust or an
unincorporated association or any other entity or organization, including a government or political subdivision or an agency or
instrumentality thereof.

“Physical Inspection Report” means with respect to each Railcar, a physical inspection report of the Independent Appraiser or
such other independent inspector mutually acceptable to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (at the direction of the Required
Lenders), which report shall set forth, among other things, the total number of hours and miles with respect to such Railcar.

“Portfolio” means, collectively, all of the Portfolio Railcars and the Portfolio Leases.
“Portfolio L.ease” means a Lease with respect to a Portfolio Railcar (collectively, the “Portfolio Leases™).

“Portfolio Railcar” means, from time to time, each Railcar which is owned by the Borrower and which has been funded or
refinanced in whole or in part by Loans hereunder or included as an Initial Portfolio Railcar, a Replacement Railcar or otherwise added
to the Portfolio in accordance with Section 2.14, Section 7.05 or Section 7.12, but excluding, at such time, any Railcar that is no longer
subject to the Lien of the Collateral Documents (collectively, the “Portfolio Railcars™).

“Prepayment Premium” means, with respect to Loans to be prepaid:

(1) an amount equal to 1.00% of the aggregate amount of Loans prepaid or to be prepaid during the period from the
Restatement Closing Date to but excluding the first anniversary thereof (provided that in the event of an Asset Disposition in
connection with a term Securitization for which an Affiliate of a Lender acts as lead manager, placement agent, underwriter or
similar role, the Prepayment Premium paid by the Borrower to such Lender in connection with such Asset Disposition shall be
credited against any structuring fees or placement fees, purchaser discount or other underwriting fees payable by any of the
Borrower or its Affiliates to such Affiliate of such Lender for its services as a lead manager, placement agent, underwriter or
similar role in connection with such term Securitization); and

(i)  zero at any time on or after the first anniversary of the Restatement Closing Date or in connection with any
prepayment made to (and to the extent applied to) cure the breach of any covenant contained in Article VI or VII, including a
DSCR
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Failure, LTV Failure or Utilization Failure or any prepayment made in connection with an Event of Loss.

“Protected Party” means, without duplication of any Person in a particular capacity, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent, the Depositary, the Servicer, the TILC Insurance Manager, the Administrator, each Creditor and any participant, successor or
permitted assign of any thereof.

“Purchase and Contribution Agreement” means that certain Purchase and Contribution Agreement, dated as of the Closing
Date, by and among each Seller, as a seller, and the Borrower, as purchaser, as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Purchase
and Contribution Agreement, dated as of the Restatement Closing Date.

“Qualifying Replacement Railcar” means a Railcar or Railcars (in the aggregate) (i) the Aggregate Original Value of which
must at least equal the aggregate of the Appraised Fair Market Value set forth in the most recent Independent Appraisal of the
Relinquished Railcars at its or their time of sale, (ii) that must be under Lease (A) with a remaining lease term of at least equal to two-
thirds of the remaining lease term of the Lease with respect to the Relinquished Railcar being sold and (B) which provides for Monthly
Rent equal to or greater than the Monthly Rent of the Lease with respect to the Relinquished Railcar being sold; (iii) having at least a
substantially comparable remaining economic useful life to the average remaining economic useful life of the Relinquished Railcar or
Relinquished Railcars at the time of sale, (iv) after giving effect to the replacement with such Qualifying Replacement Railcars, the
Borrower will be in compliance with the Concentration Limits and (v) is an Eligible Railcar; provided that, for the purposes of
clause (ii) above, with respect to the sale and subsequent acquisition of more than one Railcar, the remaining lease term and Monthly
Rent criteria shall be calculated using average (or in the case of Monthly Rent, average or total) values, based on the weighted
Aggregate Original Value thereof (in the case of the Replacement Railcars) or on the aggregate of the Appraised Fair Market Value set
forth in each most recent Independent Appraisal (in the case of the Relinquished Railcars).

“Qualifying_Replacement Railcar Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit A-4 hereto, with
appropriate insertions and deletions or with such other changes as may be reasonably agreed to by the Administrative Agent, and
which certificate contains a description of the Railcars and related Leases which are to become Portfolio Railcars and Portfolio Leases
in connection with a Permitted Discretionary Sale (other than in connection with a Railcar Partial Prepayment) and a related Permitted
Discretionary Acquisition.

“Railcar” means a covered hopper car, tank car, boxcar, flat car or other railcar or unit of railroad rolling stock (other than a
locomotive), including (i) any and all Parts relating thereto and (ii) any Replacement Railcars and any and all Parts relating thereto,
together with any and all accessions, additions, improvements and replacements from time to time incorporated or installed in any
item thereof and together with all options, warranties, service contracts, program services, test rights, maintenance rights, support
rights, improvement rights and indemnifications relating to any of the foregoing.
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“Railcar Documentation” means with respect to each Railcar, (i) the documents (including microfilm), data, manuals, diagrams
and other written information originally furnished by the Manufacturer and/or the applicable Seller thereof on or about the date of
acquisition of such Railcar by the Borrower, (ii) the documents, records, logs and other data maintained (or required to be maintained)
in respect of the Railcars pursuant to the terms of Leases related to such Railcars during the term of such Leases, (iii) the documents,
records, logs and other data maintained (or required to be maintained) in respect of the Railcars pursuant to any Applicable Law and
(iv) the documents, records, logs and other data maintained (or recommended to be maintained) in respect of the Railcars pursuant to
the applicable Manufacturer’s recommendations.

“Railcar Portfolio Data Set” means the data set (whether in .xIsx format, .pdf, or other format) prepared by the Borrower (or
the Servicer on its behalf) describing each Railcar and Lease to be added to the Portfolio on the date of acquisition thereof by the
Borrower (and with respect to the Restatement Closing Date, also describing each Railcar and Lease in the Existing Portfolio),
including the type, model and car number, the Mark that is, or after acquisition by the Borrower will be, applicable to such Railcar and
the identity of the registered holder of such Mark, the Lessee or proposed Lessee, if applicable, and the applicable Seller of the Railcar.

“Railcar Sale Trigger Event” means the occurrence of (a) for any Asset Disposition of a Railcar other than an Event of Loss or
an Asset Disposition described in clause (b), the date of such Asset Disposition and (b) for any Permitted Discretionary Sale for which
the Borrower has provided the Administrative Agent with advance written notice prior to the date of such Permitted Discretionary Sale
that the Borrower, in good faith, intends to acquire Qualifying Replacement Railcars with the Net Cash Proceeds of such Permitted
Discretionary Sale pursuant to a Permitted Discretionary Acquisition and with respect to which the Borrower is in compliance with
Section 7.05(b)(i), the earlier of (i) the date (if any) the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent such Permitted Discretionary

Railcars replace the applicable Portfolio Railcars subject to such Permitted Discretionary Sale pursuant to a Permitted Discretionary
Acquisition in accordance with Section 7.05 prior to the occurrence of a Railcar Sale Trigger Event, then no Railcar Sale Trigger
Event shall occur with respect to such Permitted Discretionary Sale.

“Railroad Mileage Credits” means the mileage credit payments made by the railroads under their applicable tariffs to the owner
of the Marks on the Railcar.

“Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.06(d).

“Regulation O, T, U or X” means Regulation O, T, U or X, respectively, of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System as amended, or any successor regulation.
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“Related Document Inspection” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11.

“Related Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the FRB or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed
or convened by the FRB or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

“Relinquished Railcar” means any Railcar in the Portfolio (i) which is sold in a Permitted Discretionary Sale or (ii) the Lien of
the Collateral Documents in respect of which has been released.

“Replacement Railcar” means any Railcar which has replaced a Railcar in the Portfolio in accordance with the terms of the
Loan Documents.

“Reporting Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01(f).

“Required Lenders” means, collectively, the Lenders whose aggregate Credit Exposure constitutes more than fifty percent
(50%) of the Credit Exposure of all Lenders at such time.

“Required Modification” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.08(¢).

“Required Principal Payment Amount” means, with respect to each Settlement Date after the Restatement Closing Date, the
amount set forth opposite such Settlement Date in Column A on Schedule 1.02.

“Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial Institution, a UK Resolution
Authority.

“Responsible Officer” means, (i) with respect to any Person other than the Borrower, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary,
the chief financial officer or chief accounting officer, the president, any vice president, any managing director, treasurer, assistant
treasurer or secretary of such Person (or, in the case of a Person which is a partnership, limited liability company or trust, any such
officer of the general partner, manager, managing member, trustee or Person performing similar management functions in respect
thereof), (i) with respect to the Borrower, the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer, the president,
any vice president, any managing director, treasurer, assistant treasurer, secretary or any other authorized signatory of TILC, in its
capacity as the sole member or manager of the Borrower, and (iii) with respect to the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, any officer
within the Corporate Trust Services department having direct responsibility for the administration of this Agreement, and also means,
with respect to a particular corporate trust matter, any other officer to whom such matter is referred because of that officer’s
knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject. Any document delivered hereunder that is signed by a Responsible Officer of
a Person shall be conclusively presumed to have been authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership and/or other action on the part
of such Person and such Responsible Officer shall be conclusively presumed to have acted on behalf of such Person.
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“Restatement Closing_Date” means the date this Agreement becomes effective in accordance with Section 11.21. The
Restatement Closing Date shall be deemed to constitute an Increased Amount Date for all purposes of the TILC Servicing Agreement.

“Restricted Payment” means (i) any dividend or other distribution, direct or indirect, on account of any class of Equity Interests
or Equity Equivalents of the Borrower, now or hereafter outstanding, (ii) any redemption, retirement, sinking fund or similar payment,
purchase or other acquisition for value, direct or indirect, of any class of Equity Interests or Equity Equivalents of the Borrower, now
or hereafter outstanding, (iii) any payment made to retire, or to obtain the surrender of, any outstanding warrants, options or other
rights to acquire any class of Equity Interests or Equity Equivalents of the Borrower, now or hereafter outstanding, and (iv) any loan,
advance, tax sharing payment or indemnification payment to, or investment in, any Affiliate of the Borrower.

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, and its successor or, absent any such successor, such nationally recognized statistical rating
organization as the Borrower and the Administrative Agent may select.

“Sanctions” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(a).

“Sanctions Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.25(a).

“Sanctions Provisions” means any provision of the Loan Documents which relates to Sanctions or Sanctions Laws, including
Sections 5.25 and 7.19.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Securitization” means any asset-backed offering sponsored by the Borrower, TILC and/or their Affiliates, and involving all or
any of the Portfolio Railcars and Portfolio Leases.

“Security Agreement” means the Security Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among the Borrower, the Collateral Agent
and the Administrative Agent, including each supplement relating thereto.

“Security Deposit” means any cash held by or for the benefit of the Borrower as a “security deposit” (or other similar term)
pursuant to any Lease.

“Seller” means each of TILC, Trinity Rail Leasing Warehouse Trust, Trinity Rail Leasing 2017 LLC and, after the Restatement
Closing Date, any other Person that is an Affiliate of TILC and that becomes a “Seller” under, as defined in and in accordance with the
Purchase and Contribution Agreement.

“Servicer” means, as applicable, (i) TILC, and (ii) each replacement servicer as may be approved in writing by the
Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required Lenders) from time to time in accordance with Section 6.15(a).
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“Servicer Advances” means any advance (other than any advance giving rise to Servicer Reimbursable Expenses) made by the
Servicer (from time to time in the Servicer’s sole discretion) to the Borrower in respect of one or more delinquent Lease payments
which the Servicer determines will be recoverable, such advance to be deposited in the Collection Account on any Settlement Date or
otherwise immediately after any distribution pursuant to Section 2.07(c)(i) on such Settlement Date. Outstanding Servicer Advances
shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate and shall be repaid on the Settlement Date after the Settlement Date
the relevant Servicer Advance is actually received in the Collection Account in the order of priority of payments set forth in the

applicable provisions of Section 2.07(c).

“Servicer Reimbursable Expenses” means any Operating Expenses properly incurred by the Servicer on behalf of the Borrower
in accordance with the terms hereof and of the Servicing Agreement.

“Servicer Replacement Event” shall mean (i) with respect to TILC, a “Servicer Default” or a “Servicer Replacement Event”,
each as defined in the TILC Servicing Agreement, or (ii) events of default, replacement events, termination events and other similar
events with respect to a replacement Servicing Agreement.

“Servicer’s Fee” as applicable, shall mean (i) the “Servicing Fee” as defined in the TILC Servicing Agreement, and (ii) a fee
similar to that listed in clause (i) with respect to a replacement Servicing Agreement.

“Servicing Agreement” means, as applicable, (i) the TILC Servicing Agreement, and (ii) each replacement servicing agreement
with a replacement Servicer as may be approved in writing by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion from time to time.

“Servicing Documents” means, as applicable, (i) the Servicing Agreement, (ii) the TILC Account Administration Agreement,
(ii1) the TILC Insurance Agreement, (iv) the Marks Company Servicing Agreement and (v) any other similar document entered into
from time to time with the Servicer or its Affiliate or an agent, administrator or similar Person in connection with the servicing by the
Servicer of any Railcar or Lease or payments relating thereto.

“Settlement Date” means the 15" calendar day of each calendar month; provided that if such day is not a Business Day, the
applicable “Settlement Date” shall be the next succeeding Business Day; and provided further that the first Settlement Date after the
Restatement Closing Date shall be May 15, 2025.

“SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the SOFR Administrator.

“SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight
financing rate).
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“SOFR _Administrator’s Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR
Administrator from time to time.

“SOFR Determination Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.
“SOFR Loan” means any Loan bearing interest at a rate based on Daily Simple SOFR.
“SOFR Rate Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.

“Solvent” means, with respect to any Person as of a particular date, that on such date (i) such Person is able to pay its debts and
other liabilities, contingent obligations and other commitments as they mature in the normal course of business, (ii) such Person does
not intend to, and does not believe that it will, incur debts or liabilities beyond such Person’s ability to pay as such debts and liabilities
mature in their ordinary course, (iii) such Person is not engaged in a business or a transaction, and is not about to engage in a business
or a transaction, for which such Person’s assets would constitute unreasonably small capital after giving due consideration to the
prevailing practice in the industry in which such Person is engaged or is to engage, (iv) the fair value of the assets of such Person is
greater than the total amount of liabilities, including, without limitation, contingent liabilities, of such Person and (v) the aggregate fair
saleable value (i.e., the amount that may be realized within a reasonable time, considered to be six months to one year, either through
collection or sale at the regular market value, conceiving the latter as the amount that could be obtained for the assets in question
within such period by a capable and diligent businessman from an interested buyer who is willing to purchase under ordinary selling
conditions) of the assets of such Person will exceed its debts and other liabilities (including contingent, subordinated, unmatured and
unliquidated debts and liabilities). For purposes of this definition, “debt” means any liability on a claim, and “claim” means (i) a right
to payment, whether or not such a right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured,
disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured or unsecured, or (ii) a right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such
breach gives rise to a payment, whether or not such right is an equitable remedy, is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated,
fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured or unsecured.

“SPO” means that certain Second-Party Opinion of Sustainalytics with an evaluation date of January 18, 2021, published at
https://mstar-sustops-cdn-mainwebsite-s3.s3.amazonaws.com/docs/default-source/spos/trinity-industries-leasing-company-green-
financing-framework-second-party-opinion.pdf?sfvrsn=e303dcb3 3.

“STB” means the United States Surface Transportation Board and its successors.

“Standard of Care” means the “Services Standard” or similar term as defined in the Servicing Agreement, together with any
“Nondiscrimination Requirement” or similar term as defined in the Servicing Agreement.
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“Subsidiary” means with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association or other
business entity of which (i) if a corporation, more than 50% of the total voting power of stock entitled (without regard to the
occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by
that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof, or (ii) if a partnership, limited liability
company, association or business entity other than a corporation, more than 50% of the partnership or other similar ownership interests
thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of that Person or a
combination thereof. For purposes hereof, a Person or Persons shall be deemed to have more than 50% ownership interest in a
partnership, limited liability company, association or other business entity if such Person or Persons shall be allocated more than 50%
of partnership, association or other business entity gains or losses or shall be or control the managing director, manager or a general
partner of such partnership, association or other business entity.

“Supermajority Lenders” means, collectively, the Lenders whose aggregate Credit Exposure constitutes more than 66 2/3% of
the Credit Exposure of all Lenders at such time.

“Supplemental Conditions” means, in respect of any Replacement Railcar pursuant to any Permitted Discretionary Acquisition
making of a Loan” being deemed to be a reference to “the applicable Permitted Discretioﬁ;ry )\_équisition or additional Railcar™), (d)
(as well as receipt by the Administrative Agent of an Additional Collateral Certificate with respect to such Replacement Railcars or
additional Railcars and related Lease(s)), (e), (), (g), (h), (j), (k), (m), (n) (solely with respect to any Person that becomes a Seller after

Seller after the Restatement Closing Date), (0)(ii), (0)(iii), (p)(1),_(p)@i), (1), (s), (t) and (u) (in respect of the relevant
clauses referenced herein) of Section 4.02, in each case, as if references therein to the “Initial Portfolio Railcar”, “Lease”, “Additional
Portfolio”, “Restatement Closing Date” and “closing” were instead references to each such Replacement Railcar or additional Railcar,
each Lease relating thereto or the applicable Follow-On Lease and the effective date relating thereto.

“Sustainalytics” means Sustainalytics, a Morningstar Company.

“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding),
assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties
applicable thereto.

“Termination Date” means the date on which all outstanding Obligations of the Borrower have been paid in full.

“Test Date” means an LTV Test Date or a DSCR Test Date, as the context requires.
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“TILC” means Trinity Industries Leasing Company, a Delaware corporation.

“TILC Account Administration Agreement” means the Customer Collections Account Administration Agreement, dated as of
November 12, 2003, by and among the various beneficiary parties thereto from time to time, including the Borrower and the Collateral
Agent, TILC and Wilmington Trust Company (and as the same may be amended, supplemented, restated, amended and restated or
modified from time to time), or any replacement account administration agreement with the TILC Account Collateral Agent or a
replacement TILC Account Collateral Agent.

“TILC Account Collateral Agent” means the “Account Collateral Agent” under and as defined in the TILC Account
Administration Agreement, initially Wilmington Trust Company.

“TILC Customer Payments Account” means the “Customer Payments Account” described in the TILC Account Administration
Agreement.

“TILC Insurance Agreement” means that certain Insurance Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, between the Borrower
and TILC as insurance manager (in such capacity, the “TILC Insurance Manager”).

“TILC Insurance Manager” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “TILC Insurance Agreement”.

“TILC Servicing Agreement” means that certain Servicing Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among the Borrower,
TILC as Servicer and TILC as Administrator, as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Servicing Agreement, dated as of the
Restatement Closing Date.

“Treasury Regulations” means the regulations, including temporary and proposed regulations, promulgated by the United
States Department of Treasury with respect to the Code, as such regulations are amended from time to time, or corresponding
provisions of future regulations.

“Trigger Event” means any of a Derivatives Trigger Event, Lessee Consent Trigger Event, LTV Trigger Event, Railcar Sale
Trigger Event and Utilization Trigger Event.

“Trinity” means Trinity Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its successors and permitted assigns.
“Trinsight/RSI Equipment” means any instrument, sensor, device or other equipment not owned by the Borrower solely related

to the Trinsight/RSI Program as may be mounted or attached on the Portfolio Railcars from time to time for purposes of the
Trinsight/RSI Program.

“Trinsight/RSI Fees” means fees payable by any relevant Lessee to the Trinsight/RSI Provider (or its affiliate) for such
Lessee’s participation in the Trinsight/RSI Program, whether expressed as a standalone fee pursuant to a separate agreement with the
Trinsight/RSI Provider
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(or its affiliate) or combined as a part of the lease rental payments, with respect to any Lease for any participating Portfolio Railcar.

“Trinsight/RSI Program™ means a digital platform offered by the Trinsight/RSI Provider to Lessees in order to, among other
things, monitor the location, condition and health of participating Railcars (including where relevant, certain Portfolio Railcars) and
provide insights to such participating Lessees as a result of the collection of such information.

“Trinsight/RSI Provider” means TrinityRail Leasing Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation, TrinityRail Asset
Management Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, RSI Logistics, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Quasar
Platform Inc., an Alberta corporation, or another Affiliate of TILC, or any of their successor or successors.

“UK Financial Institution” means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA Rulebook (as amended from
time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority) or any person falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the
FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes
certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

“UK Resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for
the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark
Replacement Adjustment.

“United States” means the United States of America, including the States and the District of Columbia but excluding its
territories and possessions.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (a) a Saturday, (b) a Sunday or (c) a day on which the
Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the
entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities; provided, that for purposes of notice requirements in
Sections 2.02 and 2.07(a)(iii) in each case, such day is also a Business Day.

“U.S. Lender” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(d)(i).
“Utilization Failure” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.12(c).

“Utilization Ratio” means, as of any time, the ratio of (i) the number of Portfolio Railcars subject to or contractually committed
to an Eligible Lease (including pursuant to a month-to-month lease or a letter of intent to lease) to (ii) the total number of Portfolio
Railcars; provided that any Portfolio Railcar that is contractually committed to, but not yet delivered under, an Eligible Lease shall
cease to be included in clause (i) if no Monthly Rent has been paid with respect to such Railcar within 60 days of being so
contractually committed (other than as a result of customary rental abatement under the applicable Eligible Lease).
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“Utilization Trigger Event” means the occurrence of the event described in Section 7.12(c).
“Wells Fargo” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and
conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member
Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the
United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change
the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or
part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or
instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the
powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

SECTION 1.02 Computation of Time Periods and Other Definitional Provisions. For purposes of computation of periods of
time hereunder, the word “from” means “from and including” and the words “to” and “until” each mean “to but excluding”. All
references to time herein shall be references to Eastern Standard time or Eastern Daylight time, as the case may be, unless specified
otherwise. References in this Agreement to Articles, Sections, Schedules, Appendices or Exhibits shall be to Articles, Sections,
Schedules, Appendices or Exhibits of or to this Agreement unless otherwise specifically provided. The definitions in Section 1.01 shall
apply equally to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. The references to any law or regulation refer to that law or
regulation as amended from time to time and include any successor law or regulation. All references to any agreement, instrument or
other document means such agreement, instrument or other document, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

SECTION 1.03  Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or plan of division
under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction’s laws) (each, a “Division”): (a) if any asset, right,
obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to
have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if any new Person comes into existence, such new
Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of its equity interests at such time.

SECTION 1.04 Rates. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Depositary does not warrant or accept
any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, (a) the continuation of, administration of, submission of,
calculation of or any other matter related to the Benchmark, any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition
thereof, or with respect to any alternative, successor or replacement rate thereto (including any Benchmark Replacement), including
whether the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark
Replacement), as it may or may not be adjusted pursuant to Section 3.06(c), will be similar to, or produce the same
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value or economic equivalence of, or have the same volume or liquidity as, the Benchmark or any other Benchmark prior to its
discontinuance or unavailability, or (b) the effect, implementation or composition of any Conforming Changes. Each of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and their respective Affiliates or other related entities may engage in
transactions that affect the calculation of the Benchmark, any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark
Replacement) or any relevant adjustments thereto and such transactions may be adverse to the Borrower. The Administrative Agent
may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain the Benchmark, any component definition thereof
or rates referred to in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the
Borrower, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental
or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (wWhether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any
error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

ARTICLE I

THE CREDIT FACILITY

SECTION 2.01 Commitment to Lend. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that, on the Restatement Closing Date, the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the “Loans”, under and as defined in the Existing Loan Agreement, is $319,741,666.74
(collectively, the “Existing_Loans™). The Borrower hereby represents, warrants, agrees, covenants and confirms that as of the
Restatement Closing Date it has no defense, setoff, claim or counterclaim against the Administrative Agent, any of the Lenders or any
other Person with respect to its Obligations in respect of the Existing Loans. Each Lender severally agrees, on the Restatement Closing
Date, subject to the Administrative Agent’s determination that the terms and conditions of Sections 2.02, 4.01 and 4.02 have been
satisfied or waived by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, and on the other terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, to
make a loan (each, a “Loan”) to the Borrower equal to such Lender’s Commitment Percentage of the aggregate amount of the
Borrowing of Loans to be made on the Restatement Closing Date as requested by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.02 in a single
Borrowing in order to refinance the Existing Portfolio and fund the acquisition of the Additional Portfolio by the Borrower on the
Restatement Closing Date; provided, that, with respect to any Lender holding a portion of the Existing Loans, such Lender’s
Commitment to lend a portion of the Loans to the Borrower on the Restatement Closing Date shall be deemed satisfied in an amount
equal to its portion of the then outstanding principal amount of the Existing Loans. The Loans advanced (which for purposes of this
sentence, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be deemed to include the Existing Loans) on the Restatement Closing Date with respect to
any Railcars and related Leases shall not (i) exceed the lesser of (x) the Initial Principal Amount and (y) the Advance and (ii) in the
case of any Lender, exceed its Commitment. Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees (a) that the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of the Existing Loans shall be and hereby is, from and following the Restatement Closing Date, continued and reconstituted
into a portion of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans made to the Borrower under this Agreement in like amount,
without constituting a novation, and shall and hereby does constitute a portion of
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the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans for all purposes hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and (b) that
concurrently therewith, by their execution of this Agreement, the Lenders have assigned such Loans among themselves, such that,
after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, such Loans shall be allocated among the Lenders in accordance
with their respective Commitment Percentages.

Within the foregoing limits, the Borrower may borrow under this Section 2.01, repay, or, to the extent permitted or required by
Section 2.07, prepay, Loans, but may not reborrow Loans under this Section 2.01 or otherwise.

SECTION 2.02  Notice of Borrowing. The Borrower may, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, borrow
Loans on the Restatement Closing Date in respect of each Initial Portfolio Railcar. In such event, the Borrower shall have given the
Administrative Agent a Notice of Borrowing, signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, not later than 12:00 p.m. (New York
time) on the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day prior to the Restatement Closing Date, specifying:

(a)  the proposed Restatement Closing Date of the Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day no earlier than one (1)
Business Day following receipt by the Administrative Agent of a complete Funding Package with respect to such Railcar;

(b) the aggregate amount of the Borrowing; and

(c) adescription of each Initial Portfolio Railcar and the Eligible Lease(s) relating thereto pledged prior to (in the case of
the Existing Portfolio), or to be pledged on (in the case of the Additional Portfolio), the Restatement Closing Date.

SECTION 2.03  Notice to Lenders; Funding of Loans. (a) Notice to Lenders. Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing, the
Administrative Agent shall notify each Lender of the Restatement Closing Date and of such Lender’s ratable share of the Loans
referred to therein and the relevant details. On the Restatement Closing Date each Lender shall transfer an amount equal to its ratable
share of the Loan to the Administrative Agent by no later than 12:00 p.m. (New York time).

(b) Funding of Loans.

(1) The Administrative Agent shall, unless the Administrative Agent determines that any applicable condition
specified in Article IV has not been, or will not be satisfied or waived on the Restatement Closing Date, by 2:00 p.m. (New
York time) on the Restatement Closing Date, make the amount of such Borrowing available to the Borrower at the general
deposit account(s) in the United States designated by the Borrower in immediately available funds in a wire transfer. If the
Administrative Agent determines that any applicable condition specified in Article IV has not been, or will not be satisfied or
waived on the Restatement Closing Date, it will notify the Borrower of such determination as soon as possible and in any event
by 2:00 p.m. (New York time) on the Restatement Closing Date.
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(il)) A Notice of Borrowing, once delivered to the Administrative Agent, shall be irrevocable and binding on the
Borrower. Following such Notice of Borrowing, the Borrower shall indemnify each Lender against any loss, cost or expense
incurred by such Lender as a result of any failure to fulfill, on or before the proposed Restatement Closing Date specified in the
Notice of Borrowing, the conditions set forth in Sections 4.01 and 4.02. Any such loss, cost or expense shall be paid in
accordance with Section 2.07(c) after any Lender shall have furnished to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, with
reasonable supporting calculations, a notice specifying the amounts thereof.

(c) Obligations of Lenders Several. The failure of any Lender to make a Loan required to be made by it as part of the
Borrowing hereunder shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation, if any, hereunder to make any Loan on the Restatement
Closing Date of such Borrowing, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make the Loan to be
made by such other Lender on the Restatement Closing Date.

SECTION 2.04 Evidence of Loans. (a) Lender Accounts. Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an
account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower resulting from the Loan made by such Lender, including the amounts
of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time under this Agreement.

(b) Administrative Agent Records. The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it will record (i) the amount
of each Loan made hereunder, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the
Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder from the
Borrower and each Lender’s share thereof.

(c) Evidence of Debt. The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to subsections (a) and (b) of this Section 2.04
shall be conclusive evidence (absent manifest error) of the existence and amounts of the obligations therein recorded; provided,
however, that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any
manner affect the obligations of the Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with their terms.

(d) Notes. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any Lender shall request and receive a Note or Notes
as provided in Section 11.06 or otherwise, then the Loans of such Lender shall be evidenced by such Note or Notes substantially in
the form of Exhibit B, and payable to such Lender in an amount equal to the aggregate unpaid principal amount of such Lender’s
Loans.

(e) Note Endorsements. Each Lender having a Note shall record the date and amount of each Loan made by it and the date
and amount of each payment of principal made by the Borrower with respect thereto, and may, if such Lender so elects in
connection with any transfer or enforcement of its Note, endorse on the reverse side or on the schedule, if any, forming a part
thereof appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing information with respect to each outstanding Loan evidenced thereby;
provided that the failure of any Lender to
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make any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunder or under any such Note. Each
Lender is hereby irrevocably authorized by the Borrower to so endorse its Note and to attach to and make a part of its Note a
continuation of any such schedule as and when required. When the Borrower has paid a Note in full, such Lender will promptly
return such Note to the Administrative Agent, who will return such Note to the Borrower, against receipt therefor, marked “PAID IN
FULL”.

(f)  Lost, Mutilated and Destroyed Notes, etc. If any Note issued to a Lender pursuant to this Agreement shall become
mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen, the Borrower shall, upon the written request of the holder of such Note, execute and deliver to
the Administrative Agent, who shall endorse and deliver to the applicable Lender in replacement thereof a new Note, payable to the
same holder in the same principal amount and dated the same date as the Note so mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen. If the Note
being replaced has become mutilated, such Note shall be surrendered to the Borrower for cancellation and if the Note being
replaced has been destroyed, lost or stolen, the holder of such Note shall furnish to the Borrower such indemnification as may be
required by the Borrower to hold the Borrower harmless and evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower of the destruction,
loss or theft of such Note and of the ownership thereof; provided, however, that if the holder of such Note is a Lender, the written
undertaking of such Lender shall be sufficient indemnity for purposes of this Section 2.04(f).

SECTION 2.05 Interest.
(a) Rate of Interest.

(i) Each Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for each day during each Interest Period
applicable thereto, at a rate per annum equal to the Applicable Rate for such day. Such interest shall be payable in arrears on
each Settlement Date and on the Termination Date.

(il)) At any time during which an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, each Loan shall bear additional
interest (in addition to the interest payable pursuant to Section 2.05(a)(i)) on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for each
day during each Interest Period applicable thereto, at a rate per annum equal to the Default Margin and such accrued additional
interest shall be aggregated on the last day of such Interest Period (all such aggregated additional interest, the “Aggregated

Default Interest”).

(b) Determination and Notice of Interest Rates. The Administrative Agent shall determine each interest rate applicable to
the Loans as provided in this Agreement. The Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice to the Borrower and the participating
Lenders of each rate of interest so determined, and its determination thereof shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.

(¢) Daily Simple SOFR Conforming Changes. In connection with the use or administration of Daily Simple SOFR, the
Administrative Agent will have the right to make
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Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any
amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other
party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower, the Lenders and
the Derivatives Creditors of the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use or administration of Daily
Simple SOFR.

SECTION 2.06 Repayment and Maturity of Loans.

(a) Maturity Date. On the Maturity Date, the remaining principal balance of the Loans and all other Obligations under the
Loan Documents shall become immediately due and payable.

(b) Repayment. On each Settlement Date, the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of each
Lender, the Required Principal Payment Amount.

SECTION 2.07 Prepayments and Distribution of Payments.

(a) Voluntary Prepayments.

(i) Non-Railcar Prepayments. The Borrower shall have the right to voluntarily prepay the Loans, either in whole or in
part (each, a “Non-Railcar Partial Prepayment”); provided, however, that (A) other than in respect of a Non-Railcar Partial
Prepayment relating to a DSCR Cure or an LTV Cure, each such partial prepayment shall be in a minimum principal amount
equal to $2,000,000, and (B) no Asset Disposition or release of the Lien of the Collateral Documents shall occur in connection
with such Non-Railcar Partial Prepayment.

Loans either in whole (a “Railcar Prepayment”) or, on a per Railcar basis, in part (each, a “Railcar Partial Prepayment”);
provided, however, that (A) no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (B) each Railcar Partial Prepayment
shall be in a minimum principal amount equal to 105% of the Allocable Debt in respect of the Railcar relating to such Railcar
Partial Prepayment, (C) the Borrower shall not be permitted to make any Railcar Partial Prepayment unless, prior to the release
of the Lien of the Collateral Documents relating to the relevant Railcar(s) subject to and in accordance therewith, the Asset
Disposition of such Railcar(s) (if any) complies in all respects with (and is not in violation of) the requirements for a Permitted
Discretionary Sale and Section 7.05, and (D) immediately after any Railcar Partial Prepayment (1) the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of the Loans shall not be less than the Minimum Loan Amount, and (2) there shall be no Utilization Failure or
Derivatives Trigger Event and no violation of the Concentration Limits, in each case, after giving effect to such Railcar Partial
Prepayment.
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(iii))  In connection with all prepayments under this Section 2.07(a), the Borrower shall have given prior written or
telecopy notice (or telephone notice promptly confirmed by written or telecopy notice) to the Administrative Agent by
10:00 a.m., at least five U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the date of prepayment. Each notice of prepayment
shall specify the prepayment date and the principal amount to be prepaid. Each notice of prepayment shall be irrevocable and
shall commit the Borrower to prepay such Loans by the amount stated therein on the date stated therein. All prepayments under
this Section 2.07(a) shall be accompanied by Prepayment Premium (if any), accrued interest on the principal amount being
prepaid to the date of payment together with any (positive) Derivatives Termination Value and other Derivatives Obligations, in
each case owing to each Derivatives Creditor, and, solely with respect to a prepayment in whole of the Loans, all other
amounts, if any, then owing to each Creditor at such time, and in the case of such prepayments made to reduce the outstanding
principal amount of the Loans (including a Railcar Prepayment), shall be applied pro rata to the remaining scheduled Required
Principal Payment Amounts and the principal payment due on the Maturity Date.

(b) Mandatory Prepayments. Following the occurrence of a Mandatory Prepayment Event, the Borrower shall be required
to prepay Loans in an amount equal to the applicable Mandatory Prepayment Amount on the applicable Mandatory Prepayment
Date. All payments under this Section 2.07(b) shall be accompanied by Prepayment Premium (if any), accrued interest on the
principal amount being prepaid to the date of payment together with any (positive) Derivatives Termination Value and other
Derivatives Obligations, in each case owing to each Derivatives Creditor, and, solely with respect to a prepayment in whole of the
Loans, all other amounts, if any, then owing to each Creditor at such time, and in the case of such payments made to reduce the
outstanding principal amount of the Loans, shall be applied pro rata to the remaining scheduled Required Principal Payment
Amounts and the principal payment due on the Maturity Date.

long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, on each Settlement Date, all amounts on deposit in the Collection
Account (excluding Trinsight/RSI Fees, if any) as of the Calculation Date immediately preceding such Settlement Date shall be
applied by the Depositary on such Settlement Date (or on any other date on which all outstanding Obligations are repaid and
satisfied in full) in the following order of priority in accordance with the applicable Monthly Report:

first, ratably (v) to reimburse the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Servicer, the Depositary and
the Lenders for, any fees, expense, charge, indemnity or other loss incurred by any such Person (including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses and the fees and expenses of any person appointed by the
Administrative Agent to replace the Servicer pursuant to the Servicing Agreement) in connection with the performance
by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Servicer, the Depositary or any Lender of any of its obligations
hereunder or under the other Loan Documents,
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(w) to the payment of all indemnities in respect of Indemnified Taxes, Other Taxes, stamp taxes, increased costs
referred to in Section 3.03, losses, costs and expenses referred to in Section 2.03(b), in each case with respect to the
Protected Parties and other amounts, other than principal and interest on the Loans or to the extent otherwise expressly
payable in a subsequent priority below, payable to any Protected Party (other than the Servicer, the TILC Insurance
Manager or the Administrator) in accordance with the Loan Documents, (x) to the reimbursement of the Lenders for
any amounts paid by the Lenders to the Administrative Agent in compensation for fees and expenses incurred by the
Administrative Agent as described in this clause first, (y) an amount equal to the Operating Expenses (including any
Servicer Reimbursable Expenses) actually incurred by the Borrower, the Servicer, the TILC Insurance Manager and/or
the Administrator in the Measuring Period relating to such Settlement Date, to be paid to the Borrower or to be
reimbursed to the Servicer, the TILC Insurance Manager and/or the Administrator, as applicable, and (z) an amount
equal to the Administrative Agent Fee then due and owing (if any) to be paid to the Administrative Agent;

second, to the payment of the Servicer’s Fees payable on such Settlement Date, together with the aggregate
amount of any Servicer’s Fees which were due and payable on any previous Settlement Date and remain unpaid;

third, to reimburse the Servicer for outstanding Servicer Advances, together with accrued interest thereon;

fourth, ratably (x) to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest (except for Aggregated Default Interest) on the
Loans and (y) to the payment of Derivatives Obligations (other than for the payment of Derivatives Termination Value
payable by the Borrower) owing to the Derivatives Creditors, if any, then due and payable;

fifth, to the Liquidity Reserve Account, the positive difference (if any) between (i) the Liquidity Reserve Target
Amount and (ii) the balance of the Liquidity Reserve Account;

sixth, ratably (x) to the Administrative Agent for payment to the Lenders, for the payment of the Required
Principal Payment Amount and any Mandatory Prepayment Amount (in the case of any such Mandatory Prepayment
Amount, to be applied pro rata to the remaining scheduled Required Principal Payment Amounts and the principal
payment due on the Maturity Date), and (y) to the Derivatives Creditors for the payment of Derivatives Termination
Value payable by the Borrower relating to any principal amount paid pursuant to clause (x);

seventh, if a Servicer Replacement Event (unless cured, including by replacing the Servicer), LTV Failure,
DSCR Failure as of the DSCR Test Date immediately preceding such Settlement Date, or Utilization Failure has
occurred and is continuing (or a DSCR Failure as of the DSCR Test Date immediately
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preceding such Settlement Date would have occurred and been continuing if a cash Capital Contribution had not been
made), ratably (x) to the Administrative Agent for payment to the Lenders, for the payment of all outstanding principal
amounts of the Loans (to be applied pro rata to the remaining scheduled Required Principal Payment Amounts and the
principal payment due on the Maturity Date) and (y) to the Derivatives Creditors for the payment of Derivatives
Termination Value then due and payable by the Borrower, including any relating to any principal amount paid pursuant
to clause (x);

eighth, to the Administrative Agent for payment to the Lenders, for the payment of any Prepayment Premium;

ninth, ratably (x) to the Operating Expenses Account an amount determined by the Borrower in its sole
discretion to be prudent to establish a reserve for expected future Operating Expenses and future maintenance,
improvements and modifications of Portfolio Railcars, and (y) to the payment of Optional Modifications; and

tenth, at the direction of the Borrower.

(i1) Application of Proceeds if an Event of Default has Occurred and is Continuing. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, if any Event of Default has occurred and for so long as it is
continuing, all amounts on deposit in the Collection Account (excluding Trinsight/RSI Fees, if any) as of the Calculation Date
immediately preceding such Settlement Date and all other payments or amounts received, held or realized by or for the benefit
of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary (including any amount realized by any such Person after
the exercise of any remedy as set forth herein or in any other Loan Document and all proceeds of the Collateral), and all
payments or amounts thereafter received by or for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the
Depositary hereunder or under the Loan Documents shall be promptly applied by the Depositary in the following order of
priority as directed in writing by the Administrative Agent:

first, ratably to reimburse the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and the Lenders for,
any fees, expense, charge, indemnity or other loss incurred by any such Person (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) in connection with the enforcement by the Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent, the Depositary or any Lender of any of its rights hereunder or under the other Loan Documents;

second, ratably (v) to reimburse the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Servicer, the Depositary and
the Lenders for, any fees, expense, charge, indemnity or other loss incurred by any such Person (including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses and the fees and expenses of any person appointed by the
Administrative Agent to replace the Servicer
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pursuant to the Servicing Agreement) in connection with the performance by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent, the Servicer, the Depositary or any Lender of any of its obligations hereunder or under the other Loan
Documents, (w) to the payment of all indemnities in respect of Indemnified Taxes, Other Taxes, stamp taxes, increased
costs referred to in Section 3.03, losses, costs and expenses referred to in Section 2.03(b), in each case with respect to
the Protected Parties and other amounts, other than principal and interest on the Loans or to the extent otherwise
expressly payable in a subsequent priority below, payable to any Protected Party (other than the Servicer, the TILC
Insurance Manager or the Administrator) in accordance with the Loan Documents, (x) to the reimbursement of the
Lenders for any amounts paid by the Lenders to the Administrative Agent in compensation for fees and expenses
incurred by the Administrative Agent as described in this clause first, (y) an amount equal to the Operating Expenses
(including any Servicer Reimbursable Expenses) actually incurred by the Borrower, the Servicer, the TILC Insurance
Manager and/or the Administrator in the Measuring Period relating to such Settlement Date, to be paid to the Borrower
or to be reimbursed to the Servicer, the TILC Insurance Manager and/or the Administrator, as applicable, and (z) an
amount equal to the Administrative Agent Fee then due and owing (if any), to be paid to the Administrative Agent;

third, to the payment of the Servicer’s Fees payable on such Settlement Date, together with the aggregate
amount of any Servicer’s Fees which were due and payable on any previous Settlement Date and remain unpaid;

fourth, to reimburse the Servicer for outstanding Servicer Advances, together with accrued interest thereon;

fifth, ratably (x) to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest (except for Aggregated Default Interest) on the
Loans and (y) to the payment of Derivatives Obligations (other than for the payment of Derivatives Termination Value
payable by the Borrower) owing to the Derivatives Creditors, if any, then due and payable;

sixth, ratably (x) to the Administrative Agent for payment to the Lenders, for the payment of all the outstanding
principal amounts of the Loans (including, without limitation, any Prepayment Premium), and (y) to the Derivatives
Creditors for the payment of Derivatives Termination Value payable by the Borrower;

seventh, to the Administrative Agent for payment of the unpaid Aggregated Default Interest on the Loans;
eighth, ratably (x) to the Operating Expenses Account an amount determined by the Borrower in its sole

discretion to be prudent to establish a reserve for expected future Operating Expenses and future maintenance,
improvements and modifications of Portfolio Railcars, and (y) to the payment of Optional Modifications; and
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ninth, at the direction of the Borrower.

(iii)) Earnings on Cash Equivalents. Any earnings on Cash Equivalents shall constitute part of the Collateral and shall
be applied in accordance with Section 2.07(c). Any losses resulting from any Cash Equivalents shall be for the Borrower’s
account, and under no circumstances shall the Collateral Agent, the Depositary, the Administrative Agent or any Lender have
any liability or responsibility therefor.

(iv) Trinsight/RSI Fees. To the extent any Trinsight/RSI Fees are deposited into the Collection Account, the
Depositary shall distribute such Trinsight/RSI Fees on each Settlement Date prior to the application of payments pursuant to
Section 2.07(c)(i) and (ii) in accordance with the direction set forth in the relevant Monthly Report related to such

Trinsight/RSI Fees.

SECTION 2.08 Optional Replacement of Lenders (Non-Pro-Rata). If (a) any Lender or other Protected Party has demanded
compensation or indemnification pursuant to Sections 3.01 or 3.03, or (b) the obligation of any Lender to fund its Loans at Daily
Simple SOFR (or any applicable Benchmark Replacement) has been suspended pursuant to Section 3.06(a) or (b), or (c¢) any Lender
has failed to consent to a proposed amendment, waiver, discharge or termination which pursuant to the terms of Section 11.03 or any
other provision of any other Loan Document requires the consent of all of the Lenders, the Borrower shall have the right, with the
prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, to (i) remove such Lender and all related Protected Parties (other than any related
Derivatives Creditor) or (ii) replace such Lender and all related Protected Parties (other than any related Derivatives Creditor) by
causing the related Lender to assign its outstanding Loans and Notes (if any) to one or more existing Lenders or Eligible Assignees
pursuant to Section 11.06. The replacement of a Lender pursuant to this Section 2.08 shall be effective on the tenth Business Day (the
“Replacement Date”) following the date of notice of such replacement to the Lenders through the Administrative Agent, subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions:

(A) each replacement Lender and/or Eligible Assignee, and each Protected Party subject to replacement, shall
have satisfied the conditions to an Assignment and Acceptance set forth in Section 11.06(b) and, in connection
therewith, the replacement Lender(s) and/or Eligible Assignee(s) shall pay to each Protected Party subject to
replacement an amount equal in the aggregate to the sum of (x) the principal of, and all accrued but unpaid interest on,
its outstanding Loans and (y) all accrued but unpaid fees, if any, owing to it pursuant to any Loan Document; and

(B) the Borrower shall have paid to the Administrative Agent for the account of each replaced Protected Party
an amount equal to all obligations owing to such replaced Protected Party by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement
and the other Loan Documents (other than those obligations of the Borrower referred to in clause (A) above).
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In the case of the removal of a Protected Party pursuant to this Section 2.08, upon payment by the replacement Lender, Eligible
Assignee or the Borrower, as applicable, to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Protected Party subject to such removal of
an amount equal to the sum of (i) the aggregate principal amount of all Loans held by such Protected Party and (ii) all accrued interest,
fees and other amounts owing to such Protected Party hereunder, including, without limitation, all amounts payable by the Borrower to
such Protected Party under Article III or Sections 11.05 and 11.06, such Protected Party shall cease to constitute a Protected Party
hereunder; provided that the provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, the provisions of Article III and
Sections 11.05 and 11.06) shall continue to govern the rights and obligations of a removed Protected Party with respect to any Loans
made or any other actions taken by such removed Protected Party while it was a Protected Party.

SECTION 2.09 [Intentionally Omitted].

SECTION 2.10 Pro-rata Treatment. Except to the extent otherwise provided herein, the Borrowing, each payment or
prepayment of principal of or interest on any Loan, each payment of fees and each conversion or continuation of any Loan, shall be
allocated pro-rata among the relevant Lenders in accordance with the respective principal amounts of the outstanding Loans of such
Lenders; provided that, in the event any amount paid to any Lender pursuant to this Section 2.10 is rescinded or must otherwise be
returned by the Administrative Agent, each Lender shall, upon the request of the Administrative Agent, repay to the Administrative
Agent the amount so paid to such Lender, with interest for the period commencing on the date such payment is returned by the
Administrative Agent until the date the Administrative Agent receives such repayment at a rate per annum equal to, during the period
to but excluding the date two Business Days after such request, the Federal Funds Rate, and thereafter, the Corporate Base Rate plus
two percent per annum.

SECTION 2.11  Sharing of Payments. The Lenders agree among themselves that, except to the extent otherwise provided
herein, if any Lender shall obtain payment in respect of any Loans or any other obligation owing to such Lender under this Agreement
through the exercise of a right of setoff, banker’s lien or counterclaim, or pursuant to a secured claim under Section 506 of the
Bankruptcy Code or other security or interest arising from, or in lieu of, such secured claim, received by such Lender under any
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law or otherwise, or by any other means, in excess of its pro-rata share of such
payment as provided for in this Agreement, such Lender shall promptly pay in cash or purchase first, from the other Lenders a
participation in the Loans and other obligations in such amounts received by any such Lender, and make such other adjustments from
time to time, as shall be equitable to the end that all the Lenders share such payment in accordance with their respective ratable shares
as provided for in this Agreement. The Lenders further agree among themselves that if payment to a Lender obtained by such Lender
through the exercise of a right of setoff, banker’s lien, counterclaim or other event as aforesaid shall be rescinded or must otherwise be
restored, each Lender which shall have shared the benefit of such payment shall, by payment in cash or a repurchase of a participation
theretofore sold, return its share of that benefit (together with its share of any accrued interest payable with respect thereto) to each
Lender whose payment shall have been rescinded or otherwise restored. The Borrower agrees that any Lender so purchasing
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such a participation may, to the fullest extent permitted by law, exercise all rights of payment, including setoff, banker’s lien or
counterclaim, with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a holder of such Loans or other obligation in the
amount of such participation. If under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, any Lender receives a secured claim
in lieu of a setoff to which this Section 2.11 applies, such Lender shall, to the extent practicable, exercise its rights in respect of such
secured claim in a manner consistent with the rights of the Lenders under this Section 2.11 to share in the benefits of any recovery on
such secured claim. For the avoidance of doubt, the term “Lender” when used in this Section 2.11 means a Lender acting in its
capacity as “Lender”, and not in its capacity as Derivatives Creditor nor in any other capacity.

SECTION 2.12 Payments, Computations, Proceeds of Collateral, Etc.

(a) Unless otherwise expressly provided in a Loan Document, all payments by the Borrower to the Protected Parties pursuant
to each Loan Document shall be made by the Borrower (or by its designee) to the Depositary for the pro rata account of the Protected
Parties entitled to receive such payment or, at the direction of the Administrative Agent, directly to such Protected Parties. All
payments shall be made without setoff, deduction (except for Taxes which are expressly addressed in Section 3.01) or counterclaim
not later than 11:00 a.m. New York City time on the date due in Dollars in same day or immediately available funds to such account or
accounts (if payment is to be made directly to the Protected Parties) as the Depositary shall specify from time to time by notice to the
Borrower. Funds received after that time shall be deemed to have been received by the Depositary for the pro rata account of the
Protected Parties entitled to such payment on the next succeeding Business Day. In the event that a payment is made to the Depositary
for the pro rata account of the Protected Parties entitled to such payment, the Depositary shall promptly notify the Administrative
Agent of its receipt of the same and remit in same day funds to each Protected Party its share, if any, of such payments received by the
Depositary for the account of such Protected Party as specified in a written direction from the Administrative Agent. Whenever any
payment is to be made hereunder or under any Loan, or whenever the last day of any Interest Period would otherwise occur on a day
other than a Business Day, such payment shall be made, and the last day of such Interest Period shall occur, on the next succeeding
Business Day and interest at the Applicable Rate shall accrue on such amount from the original due date to such next Business Day;
provided, that if such extension would cause the last day of such Interest Period to occur in a new calendar month, the last day of such
Interest Period shall occur on the next preceding Business Day.

(b) Distributions by the Depositary. Each distribution by the Depositary to the Protected Parties shall be made in
accordance with Section 2.07. If and to the extent the Borrower shall not have so made a payment in full to any such Protected
Party pursuant to clause (a) above but, notwithstanding the foregoing, such Protected Party receives full payment with respect to the
amount then due to such Protected Party, such Protected Party shall, on demand by the Administrative Agent, repay such excess
amount to the Depositary forthwith together with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such
Protected Party until the date such Protected Party repays such amount to the Depositary, at the Federal Funds Rate for the first
three Business Days of such period and at
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the Applicable Alternate Rate thereafter until the date such Protected Party repays such amount to the Depositary, for distribution by
the Depositary as directed in writing by the Administrative Agent.

(c) Computations. All computations of interest and fees hereunder shall be made on the basis of the actual number of days
elapsed over a year of 360 days. Interest shall accrue and include the date of borrowing but exclude the date of payment.

SECTION 2.13 Interest Rate Risk Management.

(a) From the date that is 30 days following the Restatement Closing Date, the Borrower will enter into, and maintain in
effect at all times until the earlier of (i) the Maturity Date or (ii) the Termination Date, one or more Derivatives Agreements, which
shall be interest rate “caps” or at-the-market interest rate “swaps” (including forward-starting swaps) subject to a 2002 ISDA Master
Agreement between the Borrower and a Derivatives Creditor and either (x) in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent or (y) containing provisions of general application which are substantially the same as and not inconsistent
with those contained in the Derivatives Agreement with Wells Fargo or one of its Affiliates, in its capacity as a Derivatives Creditor,
with an effective aggregate notional balance equal to or exceeding 70% (but not more than 110%) of the then outstanding principal
amount of the Loans, such requirement to be confirmed in writing in the Compliance Certificate. With respect to any Derivatives
Agreement constituting an interest rate cap, the strike rate with respect to such interest rate cap shall not exceed 3.50%. Such
Derivatives Agreements shall provide that notional balances may be adjusted downward from time to time to reflect any
prepayments of the Loans.

(b) All payments received from all such Derivatives Agreements shall be deposited directly into the Collection Account.

SECTION 2.14 Incremental Facilities.

(a) The Borrower may, by written notice to, and subject to the consent of, the Administrative Agent, elect to request at any
time after the Restatement Closing Date, the establishment of a new term loan commitment (the “New Term Loan Commitment”), up
to an amount not in excess of the Maximum New Term Loan Commitment Amount. Any such notice shall specify (i) the date (the
“Increased Amount Date”) on which the Borrower proposes that the New Term Loan Commitment shall be effective, which shall be a
date not less than ten (10) Business Days after the date on which such notice is delivered to the Administrative Agent or such shorter
period of time as consented to by the Administrative Agent and (ii) the identity of each Lender or other Person that is an Eligible
Assignee (each, a “New Term Loan Lender”, as applicable) to whom the Borrower proposes any portion of such New Term Loan
Commitment be allocated and the amounts of such allocations (or requests that the Administrative Agent identify and propose New
Term Loan Lenders); provided that any Lender approached to provide all or a portion of the New Term Loan Commitment may elect
or decline, in its sole discretion, to provide a New Term Loan Commitment; provided, further, that each Lender and other Person
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that the Borrower proposes to become a New Term Loan Lender must be reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent.

(b)  Such New Term Loan Commitments shall become effective as of such Increased Amount Date; provided that: (i) the
Administrative Agent has consented thereto; (ii) no Trigger Event, DSCR Failure, violation of any Concentration Limit, Default, Event
of Default or Servicer Replacement Event shall exist on such Increased Amount Date before or after giving effect to such New Term
Loan Commitment or the making of any New Term Loans; (iii) the Borrower shall be required to use the proceeds of such New Term
Loans to acquire additional Eligible Railcars (such additional Railcars, collectively, the “New Term Loan Railcars”) together with
related Leases, each of which must be an Eligible Lease and in the aggregate have a weighted average monthly lease rate of equal to or
greater than the aggregate weighted average monthly lease rate of the existing Portfolio Leases that are Eligible Leases. Each such
Railcar and each such Lease, as a condition to the making of any New Term Loan, shall be added to the Portfolio and become subject
to the Lien of the Collateral Documents; (iv) the Borrower shall provide to the Lenders and the New Term Loan Lenders, prior to the
Increased Amount Date, a complete Funding Package and Railcar Portfolio Data Set for each New Term Loan Railcar, and the
Independent Appraisal included within such Funding Package shall be issued and dated within 90 days prior to the Increased Amount
Date; (v) the amount borrowed pursuant to the New Term Loans shall not, on the Increased Amount Date, exceed the New Term Loan
Advance Rate; (vi) both before and after giving effect to the making of any New Term Loans, each of the conditions set forth in
Section 4.02 shall be satisfied, mutatis mutandis, with respect to the New Term Loans and the New Term Loan Railcars; (vii) the New
Term Loan Commitments, as applicable, shall be effected pursuant to one or more Joinder Agreements executed and delivered by the
Borrower, the New Term Loan Lenders, as applicable, and the Administrative Agent, and each of which shall be recorded in the
Register and each New Term Loan Lender shall be subject to the requirements set forth in Section 3.01(d); and (viii) the Borrower
shall deliver or cause to be paid any fees in favor of the Administrative Agent, any Lender, any New Term Loan Lender or any other
Creditor in connection with the New Term Loan Commitment.

(c) On any Increased Amount Date on which any New Term Loan Commitments are effective, subject to the satisfaction
of the foregoing terms and conditions, (i) each New Term Loan Lender shall make a Loan to the Borrower (the “New Term Loans”) in
an amount equal to its New Term Loan Commitment and (ii) each New Term Loan Lender shall become a Lender hereunder with
respect to the New Term Loan Commitment and the New Term Loans made pursuant thereto.

(d) The Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders promptly upon receipt of the Borrower’s notice of each Increased
Amount Date and in respect thereof the New Term Loan Commitments and the New Term Loan Lenders, subject to the terms and
conditions contemplated by this Section 2.14.

(e)  The terms and provisions of the New Term Loan and New Term Loan Commitments shall be as set forth herein

including, without limitation, that (i) the maturity date of the New Term Loans shall be the Maturity Date and (ii) the amortization of
the New Term

58



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

Loans shall be calculated on the same basis as the other Loans; provided that the New Term Loans may bear interest on the
outstanding principal amount thereof at a rate per annum equal to or less than the Applicable Rate and may have upfront fees differing
from the upfront fees payable to the Lenders initially party hereto (which such upfront fees shall be paid or netted from the proceeds of
such New Term Loans). The terms of the New Term Loan and New Term Loan Commitments, including any amendments to the Loan
Documents required to implement such terms, shall be set forth in the Joinder Agreement relating to such New Term Loan.

ARTICLE III

TAXES, YIELD PROTECTION AND ILLEGALITY

SECTION 3.01 Taxes. (a) Payments Net of Certain Taxes. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of the
Borrower under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, except as required by Applicable
Law. If any Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable withholding agent) requires the deduction or
withholding of any Tax from any such payment by a withholding agent, then the applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make
such deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in
accordance with Applicable Law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by the Borrower shall be increased as
necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to
additional sums payable under this Section) the applicable Protected Party receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received
had no such deduction or withholding been made.

(b)  Other Taxes. In addition, the Borrower agrees to pay any and all present or future stamp, court or documentary,
intangible, recording or filing Taxes or similar levies which arise from any payment made under this Agreement or any other Loan
Document or from the execution, performance, enforcement, registration or delivery of, from the receipt or perfection of a security
interest under, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document (hereinafter referred to as “Other Taxes”)
except any Other Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment (other than Other Taxes imposed (i) with respect to an assignment
made pursuant to Section 2.08 or Section 3.01(h) or (ii) solely by reason of a Protected Party having executed, delivered, become a
party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any
other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Loan Document).

(¢) Additional Taxes. The Borrower agrees to indemnify each Protected Party for the full amount of Indemnified Taxes
imposed on any payment hereunder or under any other Loan Document and for Other Taxes (including any Indemnified Taxes or
Other Taxes imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 3.01), in each case payable or paid by
such Protected Party or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Protected Party and any reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally
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imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority, within 10 days after receipt of documentation reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent evidencing the amount and nature of such payment, which documentation shall be conclusive absent manifest
error.

(d) Tax Forms and Certificates.

(1) Each Lender that is a “United States person” as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code (each, a “U.S. Lender”)
shall, on or prior to the date of its execution and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each Lender listed on the signature
pages thereof and on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Lender in the case of each other Lender, and from time to time
thereafter as reasonably requested by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or the Depositary, or as required by law on or
prior to the expiration of the form or certificate most recently provided, provide the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and
the Depositary with true, complete and correct and executed copies of Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 certifying that such
Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax.

(i) Each Lender that is not a U.S. Lender (each, a “Non-U.S. Lender”) shall, on or prior to the date of its execution
and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each Lender listed on the signature pages thereof and, to the extent it is legally
entitled to do so, on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Lender in the case of each other Lender, and from time to time
thereafter as requested by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or the Depositary, or as required by law on or prior to the
expiration of the form or certificate most recently provided, provide the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Depositary
with true, complete and correct and executed copies of (a) Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN-E or W-8BEN, as
appropriate, or any successor form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, certifying that such Lender is entitled to
benefits under an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party which provides an exemption from or reduction in the
rate of withholding tax on payments of interest, (b) Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI certifying that the income
receivable pursuant to this Agreement is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States,
(c) the form referenced in clause (a) (but not claiming treaty benefits with respect to payments of interest), accompanied by a
certificate to claim the portfolio interest exemption under Section 881(c) of the Code to the effect that such Non-U.S. Lender is
not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a “10 percent shareholder” of the Borrower within the
meaning of Section 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code or a “controlled foreign corporation” related to the Borrower as described in
Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code, (d) to the extent such Non-U.S. Lender is not the beneficial owner, duly completed copies of
Internal Revenue Service Form W-8IMY accompanied by applicable documents from each beneficial owner certifying that
such Non-U.S. Lender and each beneficial owner is entitled to a complete exemption from tax on payments pursuant to this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or (e) to the extent in the Lender’s reasonable judgment the completion,
execution or submission would neither subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense nor materially
prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender, any other form
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prescribed by Applicable Law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. federal withholding Tax, duly
completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may be prescribed by Applicable Law to permit the Borrower
or, as applicable, the Administrative Agent or the Depositary, to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made.
Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any
respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Depositary
in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(iii)) The Administrative Agent, on its own behalf, shall, on or prior to the date of its execution and delivery of this
Agreement in the case of the initial Administrative Agent, and, unless legally unentitled to do so by reason of a change in
treaty, law or regulation occurring prior to replacement, on or prior to the date on which a replacement Administrative Agent
may become Administrative Agent hereunder, and from time to time thereafter as requested by the Borrower or the Depositary,
or as required by law on or prior to the expiration of the form or certificate most recently provided, provide the Borrower and
the Depositary the applicable forms described in clause (i) or (ii) above certifying that such Administrative Agent is entitled to
a complete exemption from tax on payments pursuant to this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents as to which it is
the beneficial owner.

(iv)  Additionally, if a Lender or Protected Party sells, assigns or transfers any participation in a Loan to another
Person, such Lender or Protected Party (including any transferee or successor Lender or Protected Party) shall provide any new
forms required above as a result of such sale or transfer.

(e) [Intentionally Omitted].
(f) [Intentionally Omitted].

(g) FATCA.

(i)  Each Lender shall deliver to the Borrower, the Depositary and the Administrative Agent at the time or times
prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower, the Depositary or the Administrative Agent
such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such
additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower, the Depositary or the Administrative Agent as may be
necessary for the Borrower, the Depositary and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to
determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct
and withhold from such payment.

(i1)) The Administrative Agent shall deliver to the Borrower and the Depositary at the time or times prescribed by law
and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including
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as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the
Borrower or the Depositary as may be necessary for it to comply with its obligations under FATCA and to determine that such
Administrative Agent has complied with its obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from
such payment.

(h) Mitigation. If the Borrower is required to pay additional amounts to or for the account of any Protected Party pursuant
to this Section 3.01, then such Protected Party will agree to use reasonable efforts, at the expense of the Borrower, to eliminate or
reduce any such additional payment which may thereafter accrue if such change, in the judgment of such Protected Party, is not
otherwise disadvantageous to such Lender.

(i) Tax Receipts. As soon as reasonably practicable after any payment of Taxes by the Borrower to a Governmental
Authority pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall furnish to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a
receipt evidencing such payment (to the extent one is so provided or can readily be obtained from the relevant Governmental
Authority), a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent.

(j) Refunds. If a Protected Party determines that it has received a refund of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes which in
the Protected Party’s sole discretion exercised in good faith is allocable to amounts with respect to which it has been indemnified by
the Borrower hereunder or with respect to which the Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 3.01, it shall
pay over the amount of such refund, net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes), to the Borrower (but only to the extent of
indemnity payments made, or additional payments paid, by the Borrower with respect to the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes
giving rise to such refund) without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to
such refund). The Borrower, upon the request of such Protected Party, shall repay such Protected Party the amount paid over
pursuant to this paragraph (j) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the
event that such Protected Party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this paragraph (j), in no event will the Protected Party be required to pay any amount to a Borrower pursuant to this
paragraph (j) the payment of which would place a Protected Party in a less favorable after-tax position than the Protected Party
would have been in if the Tax subject to the indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or
otherwise imposed and the indemnification payment or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid. This
paragraph shall not be construed to require any Protected Party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating
to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other person.

(k)  Survival. Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and
obligations of the parties contained in subsections (a) through (j) above shall survive the repayment, satisfaction or discharge in full
of principal and interest hereunder, the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent or any
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assignment of rights by, or replacement of, a Lender and under any instrument delivered hereunder.

SECTION 3.02 [Intentionally Omitted].

SECTION 3.03 Increased Costs and Reduced Return. (a) If, on or after the Restatement Closing Date, a Change in Law:

(i)  shall impose, modify or hold applicable any reserve, special deposit, compulsory loan or similar requirement
against assets held by, deposits or other liabilities in or for the account of, advances, loans or other extensions of credit by, or
any other acquisition of funds by, any office of such Protected Party which is not otherwise included in the determination of
Daily Simple SOFR hereunder;

(i) shall subject any Protected Party to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described in clauses
(b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes, and (C) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however
denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes, in each case as a result of a present or former connection
between such Protected Party and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Protected Party
having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected
a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an
interest in any Loan or Loan Document)) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its
deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto; or

(iii))  shall impose on such Protected Party any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this
Agreement or Loans made by such Lender or any participation in any such Loan;

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Protected Party of making, converting into, continuing or
maintaining any Loans or to reduce any amount receivable hereunder in respect thereof (any such increased cost or reduction
hereinafter referred to as an “Increased Cost”), then, in any such case, upon notice to the Borrower from such Protected Party, through
the Administrative Agent, in accordance herewith, the Borrower shall be obligated to pay such Protected Party, in accordance with
Section 2.07(c), any additional amounts necessary to compensate such Protected Party for such increased cost or reduced amount
receivable.

(b)  If any Protected Party shall have determined that a Change in Law regarding capital adequacy or liquidity, or
compliance by such Protected Party, or its parent corporation, with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity
(whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the
effect of reducing the rate of return on such Protected Party’s (or parent corporation’s) capital or assets as a consequence of its
commitments or obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Protected Party, or its parent corporation, could have
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achieved but for such adoption, effectiveness, change or compliance (taking into consideration such Protected Party’s (or parent
corporation’s) policies with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity), then, upon notice from such Protected Party to the Borrower,
the Borrower shall be obligated to pay to such Protected Party in accordance with Section 2.07(c), such additional amount or
amounts as will compensate such Protected Party for such reduction. Each determination by any such Protected Party of amounts
owing under this Section shall, absent manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the parties hereto.

(c) A certificate of each Protected Party setting forth such amount or amounts as shall be necessary to compensate such
Protected Party or its holding company as specified in subsection (a) or (b) above, as the case may be, shall be delivered to the
Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay each Protected Party the amount shown as due on
any such certificate delivered by it on the next succeeding Settlement Date in accordance with Section 2.07(c).

(d)  Promptly after any Protected Party becomes aware of any circumstance that will, in its sole judgment, result in a
request for increased compensation pursuant to this Section, such Protected Party shall notify the Borrower thereof. Failure on the
part of any Protected Party so to notify the Borrower or to demand compensation for any increased costs or reduction in amounts
received or receivable or reduction in return on capital with respect to any period shall not constitute a waiver of such Protected
Party’s right to demand compensation with respect to such period or any other period. The protection of this Section shall be
available to each Protected Party regardless of any possible contention of the invalidity or inapplicability of the law, rule,
regulation, guideline or other change or condition which shall have occurred or been imposed.

SECTION 3.04 [Intentionally Omitted].

SECTION 3.05 Depositary Rate Protections. The Depositary shall have no obligation (i) to monitor, determine or verify the

unavailability or cessation of any Benchmark, or whether or when there has occurred, or to give notice to any other transaction party
of the occurrence of, any Benchmark Transition Event, or other Benchmark Replacement Date, (ii) to select, determine or designate
any alternative reference rate or Benchmark Replacement, or other successor or replacement benchmark index, or whether any
conditions to the designation of such a rate have been satisfied, or (iii) to select, determine or designate any Benchmark Replacement
Adjustment, or whether or what Conforming Changes are necessary or advisable, if any, in connection with the foregoing. The
Depositary shall not be liable for any inability, failure or delay on its part to perform any of its duties set forth in this Agreement as a
result of the unavailability of any Benchmark or the absence of a designated replacement Benchmark, including as a result of any
inability, delay, error or inaccuracy on the part of any other transaction party, including without limitation, the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders, in providing any direction, instruction, notice or information required or contemplated by the terms of any Loan
Document and reasonably required for the performance of its duties.

SECTION 3.06 Changed Circumstances.
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(a) Circumstances Affecting Benchmark Availability. Subject to clause (c) below, in connection with any request for a
SOFR Loan, the continuance or maintenance of outstanding SOFR Loans or otherwise, if for any reason (i) the Administrative
Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that reasonable and adequate
means do not exist for ascertaining Daily Simple SOFR pursuant to the definition thereof or (ii) one or more Lenders whose Credit
Exposure constitutes more than sixty-six and two thirds percent (66 %:%) of the Credit Exposure of all Lenders shall determine
(which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that Daily Simple SOFR does not adequately and fairly
reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining such Loans and, in the case of clause (ii), such Lenders have provided
notice of such determination to the Administrative Agent, then, in each case, the Administrative Agent shall promptly give notice
thereof to the Borrower and the Derivatives Creditors. Upon notice thereof by the Administrative Agent to the Borrower, any
obligation of the Lenders to make, continue or maintain SOFR Loans, and any right of the Borrower to convert any Loan to or
continue any Loan as a SOFR Loan, shall be suspended (to the extent of the affected SOFR Loans) until the Administrative Agent
(with respect to clause (ii), at the instruction of the Required Lenders) revokes such notice. Upon receipt of such notice, (A) the
Borrower may revoke any pending request for a borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of SOFR Loans (to the extent of the
affected SOFR Loans) or, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for a
borrowing of or conversion to Loans bearing interest at the Applicable Alternate Rate in the amount specified therein and (B) any
outstanding affected SOFR Loans will be deemed to have immediately been converted into Loans bearing interest at the Applicable
Alternate Rate. Upon any such conversion, the Borrower shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so converted.

(b) Laws Affecting SOFR Availability. If, after the date hereof, the introduction of, or any change in, any Applicable Law
or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency
charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any of the Lenders (or any of their respective lending
offices) with any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank or
comparable agency, shall make it unlawful or impossible for any of the Lenders (or any of their respective lending offices) to honor
its obligations hereunder to make or maintain any SOFR Loan, or to determine or charge interest based upon SOFR or Daily Simple
SOFR, such Lender shall promptly give notice thereof to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall promptly
give notice to the Borrower, the other Lenders and the Derivatives Creditors (an “Illegality Notice”). Thereafter, until each affected
Lender notifies the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to
such determination no longer exist, any obligation of the Lenders to make, continue or maintain SOFR Loans, and any right of the
Borrower to borrow a SOFR Loan, convert any Loan to a SOFR Loan or continue any Loan as a SOFR Loan, shall be suspended.
Upon receipt of an Illegality Notice, the Borrower shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, upon demand from any Lender (with a
copy to the Administrative Agent) convert all SOFR Loans to Loans bearing interest at the Applicable Alternate Rate, on the last
day of the Interest Period therefor, if all affected Lenders may lawfully continue to maintain such SOFR Loans to such
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day, or immediately, if any Lender may not lawfully continue to maintain such SOFR Loans to such day. Upon any such
conversion, the Borrower shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so converted.

(c) Benchmark Replacement Setting.

(i) Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, upon
the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower may amend this Agreement to
replace the then-current Benchmark with a Benchmark Replacement. Any such amendment with respect to a Benchmark
Transition Event will become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth (5") Business Day after the Administrative Agent has posted
such proposed amendment to all affected Lenders, the Borrower and the Derivatives Creditors so long as the Administrative
Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such amendment from Lenders comprising the Required
Lenders. No replacement of a Benchmark with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to this Section 3.06(c)(1) will occur prior to
the applicable Benchmark Transition Start Date.

(i1) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the use, administration, adoption or
implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Conforming Changes from
time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments
implementing such Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this
Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(ii1) Notices;_Standards for Decisions and Determinations. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the
Borrower, the Depositary, the Lenders and the Derivatives Creditors of (A) the implementation of any Benchmark
Replacement and (B) the effectiveness of any Conforming Changes in connection with the use, administration, adoption or
implementation of a Benchmark Replacement. The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower of the removal or
Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable,
any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 3.06(¢c), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or
adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from
taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole
discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as
expressly required pursuant to this Section 3.06(c).

(iv)  Unavailability of Tenor of Benchmark. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan
Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (A) if the then-current
Benchmark is a term rate and either (1) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or
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other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable
discretion or (2) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or
publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is not or will not be representative, then the
Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for any
Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (B) if a tenor that was
removed pursuant to clause (A) above either (1) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark
(including a Benchmark Replacement) or (2) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is not or will not be
representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the
definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous definition) for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to
reinstate such previously removed tenor.

(v) Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark
Unavailability Period, (A) the Borrower may revoke any pending request for a borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of
SOFR Loans to be made, converted or continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrower
will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for a borrowing of or conversion to Loans bearing interest at
the Applicable Alternate Rate and (B) any outstanding affected SOFR Loans will be deemed to have immediately been
converted to Loans bearing interest at the Applicable Alternate Rate.

ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONS

SECTION 4.01  Conditions to Effectiveness of this Agreement. The obligations of each Lender to make a Loan on the
Restatement Closing Date is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a) Executed Loan Documents. Receipt by the Administrative Agent (to the extent not previously received by the
Administrative Agent pursuant to the Existing Loan Agreement) of duly executed copies of: (i) this Agreement; (ii) the Notes (if
requested under Section 2.04); (iii) the Collateral Documents; and (iv) all other Loan Documents, including, without limitation, (w)
an amendment to, or an amendment and restatement of, the Supplemental Agreement (CCAAA), dated as of the Closing Date,
among the Borrower, the Collateral Agent, TILC and the TILC Account Collateral Agent, (X) an amendment to, or an amendment
and restatement of, the Repetitive Wire Instructions, dated as of the Closing Date, from the Collateral Agent to the TILC Account
Collateral Agent, (y) an Amendment No. 1 to TILC Servicing Agreement and (z) an Amendment No. 1 to Purchase and
Contribution Agreement, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent or its counsel in their sole discretion.

67



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

(b) Due Diligence. Each Lender shall have completed, and be satisfied with the results of (in compliance with all
Applicable Laws where relevant), its “know your client”, business and legal due diligence review with respect to the Servicer and
the Borrower and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, a due diligence review of the financial
statements, if any, of the Servicer and the Borrower, the tax status of the Servicer and the Borrower and an environmental,
employee benefits and insurance due diligence review.

SECTION 4.02 Conditions to the Restatement Closing Date. The obligation of any Lender to make a Loan on the occasion of
the Borrowing on the Restatement Closing Date is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a) Notice. The Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent an appropriate Notice of Borrowing, duly
executed and completed, by the time specified in Section 2.02.

(b) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties made by the Borrower, the Servicer, TILC and
each Seller in any Loan Document to which it is a party are true and correct in all material respects (without duplication of any
materiality qualifiers already contained therein) at and as if made as of such date except to the extent they expressly relate to an
earlier date.

(©) No Default. No Trigger Event, violation of any Concentration Limit, Default, Event of Default or Servicer
Replacement Event shall exist or be continuing either prior to or immediately after giving effect to the making of a Loan (and the
application of the proceeds thereof).

(d) Leases. Receipt by the Administrative Agent of any Lease Documents to which the Borrower is a party.

(e) Recordations and Filings. The Administrative Agent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it in its reasonable
discretion from the official records of the STB and the Registrar General of Canada (and a legal opinion in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent or its counsel) that the Security Agreement (or a memorandum thereof or a
supplement thereto with respect to the Additional Portfolio) has been registered, recorded or filed for recordation in accordance
with Applicable Law or will be registered, recorded or filed as soon as practicable following closing. No filings will be made in
Mexico.

(f)  Title to the Collateral. Contemporaneously with closing, the Borrower shall have good and marketable legal and
beneficial title to each Initial Portfolio Railcar and good title to all other items of applicable Collateral, free and clear of all Liens
other than Permitted Liens.
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(g)  Permits. The Administrative Agent shall have received satisfactory evidence that any Permits needed to make all
required payments under each such Lease to the Borrower in Dollars have been obtained and are in full force and effect.

(h) Funding Package. Receipt of the complete Funding Package for each such Initial Portfolio Railcar. The Independent
Appraisal included within each such Funding Package shall be issued and dated within 90 days prior to the Restatement Closing
Date.

(1) Fees. The Borrower shall have paid, or shall concurrently pay with such funding, (i) the fees, costs and expenses then
payable by the Borrower under Section 11.04 of this Agreement to the extent invoiced reasonably in advance of the Restatement
Closing Date and (ii) any fees owing to the Lenders, the Administrative Agent or any other Person on the Restatement Closing Date
pursuant to the terms of the Fee Letters.

(j) Payoff Letter. A payoff letter or release from all Persons (if any) holding Liens of record (other than Permitted Liens)
on or prior to the Restatement Closing Date with respect to any Railcar in the Additional Portfolio shall have been delivered to the
Administrative Agent and all filings and recordings of or with respect to such Lien releases shall be made as soon as practicable
following closing.

(k) Servicing Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it that documentation and
other actions relating to the Initial Portfolio Railcars (and the Leases relating thereto, and payments in respect of the foregoing)
have been entered into or taken, as applicable, as contemplated under the Servicing Documents as necessary, advisable or
customary to establish and protect the Borrower’s and the Collateral Agent’s interests in such Railcars, Leases and payments.

(I) Liquidity Reserve Account. The Borrower shall have caused to be deposited (or directed the Administrative Agent to
deposit from the proceeds of the Loans) into the Liquidity Reserve Account an amount equal to the Liquidity Reserve Target
Amount.

(m) Purchase and Contribution Agreement. Receipt by the Administrative Agent of a duly executed copy of each
applicable: (i) Purchase and Contribution Agreement, (ii) Bill of Sale, (iii) Assignment and Assumption (as defined in the Purchase
and Contribution Agreement) and (iv) Delivery Schedule (as defined in the Purchase and Contribution Agreement), in each case
with respect to the Additional Portfolio and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent or its
counsel, and the conditions set forth in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 of the Purchase and Contribution Agreement shall have been satisfied.

(n) Organization Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received: (i) a copy of the Organization Documents of
the Borrower, TILC and each Seller with respect to the Additional Portfolio, certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of State of
its respective state of organization, and a certificate as to the good standing of the Borrower, TILC and each such Seller, from such
Secretary of State, as of a recent date; (ii) a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, TILC and each Seller with respect
to the Additional Portfolio, dated the Restatement Closing Date and certifying (A) that the certificate of formation or articles of
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incorporation or other Organization Documents, as applicable, of the Borrower, TILC and each such Seller have not been amended
since the date of the last amendment thereto shown on the related certificate furnished pursuant to clause (i) above; (B) that attached
thereto is a true and complete copy of the operating agreement or by-laws (or their equivalent) of the Borrower, TILC and each such
Seller, as applicable, as in effect on the Restatement Closing Date and at all times since a date prior to the date of the resolutions
described in clause (C) below; (C) that attached thereto is a true and complete copy of resolutions duly adopted by the board of
directors or other governing body of the Borrower, TILC and each such Seller, as applicable, authorizing the execution, delivery
and performance of the Loan Documents to which it is to be a party and, in the case of the Borrower, the borrowings hereunder, and
that such resolutions have not been modified, rescinded or amended and are in full force and effect; (D) as to the incumbency and
specimen signature of each officer executing any Loan Document or any other document delivered in connection herewith or
therewith on behalf of the Borrower, TILC and each such Seller; and (E) solely with respect to the Borrower, the representations
and warranties made by the Borrower in any Loan Document to which it is a party are true and correct in all material respects
(without duplication of any materiality qualifiers already contained therein) at and as if made as of such date except to the extent
they expressly relate to an earlier date, and that no Trigger Event, violation of any Concentration Limit, Default, Event of Default or
Servicer Replacement Event exists or is continuing either prior to or immediately after giving effect to the making of the Loans (and
the application of the proceeds thereof); and (iii) a certificate of another officer as to the incumbency and specimen signature of the
Responsible Officer executing the certificate pursuant to clause (ii) above.

(0) Opinions of Counsel. On the Restatement Closing Date, the Administrative Agent shall have received:

(i) favorable written opinions (including, without limitation, as to true sale and non-consolidation matters) of Vedder
Price, P.C. counsel to the Borrower, TILC and each Seller with respect to the Additional Portfolio, addressed to the
Administrative Agent and each Lender, dated the Restatement Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent, and covering such additional customary closing matters incident to the transactions contemplated
hereby as the Administrative Agent or its counsel may reasonably request;

(i) from special STB counsel to the Borrower, email confirmation that no liens exist on the Railcars in the Additional
Portfolio and related Leases which would have a priority over the liens granted to the Collateral Agent on the Restatement
Closing Date other than liens being released contemporaneously with closing (and the Borrower shall procure an opinion from
special STB counsel to the Borrower addressed to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, dated the Restatement Closing
Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and covering such additional customary
closing matters incident to the transactions contemplated hereby as the Administrative Agent or its counsel may reasonably
request; provided that the
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executed version of such opinion may be delivered within three Business Days of the Restatement Closing Date); and

(iii))  from special Canadian counsel to the Borrower, email confirmation that no liens exist on the Railcars in the
Additional Portfolio and related Leases which would have a priority over the liens granted to the Collateral Agent on the
Restatement Closing Date other than liens being released contemporaneously with closing (and the Borrower shall procure an
opinion from special Canadian counsel to the Borrower addressed to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, dated the
Restatement Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and covering such
additional customary closing matters incident to the transactions contemplated hereby as the Administrative Agent or its
counsel may reasonably request; provided that the executed version of such opinion may be delivered within three Business
Days of the Restatement Closing Date).

(p) Perfection of Security Interests; Search Reports. On or prior to the Restatement Closing Date, the Administrative Agent
shall have received:

(1)  to the extent not previously received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to the Existing Loan Agreement,
appropriate financing statements (Form UCC-1 or such other financing statements or similar notices as shall be required by
local law) in form (or fully executed, as applicable) for filing under the Uniform Commercial Code or other applicable local
law of each jurisdiction in which the filing of a financing statement or giving of notice may be required, or reasonably
requested by the Administrative Agent or its counsel, to perfect the security interests intended to be created by the Collateral
Documents; and

(i) copies of reports from CT Corporation Service System or other independent search service reasonably satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent or its counsel listing all effective financing statements that name the Borrower or any Seller with
respect to the Additional Portfolio, as such, as debtor or seller that are filed in the jurisdictions wherein such filing would be
effective to perfect a Lien in the Collateral or any portion thereof, together with copies of such financing statements (none of
which shall cover the Collateral except to the extent evidencing Permitted Liens or for which the Administrative Agent shall
have received termination statements (Form UCC-3 or such other termination statements as shall be required by local law) in
form (or fully executed, as applicable) for filing).

(q) Evidence of Insurance. Receipt by the Administrative Agent of copies of insurance policies or certificates of insurance
of the Borrower or the Servicer on its behalf evidencing liability and casualty insurance meeting the requirements set forth in the
Loan Documents, including, but not limited to, naming the Collateral Agent as additional insured and sole loss payee on behalf of
the Lenders.

(r) Consents and Approvals. On the Restatement Closing Date, all necessary governmental (domestic or foreign),
regulatory and third party approvals in connection with
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the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents and otherwise referred to herein or therein shall have been obtained and
remain in full force and effect.

(s)  Material Adverse Effect. There shall not have occurred since the date of its formation any development or event
relating to or affecting the Borrower which has had or could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(t) Litigation; Judgments. On the Restatement Closing Date, there shall be no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations
pending or threatened (i) with respect to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby, (ii) against the Borrower or (iii) against a Seller or the Servicer and which the Administrative Agent shall determine could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Additionally, there shall not exist any judgment, order, injunction or
other restraint issued or filed or a hearing seeking injunctive relief or other restraint pending or notified prohibiting or imposing
materially adverse conditions upon the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents and otherwise
referred to herein or therein.

(u) Railcar Portfolio Data Set. On or prior to the Restatement Closing Date, the Borrower shall have delivered or caused to
be delivered to the Administrative Agent the Railcar Portfolio Data Set.

(v)  Beneficial Ownership Certification. To the extent the Borrower qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the
Beneficial Ownership Regulation, the Administrative Agent shall have received a Beneficial Ownership Certification in respect of
the beneficial owner(s) of the Borrower, dated the Restatement Closing Date and duly executed by a Responsible Officer of the
Borrower.

All corporate and legal proceedings and instruments and agreements relating to the transactions contemplated by this

Agreement and the other Loan Documents or in any other document delivered in connection herewith or therewith shall be reasonably
satisfactory in form and substance to the Administrative Agent or its counsel.

Promptly after the Restatement Closing Date occurs, the Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of

the Restatement Closing Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding on all parties hereto.

The delivery of the Notice of Borrowing shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower of the correctness of

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower represents and warrants that:
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SECTION 5.01 Organization and Good Standing. The Borrower is a limited liability company duly formed, validly existing
and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, has all limited liability company powers and all material
governmental business authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted and is duly qualified
as a foreign limited liability company, licensed and in good standing in each jurisdiction where qualification or licensing is required by
the nature of its business or the character and location of its property, business or customers and in which the failure to so qualify or be
licensed or in good standing, as the case may be, in the aggregate, could have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.02  Power; Authorization; Enforceable Obligations. The Borrower has the corporate or other necessary power
and authority, and the legal right to execute, deliver and perform the Loan Documents to which it is a party and to obtain extensions of
credit hereunder, and has taken all necessary corporate or other action to authorize the borrowings and other actions on the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by it of the Loan Documents to which it is a
party. No consent, approval, licenses, validation or authorization of, filing, recording or registration with, notice to, exemption by or
other similar act by or in respect of, any Governmental Authority or any other Person (including, without limitation, any stockholder,
certificate holder or creditor of the Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates) is required to be obtained or made by or on behalf of
the Borrower in connection with the Borrowing or other extensions of credit hereunder, the execution, delivery, performance, validity
or enforceability by or against it of the Loan Documents or the exercise of the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent or any other Protected Party pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except for (i) consents,
authorizations, notices and filings disclosed in Schedule 5.02, all of which have been obtained or made, (ii) filings to perfect and
maintain the perfection of the Liens created by the Collateral Documents and (iii) consents, authorizations, notices and filings in
connection with the disposal of Collateral required by laws affecting the offering and sale of securities. This Agreement has been, and
each other Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party will be, duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Borrower. This
Agreement constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which the Borrower is a party when executed and delivered will constitute, a
legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by equitable principles of general applicability (regardless of whether enforcement is
sought by proceedings in equity or at law).

SECTION 5.03 No Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Loan Documents to which it is a
party, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated therein, nor performance of and compliance with the terms and
provisions thereof by the Borrower, will (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the Borrower’s Organization Documents,
(i1) violate, contravene or conflict with any Applicable Law (including Regulation U or Regulation X), (iii) violate, contravene or
conflict with any Contractual Obligation to which the Borrower is a party or by which the Borrower may be bound, or (iv) result in or
require the

73



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

creation of any Lien (other than the Lien of the Collateral Documents) upon or with respect to the properties of the Borrower.

SECTION 5.04 No Default. The Borrower is not in default in any respect under any Contractual Obligation to which it is a
party or by which any of its properties is bound, in each case which default has had or could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. No Default, Event of Default or, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, Servicer Replacement Event has occurred and is
continuing.

SECTION 5.05 Financial Condition. Except for the Debt incurred under this Agreement, (i) there were as of the Restatement
Closing Date (and after giving effect to any Loans made on such date) no material liabilities or obligations (excluding current
obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business) with respect to the Borrower of any nature whatsoever (whether absolute,
accrued, contingent or otherwise and whether or not due and including obligations or liabilities for taxes, long-term leases and unusual
forward or other long-term commitments), and (ii) there is no basis for the assertion against the Borrower of any such liability or
obligation which, either individually or in the aggregate, are or could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.06 No Material Change. Since the formation of the Borrower there has been no Material Adverse Effect, and no
event or development has occurred which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.07 Title to Properties. On the Restatement Closing Date and during the term of this Agreement, the Borrower
shall be the sole legal and beneficial owner of and shall have good and marketable title to each Portfolio Railcar and Portfolio Lease
and all of its other material properties and assets, except, in the case of assets other than Portfolio Railcars and Portfolio Leases, for
minor defects in title that do not interfere with its ability to conduct its business as currently conducted. All such Portfolio Railcars and
Portfolio Leases and other material properties and assets are and will be free and clear of Liens other than Permitted Liens.

SECTION 5.08 Litigation. There are no actions, suits, investigations or legal, equitable, arbitration or administrative
proceedings pending or overtly threatened (or any basis therefor of which the Borrower has Knowledge) against or affecting the
Borrower that (i) involve any Loan Document or (ii) could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a
Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.09 Taxes; Tax Status. (i) The Borrower has filed, or caused to be filed, all Tax returns (including federal, state,
local and foreign Tax returns) the failure of which to be filed could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect and
paid (i) all amounts of Taxes shown thereon to be due (including interest and penalties) and (ii) all other material Taxes, fees,
assessments and other governmental charges (including mortgage recording Taxes, documentary stamp Taxes and intangible Taxes)
owing by it, except for such Taxes (A) which are not yet delinquent or (B) that are being contested in good faith and by proper
proceedings diligently pursued, and against which adequate reserves are being maintained in
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accordance with GAAP. To the Knowledge of the Borrower, there is no pending investigation of the Borrower by any taxing authority
or proposed Tax assessments against the Borrower.

(ii)) The Borrower is, for United States federal income tax purposes, either (i) a “disregarded entity” owned by a “United
States person” or (ii) a “domestic partnership” (other than a “publicly traded partnership” treated as a corporation).

SECTION 5.10 Compliance with Law. The Borrower is in compliance with all requirements of Applicable Law (including
Environmental Laws) applicable to it or to its properties, except where such failures to comply could not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Borrower, nor any of its properties or assets is or are
subject to or in default with respect to any judgment, writ, injunction, decree or order of any court or other Governmental Authority,
except where such defaults could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
The Borrower has not received any written communication from any Governmental Authority that alleges that it is not in compliance
in any respect with any Applicable Law, except for allegations that have been satisfactorily resolved and are no longer outstanding or
which could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.11 Subsidiaries. The Borrower has no Subsidiaries.

SECTION 5.12  Governmental Regulations, Etc. (a) The Borrower is not engaged principally, or as one of its important
activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying “margin stock” within the meaning of
Regulation U. No proceeds of the Loans will be used, directly, or indirectly, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any “margin
stock” within the meaning of Regulation U. If requested by any Lender or the Administrative Agent, the Borrower will furnish to the
Administrative Agent and each Lender a statement to the foregoing effect in conformity with the requirements of FR Form U-1
referred to in Regulation U. “Margin stock” within the meaning of Regulation U does not constitute more than 25% of the value of the
assets of the Borrower. None of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the direct or indirect use of the proceeds
of the Loans) will violate or result in a violation of the Securities Act, as amended, the Exchange Act or regulations issued pursuant
thereto, or Regulation T, U or X.

(b) The Borrower is not required to be registered as an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act of 1940,
as amended, and the Borrower is not a “covered fund” under the Volcker Rule (17 C.F.R. 75.10(b)).

SECTION 5.13  Purpose of Loans. The proceeds of the Loans made on the Restatement Closing Date will be used solely to
refinance the Existing Portfolio, to fund the acquisition of the Additional Portfolio and to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection
therewith.

SECTION 5.14 Environmental Matters. The Borrower has complied with all applicable Environmental Laws, except where
the failure to comply could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The
Borrower
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has not incurred any liability under any Environmental Laws, received written notice of any actual or claimed or asserted failure to
comply with Environmental Laws which alone, or together with any other such liability or notices which have been previously or
concurrently received, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, other than in connection with failures
which have been corrected. No hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, hazardous materials, toxic substances or toxic pollutants, as
those terms are used in any Environmental Laws, are managed on any property of the Borrower in violation of any regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto or any other Applicable Law, except as could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect.

SECTION 5.15 Intellectual Property. The Borrower owns, or possesses the right to use, all of the Marks, trademarks, service
marks, trade names, copyrights, patents, patent rights, franchises, licenses and other rights that are reasonably necessary for the
operation of its business, without conflict with the rights of any other Person. To the Knowledge of the Borrower, no slogan or other
advertising devise, product, process, method, substance, part or other material now employed, or now contemplated to be employed,
by the Borrower infringes upon any rights held by any other Person. No claim or litigation regarding any of the foregoing is pending
or overtly threatened, and no patent, invention, device, application, principle or any statute, law, rule, regulation, standard or code is
pending or, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, proposed, which, in either case, could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.16 Solvency. The Borrower is and, after consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other
Loan Documents and Lease Documents, will be Solvent.

SECTION 5.17 Disclosure. No statement, information, report, representation, or warranty made by the Borrower in any Loan
Document or furnished to the Administrative Agent or any Lender by or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with any Loan
Document (considered together with all other such information so furnished) contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits
any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading.

SECTION 5.18 Collateral Documents. (a) The Security Agreement is effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for
the ratable benefit of the Protected Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable “first” priority security interest in the Collateral and, when
the filings, recordations or other actions described in Section 3.02 of the Security Agreement shall have been completed, the Security
Agreement shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Borrower in the
Collateral, in each case to the extent provided in Section 3.02 of the Security Agreement. The exact limited liability company name of
the Borrower as it appears in its certificate of formation is Trinity Rail Leasing 2023 LLC, the Borrower’s jurisdiction of organization
is Delaware, and the Borrower’s chief executive office is located at 14221 N. Dallas Parkway, Suite 1100, Dallas, TX 75254.

(b) The Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Protected Parties, will at all times have the Liens provided for in the
Collateral Documents and, subject to the filing by the Administrative Agent of continuation statements to the extent required by the
Uniform
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Commercial Code, the Collateral Documents will at all times constitute valid and continuing liens of record and a “first” priority
perfected security interest in all the Collateral referred to therein, except as priority may be affected by Permitted Liens.

SECTION 5.19 Ownership. TILC owns good, valid and marketable title to all outstanding Equity Interests of the Borrower,
free and clear of all Liens of every kind, whether absolute, matured, contingent or otherwise.

SECTION 5.20 Lease Documents. The Borrower has delivered or caused to be delivered to the Lenders true and complete
copies of the Leases and any amendments or supplements thereto to which the Borrower is a party, and, except for amendments so
disclosed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, such documents have not been amended or modified.

SECTION 5.21  Sole Business of the Borrower. The sole business of the Borrower is the ownership, leasing and financing of
Railcars and matters incidental thereto. The Borrower has not engaged in any activities since its organization (other than those
incidental to its organization and other appropriate steps and arrangement for the payment of fees to, and director’s and officer’s
insurance for, the officers and directors of the Borrower, the acquisition and leasing of the Portfolio Railcars and the funding thereof,
the authorization and issuance of the Notes, the execution of this Agreement, and the other Loan Documents and the Lease Documents
to which it is a party and the activities referred to in or contemplated by such agreements), and the Borrower has not paid any
dividends or other distributions since its organization, except as permitted pursuant to Section 7.07 hereof.

(i) The Borrower is operated as a separate legal entity from TILC and its Affiliates (other than the Borrower) and will
observe all corporate formalities necessary to remain a legal entity separate and distinct from, and independent of, TILC and its
Affiliates (other than the Borrower).

(i)  The Borrower has satisfied the minimum capitalization requirements, if any, under the laws of the State of
Delaware for purposes of conducting its business.

(iii)) The Borrower has complied in all respects with the requirements set forth in its Organization Documents.

(iv) When the Borrower corresponds with third parties with regard to its business on stationery, such stationery has
letterhead identifying it.

(v)  The Borrower keeps complete and accurate entity records, books, accounts and minutes separate from those of
TILC and any of its Affiliates (other than the Borrower) or any other Person.
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(vi) The Borrower has held itself out to the public (including to creditors of the Borrower, TILC and their Affiliates)
under its own name as a separate and distinct entity.

(vii) The Borrower has not directly or indirectly entered into any transaction with TILC or any of its Affiliates except
pursuant to or as expressly permitted by the Loan Documents and then in an arm’s-length bargain.

(viii)) The Borrower has not loaned funds to, guaranteed or become obligated with respect to claims against, TILC or
any of its Affiliates (other than the Borrower) or any other Person or entity except as expressly permitted by the Loan
Documents or as provided by operation of consolidated group principles of U.S. federal income tax and ERISA laws.

(ix) The Borrower has kept its assets and liabilities as reflected in its books and records separate from those of TILC
and its Affiliates (other than the Borrower) and has not and at all times will not commingle such assets and liabilities (except as
expressly permitted pursuant to this Agreement).

(x) The Borrower has kept adequate records to permit the segregation of its assets and liabilities from those of TILC
and its Affiliates (other than the Borrower).

(xi) The Borrower has not held itself out to the public as a division of TILC or its Affiliates, or TILC or its Affiliates
as a division of the Borrower.

(xii) The Borrower has not induced third parties to rely on the creditworthiness of TILC or its Affiliates (other than
the Borrower) in order to have third parties enter into contracts with the Borrower.

(xiii)  The Borrower has and will pay its obligations in the ordinary course of business as a legal entity separate and
distinct from TILC and its Affiliates (other than the Borrower).

(xiv)  Other than with respect to funds on deposit in the TILC Customer Payments Account subject at all times to the
TILC Account Administration Agreement, the Borrower has and will keep its funds separate and distinct from any funds of
TILC and its Affiliates (other than the Borrower) (except for misdirected Lease payments), and will receive, deposit, withdraw
and disburse such funds separate from any funds of TILC and its Affiliates (other than the Borrower).

(xv) The Borrower does not have any employees.

(xvi) The Borrower will maintain separate financial statements from any other Person; provided, however, that if the
Borrower’s financial statements are included in a consolidated statement of TILC or any Affiliates, such consolidated financial
statement discloses the nature of the Borrower’s sole purpose, that it is a separate legal entity and
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that the assets of the Borrower are not available to pay the creditors of TILC or any Affiliates.

SECTION 5.23  Leases. (a) Each Portfolio Lease with respect to an Initial Portfolio Railcar on the Restatement Closing Date
was an Eligible Lease as of the Restatement Closing Date and (b) each other Portfolio Lease was an Eligible Lease as of the applicable
date on which it became a Portfolio Lease.

SECTION 5.24 Railcars. (a) Each Initial Portfolio Railcar was an Eligible Railcar as of the Restatement Closing Date and (b)
each other Portfolio Railcar was an Eligible Railcar as of the applicable date on which it became a Portfolio Railcar.

SECTION 5.25 PATRIOT Act; OFAC.

(a) None of the Borrower or any of its directors or officers or, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, employees, agents or
Affiliates is subject to any sanctions or economic embargoes administered or enforced by the U.S. Department of State or the U.S.
Department of Treasury (including the Office of Foreign Assets Control), the United Nations Security Council, the European Union
Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade, or any other applicable sanctions authority (collectively, “Sanctions”, and the associated
laws, rules, regulations and orders, collectively, “Sanctions Laws”).

(b)  Each of the Borrower and its directors and officers and, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, employees, agents and
Affiliates is in compliance with: (i) all Sanctions Laws, (ii) the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended,
and any other applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws, rules, regulations and orders (collectively, “Anti-Corruption Laws”),
in each case, in all material respects, and (iii) the PATRIOT Act and any other applicable terrorism and money laundering laws,
rules, regulations and orders (collectively, “Anti-Terrorism Laws™), in each case, in all material respects.

(¢) No part of the proceeds of the Loans (including, for the avoidance of doubt, New Term Loans) will be used, directly or
indirectly, (A) for the purpose of financing any activities or business of or with any Person or in any country or territory that at such
time is the subject of any Sanctions or (B) for any payments to any governmental official or employee, political party, official of a
political party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business
or obtain any improper advantage, in violation of any Anti-Corruption Law.

SECTION 5.26  Beneficial Ownership Certification. As of the date thereof, the information included in each Beneficial
Ownership Certification, if any, is true and correct in all respects.

SECTION 5.27 ECP Representation. In respect of its Derivatives Obligations, the Borrower is an “eligible contract
participant” as such term is defined in Section 1a(18) of the U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.
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ARTICLE VI

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower agrees that so long as any Lender has any Commitment hereunder, or any Loan, any Obligation or other amount
payable hereunder or under any Note or other Loan Document remains unpaid:

SECTION 6.01 Information. The Borrower will furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the Administrative Agent (which the
Administrative Agent shall distribute to each Lender and each Derivatives Creditor):

(a) Annual Financial Statements.

(i)  As soon as available, and in any event within 150 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a
consolidated balance sheet and income statement of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, as of the end of such fiscal
year, and the related consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flow for such fiscal year, setting
forth in comparative form figures for the preceding fiscal year, all such financial statements to be in reasonable form and detail
and audited by the Borrower’s independent public accountants and accompanied by an opinion of such accountants (which
shall not contain any “going concern” qualification or otherwise be qualified or limited in any material respect) to the effect
that such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly the consolidated financial
position and results of operations and cash flow of each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries in accordance with
GAAP consistently applied (except for changes with which such accountants concur).

(il))  As soon as available, and in any event within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a
consolidated balance sheet and income statement of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, as of the end of such fiscal
year, and the related consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flow for such fiscal year, setting
forth in comparative form figures for the preceding fiscal year, all such financial statements to be in form and detail reasonably
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly in all material respects the
consolidated financial position and results of operations and cash flow of each of the Borrower and its consolidated
Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to changes resulting from normal year-end audit
adjustments and the absence of footnotes required by GAAP.

(b) Quarterly Financial Statements. As soon as available, and in any event within 90 days after the end of each of the first
three fiscal quarters in each fiscal year of the Borrower, a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its consolidated
Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal quarter, together with related consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings
and cash flow for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of such fiscal year, setting forth in comparative form figures for
the corresponding periods of the
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preceding fiscal year, all such financial statements to be in form and detail reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent,
prepared in accordance with GAAP and presenting fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position and results of
operations and cash flow of the Borrower in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subject to changes resulting from normal
year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes required by GAAP.

(c)  Officer’s Certificate. At the time of each delivery of the financial statements provided for in Sections 6.01(a) and
6.01(b), a certificate duly executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower in substantially the form of Exhibit A-5 (a “Financial
Statement Certificate): (i) attaching and certifying that such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP,
and (ii) stating that, to the Knowledge of the Borrower, no Trigger Event, Default, Servicer Replacement Event or Event of Default
exists, or if any Trigger Event, Default, Servicer Replacement Event or Event of Default does exist, specifying the nature and extent
thereof and what action the Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto.

(d) Servicer Information. Without limiting any other provision hereof, upon receipt from the Servicer, the TILC Insurance
Manager or the Administrator, as applicable, (i) the financial statements of the Servicer, together with any applicable officer’s or
compliance certificates, as and when due pursuant to the Servicing Agreement, and copies of all other material notices, certificates,
reports, filings and other documents and all material information which the Servicer, the TILC Insurance Manager or the
Administrator, as applicable, is permitted or required to give or furnish to the Borrower pursuant to the TILC Servicing Agreement,
the TILC Account Administration Agreement, the Marks Company Servicing Agreement, the TILC Insurance Agreement or the
Administrative Services Agreement, as applicable, and (i1) any notice regarding Liens in respect of any Collateral (other than
Permitted Liens) or a Servicer Replacement Event.

(e) Notices Regarding Collateral. Promptly upon a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtaining Knowledge thereof,
notice of Liens with respect to any Portfolio Railcar other than Permitted Liens.

(f) Monthly Report. Not later than the second Business Day prior to each Settlement Date (each such date, a “Reporting
Date”) a Monthly Report, duly executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, or the Servicer on its behalf, setting forth the
information contained in such Monthly Report for the Measuring Period ending most recently prior to such date (provided that if
and to the extent such information is available only from a Lessee or the Administrative Agent, the Borrower’s obligation to provide
such information shall be limited to providing such information as the Borrower or the Servicer is able to obtain from the
Administrative Agent and such Lessee through commercially reasonable efforts to enforce applicable provisions of the applicable
Lease), including calculations (in reasonable detail) with respect to the Utilization Ratio and the Concentration Limits, a complete
list showing the make, manufacturer, model, car number and Mark of each Portfolio Railcar and each Lease with respect thereto,
any Lease Event of Default that has occurred and is continuing on such date, and a cash collection summary for the Measuring
Period (which shall
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include, if any Trinsight/RSI Fees were deposited into the Collection Account during the relevant Measuring Period, a confirmation
of the amount of such Trinsight/RSI Fees, and, if the Servicer so desires, a direction as to where the Depositary should remit such
Trinsight/RSI Fees on the immediately succeeding Settlement Date), together with an executed and fully completed officer’s
certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit D hereto (if expenses are to be reimbursed to the Servicer as described in such
certificate). The Administrative Agent shall review the Monthly Report and, in its sole discretion, provide the Borrower with any
corrections or supplemental information regarding the Loans or amounts paid into or held in the Collection Account, which
corrections and/or information the Borrower, or the Servicer on its behalf, shall include in a revised Monthly Report. The
Administrative Agent shall promptly thereafter provide the Lenders and the Derivatives Creditors with a copy of the Monthly
Report, as revised pursuant to the preceding sentence.

(g) Notices. Prompt notice upon a Responsible Officer of the Borrower obtaining Knowledge thereof of: (i) the occurrence
of any Trigger Event, DSCR Failure, Servicer Replacement Event, Default or Event of Default; and (ii) (A) breach or non-
performance of, or any default under, a Contractual Obligation of the Borrower which could be reasonably expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect; (B) any dispute, litigation, investigation or proceeding between the Borrower and any Governmental
Authority which could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; (C) any litigation, investigation or proceeding
affecting the Borrower in which the amount involved exceeds $1,000,000 or in which injunctive relief or similar relief is sought,
which relief, if granted, could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (D) any material change in accounting
policies or financial reporting practice by the Borrower. Each notice pursuant to this Section 6.01(g) shall (x) be accompanied by a
statement of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower setting forth details of the occurrence referred to therein and stating what action
the Borrower has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto and (y) if applicable, describe with particularity any and all
provisions of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents that have been breached.

(h) Domestication in Other Jurisdiction. Without prejudice to the Borrower’s covenants set forth in Article VII and any
rights or remedies exercisable in relation to any non-compliance thereof, not less than 30 days prior to any change in (i) the form or
jurisdiction of organization of the Borrower, (ii) the “location” (as such term is used in Section 9-307 of the Uniform Commercial
Code) of the Borrower or (iii) the name of the Borrower, a copy of all documents and certificates intended to be filed or otherwise
executed to effect any such changes.

(i)  Test Date Reporting. On or prior to the first Reporting Date following each Test Date, together with the Monthly
Report, a certificate duly executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, or the Servicer on its behalf, in substantially the form
of Exhibit A-6 (a “Compliance Certificate) setting forth in detail reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent:
(1) (A) computations of the Debt Service Coverage Ratio as of such Test Date, (B) if applicable, the DSCR Cure that was or will be,
as applicable, undertaken by the Borrower pursuant to Section 7.12(b) (including, if applicable, the Eligible Railcars that
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the Borrower has added or will add to the Portfolio to effectuate such DSCR Cure), (C) whether a Utilization Failure has occurred
and is continuing, and the date on which it first occurred, pursuant to Section 7.12(c), (D) a complete list of all Railcars comprising
the Portfolio as of such DSCR Test Date, (E) that any Derivatives Agreement is in compliance with the requirements set forth in
Section 2.13(a), and (F) calculation of the Concentration Limits, and (ii) if such Test Date is also an LTV Test Date (which, for the
avoidance of doubt, occurs annually) (A) computations of the Loan-to-Value Ratio as of such Test Date, (B) if applicable, the LTV
Cure that was or will be, as applicable, undertaken by the Borrower pursuant to Section 7.12(a) (including, if applicable, the
Eligible Railcars that the Borrower has added or will add to the Portfolio to effectuate such LTV Cure) and (C) a complete list of all
Railcars comprising the Portfolio as of such LTV Test Date, together with the Independent Appraisal for each such Railcar as
required pursuant to Section 6.01(j).

()  Independent Appraisals. With respect to each LTV Test Date, the Borrower shall at its own expense provide an
Independent Appraisal with respect to all of the Portfolio Railcars. Each such Independent Appraisal shall have an effective date no
earlier than, and be provided to the Administrative Agent no earlier than, 90 days prior to such LTV Test Date. Each Independent
Appraisal delivered pursuant to this Section 6.01(j) shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent.

(k) Beneficial Ownership Certification. The Borrower shall provide the Administrative Agent with prompt notification of
any change in the information provided in the latest Beneficial Ownership Certification, if any, that would result in a change to the
list of beneficial owners identified in such certification.

do all things necessary to preserve the legality, validity, binding effect or enforceability of this Agreement, the Notes or any other
Lease Document or Loan Document, and to permit the making of any payment or the transfer or remittance of any funds by the
Borrower under this Agreement, the Notes or any other Lease Document or Loan Document. The Borrower will be qualified to do
business in every jurisdiction wherever necessary to carry out its business and operations, except in jurisdictions where the failure to
be so qualified or in good standing has not had, and could not be reasonably expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 6.02  Preservation of Existence and Franchises; Authorizations, Approvals and Recordations. The Borrower will

SECTION 6.03 Books and Records. The Borrower will keep complete and accurate books and records of its transactions in
accordance with good accounting practices on the basis of GAAP (including the establishment and maintenance of appropriate
reserves) and shall keep full and accurate books relating to the Collateral, including, but not limited to, the originals of all
documentation with respect thereto, all credits granted thereon, all merchandise returned and all other dealings therewith, and the
Borrower will make the same available to the Administrative Agent for inspection, at the Borrower’s own cost and expense, as
provided in Section 6.11. The Borrower will keep, or, with respect to the Portfolio Railcars and the Portfolio Leases, cause the Servicer
to keep, at all times books of record and account adequate to identify the Portfolio Railcars and Portfolio Leases and to locate the
Portfolio Railcars and Portfolio
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Leases and, to the extent that the Lessee is required to provide such information pursuant to the applicable Portfolio Lease, to disclose
its use, maintenance, condition and the income generated to the Borrower through the use thereof, in which full, true and correct
entries will be made.

SECTION 6.04 ERISA. Except as could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, the Borrower will not
maintain or otherwise be or become liable or contingently liable in respect of any Pension Plan or “multiemployer plan” (as defined
under Section 3(37)(A) of ERISA).

SECTION 6.05 Payment of Taxes and Other Debt; Tax Status. (a) The Borrower will pay and discharge (i) all material Taxes,
assessments and other governmental charges or levies imposed upon it, or upon its income or profits, or upon any of its properties,
before they shall become delinquent, (ii) all lawful claims (including claims for labor, materials and supplies) which, if unpaid, might
give rise to a Lien upon any of the Collateral and (iii) all of its other Debt as it shall become due; provided, however, that the Borrower
shall not be required to pay any such Tax, assessment, charge, levy, claim or Debt which is being contested or negotiated in good faith
and by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued and as to which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP,
unless the failure to make any such payment could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) The Borrower shall at all times maintain status for United States federal income tax purposes as either (i) a “disregarded
entity” owned by a “United States person” or (ii) a “domestic partnership” (other than a “publicly traded partnership” treated as a
corporation), and shall not take (or permit any other Person to take) any action that could (or could reasonably be expected to) cause
the Borrower to be classified as a corporation or publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation. If the Borrower is classified as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then the Borrower will make (or cause to be made) the election under Section
6221(b) of the Code for determinations of adjustments at the partnership level and take any other action necessary or appropriate for
the election. If that election is not available, the Borrower will make (or cause to be made) the election under Section 6226(a) of the
Code for the alternative to payment of imputed underpayment by a partnership and take any other action necessary or appropriate for
the election.

SECTION 6.06 Insurance; Certain Proceeds; Casualty Proceeds. (a) The Borrower will at all times maintain in full force and
effect insurance in such amounts, covering such risk and liabilities and with such deductibles or self-insurance retentions as are in
accordance with normal industry practice (or as are otherwise required by the Collateral Documents), and in any event in compliance
with the requirements of Schedule 6.06 hereof. The Collateral Agent shall be named as loss payee with respect to all such property
policies described in this clause (a) and additional insured with respect to all such other policies (other than workers’ compensation
and employee health policies, if any) described in this clause (a), and each provider of property damage insurance described in this
clause (a), by endorsement upon the policy or policies issued by it or by independent instruments furnished to the Collateral Agent,
(A) that the insurance carrier shall pay all proceeds otherwise payable to the Borrower under such policies to the Collateral Agent
(which agreement shall be evidenced by a “standard”
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or “New York” lender’s loss payable endorsement in the name of the Collateral Agent), (B) to waive all claims for insurance premiums
against the Collateral Agent and the other Protected Parties, (C) to provide coverage to the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the
Protected Parties regardless of the breach by the Borrower of any warranty or representation made therein, (D) that no such policy is
subject to co-insurance and (E) that it will give the Collateral Agent 30 days’ prior written notice before any such policy or policies
shall be materially altered, terminated or canceled, and that no act or default of the Borrower, the Servicer or any other Person (other
than nonpayment of premiums) shall affect the rights of the Collateral Agent or the other Protected Parties under such policy or
policies.

(b) Any cash receipts from a Casualty (whether by way of Casualty Proceeds or Lessee indemnity payments or otherwise)
received by either the Borrower or the Collateral Agent shall be deposited (in the Borrower’s sole discretion) into either (i) the
Modifications and Improvements Account to fund all or a portion of the cost of one or more Required Modifications or Optional
Modifications in respect of existing Railcars of the Borrower, (ii) the Optional Reinvestment Account to fund the acquisition of
Qualifying Replacement Railcars or (iii) the Collection Account for application pursuant to Section 2.07(c) (except for Excepted
Payments, which shall be payable to the Persons for whose benefit any such payment is made). At any time in its discretion within
180 days of deposit into the Modifications and Improvements Account or Optional Reinvestment Account, as the case may be, the
Borrower may also elect to transfer amounts so deposited in the Modifications and Improvements Account (and not otherwise applied)
or Optional Reinvestment Account (and not otherwise applied) into the Collection Account for application pursuant to Section 2.07(c)
for the Measuring Period in which such transfer is made. In any other case, any such amounts in the Modifications and Improvements
Account (and not otherwise applied) or Optional Reinvestment Account (and not otherwise applied) shall be transferred to the
Collection Account for application pursuant to Section 2.07(c) on the next Settlement Date following the 180th day following their
deposit. Any insurance proceeds of a Casualty with respect to a Portfolio Railcar or Lessee indemnity payments in connection with a
Casualty with respect to a Portfolio Railcar received by TILC or an Affiliate of TILC shall be promptly paid by TILC or such Affiliate

(c) The Borrower shall not operate any Portfolio Railcar and will prohibit each Lessee of any Portfolio Railcar to operate
such Portfolio Railcar in violation of any provision of any insurance policy in effect with respect to such Railcar or in any jurisdiction
where all of the insurance required hereunder shall not remain in full force and effect or in violation of any law, treaty, statute, rule,
directive, regulation or order of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over such Portfolio Railcar or in violation of any
applicable certificate, license or registration relating to such Portfolio Railcar issued by any such Governmental Authority.

(d) In connection with the covenants set forth in this Section 6.06, it is understood and agreed that:

(i) none of the Collateral Agent, the Depositary, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the Derivatives Creditors or
their respective agents or employees shall be
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liable for any loss or damage insured by the insurance policies required to be maintained under this Section 6.06, it being
understood that (A) the Borrower shall look solely to its insurance companies or any other parties other than the aforesaid
parties for the recovery of such loss or damage and (B) such insurance companies shall have no rights of subrogation against
the Collateral Agent, the Depositary, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the Derivatives Creditors or their agents or
employees; provided, however, that if the insurance policies do not provide waiver of subrogation rights against such parties,
as required above, then the Borrower hereby agrees to waive its right of recovery, if any, against the Collateral Agent, the
Depositary, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the Derivatives Creditors and their agents and employees, to the extent
permitted by law; and

(i) in the event that the Borrower shall fail to maintain insurance as herein provided, the Administrative Agent may at
its option, upon prior written notice to the Borrower (provided that the Borrower has not procured the necessary insurance in
the interim and notified the Administrative Agent in reasonable detail of the procurement, coverage and term thereof), provide
such insurance and, in such event, the Borrower shall, upon demand from time to time, reimburse the Administrative Agent for
the cost thereof together with interest from the date of payment thereof, on the amount of the cost to the Administrative Agent
of such insurance which the Borrower shall have failed to maintain. If after the Administrative Agent has provided such
insurance, the Borrower then obtains such coverage which was replaced by the insurance provided by the Administrative
Agent, and the Borrower provides the Administrative Agent with evidence of such coverage reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent shall cancel the insurance it has provided pursuant to the first sentence of this
paragraph. In such event, the Borrower shall reimburse the Administrative Agent for all costs to the Administrative Agent of
cancellation, including without limitation any short rate penalty, together with interest from the date of the Administrative
Agent’s payment thereof. In addition, at any time the Administrative Agent (either directly or in the name of any Lenders) or
any Lenders may at its own expense carry insurance with respect to its interest in the Portfolio Railcars, provided that such
insurance does not interfere with the Borrower’s ability to insure the Portfolio Railcars as required under the Loan Documents
or adversely affect the Borrower’s insurance or the cost thereof. Any insurance payments received from policies maintained by
the Administrative Agent or any Lender pursuant to the previous sentence shall be retained by the Administrative Agent or such
Lender, as the case may be, without reducing or otherwise affecting the Borrower’s obligations hereunder.

SECTION 6.07 Operation, Use and Maintenance. (a) Operation and Use. The Borrower will and will require each Lessee to
use the Portfolio Railcars only for lawful purposes and shall use and operate and require each Lessee to use and operate the Portfolio
Railcars in compliance in all material respects with Applicable Law, except for so long as the Borrower or a Lessee is contesting in
good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted the validity or application of such Applicable Law in any reasonable
manner. The Portfolio Railcars may not be located or used in any country other than the United States, Canada or Mexico.
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(b) Maintenance. The Borrower will or will require each Lessee to keep, repair and maintain the Portfolio Railcars (i) in good
order and operating condition according to industry practice for Railcars of similar age and vintage, ordinary wear and tear excepted,
(i1) in compliance in all material respects with Applicable Law, except for so long as the Borrower or a Lessee is contesting in good
faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted the validity or application of such Applicable Law in any reasonable manner,
(iii) suitable for use in interchange in accordance with the Interchange Rules and (iv) with respect to Portfolio Railcars not subject to a
Lease, at least as well in all material respects as it would for other similar equipment owned, operated or serviced by the Servicer. In
addition to (but without limitation of) the foregoing obligation of the Borrower, with respect to any Portfolio Railcar subject to a
Lease, the Borrower will, or will cause the Servicer to, use reasonable commercial efforts to cause the Lessee of such Railcar to
comply with the maintenance requirements set forth in such Leases consistent with the Standard of Care.

(¢) Identification Numbers. (i) The Borrower shall cause each Portfolio Railcar to be numbered with its reporting mark as
shown on the Bill of Sale under which such Portfolio Railcar was delivered to the Borrower.

(i) The Borrower may change or permit to be changed the identifying number of any Portfolio Railcar in accordance with its
or the Servicer’s normal business practices at the time applied in a nondiscriminatory manner. Concurrently with the delivery of the
Monthly Report in June and December of each calendar year or promptly upon request of the Collateral Agent or the Administrative
Agent if there exists an Event of Default, the Borrower, or the Servicer on its behalf, shall deliver to the Collateral Agent and the
Administrative Agent (A) a list of the identifying numbers of all Portfolio Railcars that have been changed within the prior 6 months
and (B) within ten (10) Business Days of the delivery of the applicable Monthly Report, evidence of the filing, recording or deposit in
such public offices where the Security Agreement (or memoranda or notices thereof) have been filed, recorded or deposited reflecting
such changes in identifying numbers as may be necessary to preserve and perfect the interest of the Collateral Agent and the Lenders
in the Portfolio Railcars whose identifying numbers have changed. If Borrower fails to make the applicable filing, recording or deposit

deposit shall be excluded from the calculation of the Loan-to-Value Ratio.

(d) Insignia. Except as provided in Section 6.07(c), the Borrower will not allow the name of any Person to be placed on any
Railcar as a designation that might be interpreted as a claim of ownership; provided, however, that the Borrower may permit any of the
Portfolio Railcars to be lettered with the names, trademarks, initials or other insignia customarily used by the Borrower or its
Affiliates, the Servicer and its Affiliates, or any Lessee or its Affiliates, on railroad equipment used or leased by such Person of the
same or a similar type for convenience of identification of its right to use such Portfolio Railcar under any applicable Lease, and any
of the Portfolio Railcars may be lettered in an appropriate manner for convenience of identification of the interest of the Borrower or
any Lessee therein.
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SECTION 6.08 Replacement of Parts; Modifications and Improvements. (a) Replacement of Parts. The Borrower, at its sole
cost and expense (whether from the Operating Expenses Account or otherwise), will as promptly as practicable replace all Parts with
respect to Portfolio Railcars that are not then subject to a Lease or are required to be maintained by the Borrower pursuant to a Lease
that may from time to time become worn out, obsolete, lost, stolen, destroyed, seized, confiscated, damaged beyond repair or
permanently rendered unfit for use for any reason whatsoever. In addition, in the course of maintenance, service, repair, overhaul or
testing, the Borrower, at its sole cost and expense, may remove any Part, whether or not worn out, obsolete, lost, stolen, destroyed,
seized, confiscated, damaged beyond repair or permanently rendered unfit for use. All replacement Parts shall be selected and installed
in accordance with the Borrower’s or the Servicer’s normal business practices at that time applied in a nondiscriminatory manner and
shall be free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens and shall be in good operating condition.

(b) [Intentionally Omitted].

(¢) Required Modifications and Improvements. Subject to clause (e) of this Section 6.08, in the event (i) any Governmental
Authority or any Applicable Law requires as a condition of continued use or operation of any Portfolio Railcar in any commodity
service as reasonably determined by the Servicer that such Portfolio Railcar be altered or modified or (ii) any Governmental Authority
determines that any Portfolio Railcar may be in an unsafe operating condition and as a result the Borrower determines that such
Portfolio Railcar must be altered or modified (each occurrence under the foregoing clauses (i) or (ii), a “Required Modification”), the
Borrower shall make or have made such Required Modification in a timely manner; provided that, the Borrower may, in good faith
and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, contest the validity or application of any such law, regulation, requirement or
rule in any reasonable manner which does not materially interfere with the use, possession, operation or return of any Portfolio Railcar
or materially adversely affect the rights or interests of the Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent or the other Protected Parties in the
Portfolio Railcars or under any Loan Document or otherwise expose the Borrower to criminal or material financial sanctions. If the
Borrower (after consultation with the Servicer) believes that any Required Modification to either an individual Portfolio Railcar or an
aggregate of Portfolio Railcars would be economically impractical, the Borrower shall provide written notice to the Administrative
Agent that such Required Modification is economically impractical and shall treat such Portfolio Railcar as if an Event of Loss had
occurred as of the date of such written notice with respect to such Portfolio Railcar. In such event the provisions of the Loan
Documents with respect to Events of Loss shall apply with respect to such Portfolio Railcar. In reaching any decision as to whether a
Required Modification is economically impractical, the Borrower shall assess the cost and timing of the Required Modification, the
anticipated revenues and other sources of funds which would be available to the Borrower to fund such costs, the requirements of the
Loan Documents and such other factors as the Borrower considers necessary or appropriate and shall provide a report to the
Administrative Agent, regarding such assessment.

(d) Optional Modifications and Improvements. The Borrower may modify, alter or improve any Portfolio Railcar in a manner
which is not a Required Modification, including any
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Portfolio Railcar not then under a Lease (an “Optional Modification”), if the Borrower concludes in good faith that the proposed
Optional Modification is likely to enhance the marketability of the Portfolio Railcar (or such Optional Modification is requested by a
Lessee); provided that Optional Modifications may be funded only from (i) Capital Contributions to the Borrower (for the avoidance
of doubt, such Capital Contributions are permitted but not required under this Agreement), (ii) distributions which would otherwise be

Discretionary Sale, Event of Loss or Casualty to the extent owing to the Borrower in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
provided that no Optional Modification shall diminish the fair market value, utility, residual value or remaining economic useful life of
such Portfolio Railcar below the fair market value, utility, residual value or remaining economic useful life thereof immediately prior
to such Optional Modification, in more than a de minimis respect.

(e) Modification Costs. The cost of any Required Modification to a Railcar, to the extent not borne by the applicable Lessee,
shall be borne by the Borrower.

SECTION 6.09 Replacement of Railcars; Optional Reinvestment Account.

(a) Disposition Proceeds. All Net Cash Proceeds from an Asset Disposition on deposit in the Collection Account shall be

case of an Asset Disposition constituting an Event of Loss or Condemnation, unless the Borrower intends to use the proceeds of such
Asset Disposition to acquire Qualifying Replacement Railcars, any excess Net Cash Proceeds after the mandatory prepayment
pursuant to Section 2.07(b) is made may be deposited into the Modifications and Improvements Account to fund Optional
Modifications in accordance with Section 6.09(b) or (ii) such Net Cash Proceeds may be deposited into the Optional Reinvestment
Account to fund the acquisition cost of the Qualifying Replacement Railcars in accordance with Section 6.09(c).

(b) Reinvestment of Proceeds from an Event of Loss or Condemnation. The Borrower may reinvest proceeds from an Event
of Loss or Condemnation that have been deposited into the Modifications and Improvements Account as described above to fund all or
a portion of the cost of one or more Required Modifications or Optional Modifications in respect of existing Railcars of the Borrower.
At any time in its discretion within 180 days of deposit into the Modifications and Improvements Account, the Borrower may also
elect to transfer amounts so deposited in the Modifications and Improvements Account (and not otherwise applied) into the Collection
Account for application as Net Cash Proceeds for the Measuring Period in which such transfer is made. In any other case, any such
amounts in the Modifications and Improvements Account (and not otherwise applied) shall be transferred to the Collection Account
for application as Net Cash Proceeds on the next Settlement Date following the 181st day following their deposit.

(c)  Reinvestment of Sale/Disposition Proceeds in Replacement Railcars. In the event the Borrower intends to use the
proceeds of a Permitted Discretionary Sale to acquire Qualifying Replacement Railcars pursuant to a Permitted Discretionary
Acquisition, such replacement and acquisition shall occur prior to the Settlement Date immediately preceding the date falling
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180 days after the effective date of such Permitted Discretionary Sale. The Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a
Qualifying Replacement Railcar Certificate prior to acquiring such Qualifying Replacement Railcars. All Railcars that replace
Portfolio Railcars subject to a Permitted Discretionary Sale pursuant to a Permitted Discretionary Acquisition shall be Qualifying
Replacement Railcars in order to be Portfolio Railcars. Upon acquisition, such Replacement Railcars (and any related Leases) will
become subject to the lien of the Security Agreement (and related Loan Documents). To the extent such proceeds are not so used to
acquire Qualifying Replacement Railcars pursuant to a Permitted Discretionary Acquisition prior to the Settlement Date immediately
preceding the date falling 180 days after the effective date of such Permitted Discretionary Sale, at the written direction of the
Administrative Agent such amounts shall be transferred to the Collection Account prior to such Settlement Date for application as Net
Cash Proceeds for the Measuring Period in which such transfer is made.

SECTION 6.10 Use of Proceeds. The Borrower will use the proceeds of the Loans solely for the purposes set forth in Section
5.13. The Portfolio Railcars (including the Initial Portfolio Railcars), being utilized for low-carbon transportation of goods, have been
confirmed by Sustainalytics to align with the Green Loan Principles. Without prejudice to any obligations of the Borrower under any
provisions of this Agreement, any failure of the Borrower to align with the SPO shall in no event (i) constitute a Servicer Replacement
Event, Mandatory Prepayment Event, Default or an Event of Default hereunder, under any other Loan Document, or under the
Servicing Agreement, or (ii) limit, restrict or otherwise affect the use of proceeds pursuant to this Section 6.10. Eligible Green Assets
exclude Portfolio Railcars which transport fossil fuels (crude oil, coal, refined products and natural gases). Any new commodities will
be determined eligible or not by TILC based on the nature of the commodity. While not compulsory, TILC strives to target, on a fair
market value basis, Eligible Green Assets equal to at least 75% of the total Portfolio Railcars, maintaining a 10% cushion to
accommodate for fluctuation in fair market value, cash reserves within the transactions under this Agreement and amortization over
time.

SECTION 6.11  Audits and Inspections. At the request of any Lender, the Administrative Agent shall have the right to
(1) inspect all documents of the Borrower and to the extent permitted by the Servicing Agreement or the TILC Insurance Agreement,
the Servicer (the “Related Documents™), including without limitation all leases, insurance policies, warranties or other agreements
relating to the Portfolio Railcars and the other Collateral (during such period of time when such Portfolio Railcar or other Collateral,
as the case may be, was part of the Portfolio) (each such inspection, a “Related Document Inspection™); (ii) inspect and audit each of
the Borrower’s and, to the extent permitted by the Servicing Agreement, the Servicer’s books, records and databases (which shall
include reasonable access to electronic copies of the Borrower’s and the Servicer’s records to the extent necessary to determine
compliance with the Loan Documents) (collectively, the “Books and Records™) with respect to the Portfolio Railcars and the other
Collateral and Related Documents (including without limitation data supporting all reporting requirements under the Loan
Documents) (each such inspection, a “Books and Records Inspection™); (iii) discuss (A) the affairs, finances and accounts of the
Borrower and the Servicer and (B) the Portfolio Railcars and the other Collateral, the Related Documents and the Books and Records,
in each case with the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of
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each of the Borrower and the Servicer, as applicable; (iv) conduct evaluations and appraisals of the assets included in the Collateral;
and (v) subject to restrictions and procedures on inspection of the Portfolio Railcars in any applicable Lease, conduct a physical
inspection of any Portfolio Railcar or otherwise obtain a Physical Inspection Report with respect thereto (each such inspection, a
“Physical Inspection”, and together with each other inspection described in (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, collectively, the
“Inspections”); provided, however, Related Documents and Books and Records shall be subject to the terms of the Servicing
Agreement and the TILC Insurance Agreement, as applicable, and shall not include the Servicer’s customer list or any other
information that the Servicer reasonably determines is of a proprietary nature. All Inspections shall be conducted, at the requesting
Person’s expense and no more frequently than once in any annual period (unless such Inspection (x) is conducted after a Servicer
Replacement Event, LTV Failure, DSCR Failure, or Utilization Failure has occurred and is continuing (or after a DSCR Failure would
have occurred and been continuing if a cash Capital Contribution had not been made), (y) is conducted after the occurrence of an
Event of Default which is continuing or (z) reveals non-compliance with any covenant of the Borrower under the Loan Documents
that constitutes a Default, in which case, such Inspection shall be at the expense of the Borrower and the frequency of such Inspections
shall be no more than necessary as determined by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion), with at least five Business
Days’ notice from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (with respect to Inspections of the Borrower) and the Servicer (with
respect to inspections of the Borrower or the Servicer) and shall be conducted during normal business hours, be subject to the
Borrower’s and the Servicer’s customary security procedures, if any, and not unreasonably disrupt the Borrower’s or the Servicer’s
business; provided that, Lenders may attend any Inspection conducted by the Administrative Agent. Without prejudice to the right to
conduct Inspections, all parties granted inspection rights hereunder shall confer with a view toward coordinating their conduct with
respect to Inspections in order to minimize the costs thereof and business disruption attendant thereto. For the avoidance of doubt, any
Physical Inspection conducted by the Administrative Agent shall (i) be subject to all rights of the applicable Lessee under the Lease
(including quiet enjoyment rights), (ii) not interfere with the Borrower’s or any Lessees’ operation of the subject Railcars, and (iii) be
limited to a total of 10% of the Portfolio Railcars (measured by number of Portfolio Railcars) for any single Physical Inspection.

SECTION 6.12  Stamp Tax. If any jurisdiction in which any Portfolio Railcar is registered, operated or located, from time to
time, requires the payment of a stamp Tax, fee or its equivalent in order to perfect the Collateral Agent’s security interest in such
Railcar or otherwise to allow the Administrative Agent to realize upon the Collateral, the Borrower shall pay the amount of such stamp
Tax, fee or its equivalent in accordance with Section 2.07(c).

SECTION 6.13  Follow-On Leases. The Borrower will not enter into any Portfolio Lease which was not in place as of the
Restatement Closing Date with respect to an Initial Portfolio Railcar or the applicable date on which such Railcar became a Portfolio
Railcar with respect to any Portfolio Railcar that is not an Initial Portfolio Railcar (a “Follow-On Lease”; provided that, for the
avoidance of doubt, any Lease which is part of the Existing Portfolio but was not in place (x) as of the Closing Date with respect to a
Railcar in the Existing Portfolio on the Closing Date or (y) as of the applicable date on which a Railcar in the Existing Portfolio
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became a “Portfolio Railcar”, under and as defined in the Existing Loan Agreement, with respect to any Railcar in the Existing
Portfolio that was not a “Portfolio Railcar”, under and as defined in the Existing Loan Agreement, on the Closing Date, shall be
deemed to constitute a Follow-On Lease for all purposes of the Security Agreement and the TILC Servicing Agreement) unless
(i) such Follow-On Lease is an Eligible Lease, (ii) the Lease Notice Requirement or Lessee Consent Requirement shall have been
satisfied, if applicable, with respect to such Follow-On Lease and (iii) all necessary governmental, regulatory and third party approvals
in connection with the Follow-On Lease shall have been obtained and remain in full force and effect; provided that the Administrative
Agent may waive the requirements of this Section 6.13 in its reasonable discretion. Each of the requirements of this Section 6.13 shall
have been satisfied prior to the delivery of Portfolio Railcars under the applicable Follow-On Lease.

SECTION 6.14  Accounts; Lessee Notices and Lessee Consents. (a) On or prior to the date hereof, the Borrower shall cause
to be established one or more accounts with the Depositary, pursuant to the Depository Agreement, in the name of the Borrower. The
Borrower shall cause the Depositary to create a Collection Account, an Operating Expenses Account, a Modifications and
Improvements Account, an Optional Reinvestment Account and a Liquidity Reserve Account, in each case in accordance with the
terms of the Depository Agreement.

(b) Any amounts from time to time held in the Collection Account (excluding Trinsight/RSI Fees, if any), the Modifications
and Improvements Account, the Operating Expenses Account, the Optional Reinvestment Account and the Liquidity Reserve Account
may be invested in Cash Equivalents (subject to the provisions of the Depository Agreement), at the Borrower’s risk as directed in
writing by the Borrower, until the application thereof in accordance with this Agreement. Absent such direction, the amounts shall
remain uninvested. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent may direct by
written notice the Depositary to pay to the Administrative Agent the amount specified in such notice from the Account(s) specified in
such notice, and the Administrative Agent shall apply such amounts received from the Depositary to the repayment of the Obligations
in accordance with the applicable provisions of Section 2.07(c).

(c) The Borrower shall direct, including by causing the Servicer to direct, all Lessees under Portfolio Leases to make all
payments thereunder directly to the TILC Customer Payments Account (or, if requested by the Administrative Agent following the
occurrence and during the continuation of a Servicer Replacement Event, the Collection Account). The Borrower shall cause,
including by causing the Servicer or other relevant agent under the applicable Servicing Document to cause (x) all of the foregoing
amounts to be transferred from the TILC Customer Payments Account to the Collection Account within three (3) Business Days of
deposit in the TILC Customer Payments Account but in no event later than six (6) Business Days of deposit of any such amounts in
the TILC Customer Payments Account, and shall provide timely written notice thereof (which notice may be made by facsimile or
electronic mail) to the Administrative Agent, in each case in accordance with the TILC Account Administration Agreement and (y) all
other Cash Flow (except to the extent expressly permitted or required under this Agreement) to be deposited in the Collection Account
as and when received (but in any event no later than five (5) Business Days after receipt thereof).
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(d) Ifinrespect of any Lease, at any time such Lease prohibits the lessor of such Lease to assign in favor of the Borrower or
the Collateral Agent or grant a Lien in respect of its rights thereunder, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Contribution
Agreement and the Collateral Documents, unless notice of such assignment or Lien is provided to the relevant Lessee in accordance
with the terms thereof or if the Collateral Agent requests such a notice be delivered to a Lessee after an Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing (“Lease Notice Requirements”), the Borrower shall provide a Lessee Notice to such Lessee in writing that such
Lease has been assigned to the Collateral Agent under the Loan Documents for the benefit of the Protected Parties (A) in the case of a
Lease of a Railcar acquired by the Borrower on or prior to the Restatement Closing Date, within 60 days after the Restatement Closing
Date, (B) in the case of each Lease of a Railcar acquired by the Borrower after the Restatement Closing Date, within sixty (60) days of
the date such Railcar is acquired, (C) in the case of a Follow-On Lease, within sixty (60) days of the date such Lease commences and

effective after the date on which the applicable Railcar was acquired or, in the case of a Follow-On Lease, after the date the Lease
commenced, within sixty (60) days of the date such Lease Notice Requirements became effective.

Each Lessee Notice was or shall be, as applicable, in form and substance sufficient to satisfy the Lease Notice
Requirements of such Lease.

(e) Ifin respect of any Lease, at any time such Lease prohibits the lessor of such Lease to assign in favor of the Borrower or
the Collateral Agent or grant a Lien in respect of its rights thereunder, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Contribution
Agreement and the Collateral Documents, without the consent of the relevant Lessee given in accordance with the terms thereof
(“Lessee Consent Requirements”), the Borrower shall obtain a consent from such Lessee in writing acknowledging that such Lease
has been assigned to the Collateral Agent under the Loan Documents for the benefit of the Protected Parties and consenting thereto (a
“Lessee Consent”) (A) in the case of a Lease of a Railcar acquired by the Borrower on or prior to the Restatement Closing Date,
within 60 days after the Restatement Closing Date, (B) in the case of each Lease of a Railcar acquired by the Borrower after the
Restatement Closing Date, within sixty (60) days of the date such Railcar is acquired, (C) in the case of a Follow-On Lease, within

under which Lessee Consent Requirements become effective after the date on which the applicable Railcar was acquired or, in the case
of a Follow-On Lease, after the date the Lease commenced, within sixty (60) days of the date such Lessee Consent Requirements
became effective.

Each Lessee Consent shall be in form and substance sufficient to satisfy the Lessee Consent Requirements of such
Lease. If, in accordance with the terms set forth above, a Lessee Consent complying with this Section 6.14(e) is not obtained from the
applicable Lessee within 60 days of the date on which such Lessee Consent Requirement arose, a “Lessee Consent Trigger Event”
shall have occurred.
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SECTION 6.15  Servicers. (a) The Borrower and the Administrative Agent further agree that, upon the occurrence and
continuance of a Servicer Replacement Event, the Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required Lenders) may direct
the Borrower in writing to remove the Servicer, terminate the applicable Servicing Document(s), appoint a new Servicer with respect
to the Railcars that is reasonably satisfactory to both the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders, and enter into new Servicing
Document(s) with such new Servicer.

(b) Upon the transfer of servicing of any Railcars such that they are subject to new Servicing Documents as provided in this
Section 6.15, the Borrower shall provide the Administrative Agent (who shall promptly provide the Lenders) copies of any Servicing
Documents entered into in connection with such transfer and shall satisfy the conditions described in Section 4.02(k) with respect to
the Railcars and such new Servicer, to the extent applicable.

SECTION 6.16  Action after an Event of Default. Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of
Default, the Borrower shall, in connection with taking any action or exercising any rights or remedies under the Purchase and
Contribution Agreement or any Lease Document or Servicing Document, comply in good faith with all reasonable requests from the
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent.

SECTION 6.17 Required Disclosures. Promptly, following a request by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, the
Borrower shall provide all documentation and other information the Administrative Agent or any Lender reasonably requests about the
Borrower or any Affiliate thereof in order to comply with its ongoing obligations under applicable “know your customer” and anti-
money laundering rules and regulations, including the Patriot Act.

SECTION 6.18  Liquidity Reserve Account. Without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary
shall not transfer or otherwise withdraw funds on deposit in the Liquidity Reserve Account at any time; provided that, so long as no
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, on each Settlement Date prior to the application of funds pursuant to Section 2.07(c),
the Depositary shall, at the written request of the Borrower, release funds in the Liquidity Reserve Account, in excess of the Liquidity
Reserve Target Amount, to the Collection Account.

SECTION 6.19  Green Loans. From time to time following a request by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, the
Borrower shall assist with the furnishing of the SPO, as well as any reasonable reporting in alignment with the Framework and other
associated documents that are not otherwise made available on the company website of Trinity. Without prejudice to any obligations of
the Borrower under any provisions of this Agreement, any failure of the Borrower to comply with its obligations under this Section
6.19 shall in no event constitute a Servicer Replacement Event, Mandatory Prepayment Event, Default or an Event of Default
hereunder, under any other Loan Document, or under the Servicing Agreement. Each of the Borrower and TILC hereby agree that the
Administrative Agent may rely on any representations, use of proceeds, certifications, and reporting made or submitted by the
Borrower with respect to the Eligible Green Assets in any Green Loan Report and the Administrative
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Agent shall not have any responsibility for or liability in respect of independently reviewing, auditing or otherwise evaluating any such
representation, use of proceeds, certification and/or reporting. Each party hereto hereby agrees that the Administrative Agent makes no
assurances as to (i) whether this Agreement meets any Borrower or Lender criteria or expectations with regard to environmental or
social impact or sustainability performance; or (ii) whether the definition of Eligible Green Assets included in this Agreement meets
any industry standards for sustainable finance instruments. Each party hereby agrees that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
the Loan Documents, if the Borrower no longer (A) complies with the Framework; or (B) allocates the proceeds to any non-eligible
investments, then the Borrower shall, upon obtaining Knowledge of the same, notify the Administrative Agent and the Green Advisor
in writing no later than 15 days after it becomes aware of such event. The Administrative Agent and the Green Advisor acting on the
instructions of the Required Lenders shall notify the Borrower of any declassification pursuant to this Section 6.19 and this Agreement
shall, with immediate effect, be declassified by the Administrative Agent and Green Advisor as a green term loan labeled facility. From
the date of such declassification, the Borrower shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within 10 days of notice from
the Administrative Agent and the Green Advisor: (i) cease representing in all internal and external communications, marketing or
publications that the Loans are green loans; and (ii) ensure that all material, publications and information it publishes no longer refers
to the Loans as green loans. Upon the occurrence of a declassification, each Lender will cease making any representation in external
communications, marketing and/or publication that the Loans are green loans, and/or compliant with Green Loan Principles, including
any references in any public list, league table or similar publication. For avoidance of doubt, neither failure to notify the
Administrative Agent and the Green Advisor in accordance with the foregoing nor a declassification shall constitute a Servicer
Replacement Event, Mandatory Prepayment Event, Default or an Event of Default hereunder, under any other Loan Document, or
under the Servicing Agreement.

ARTICLE VII

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower agrees that so long as any Lender has any Commitment hereunder, or any Loan, any Obligations or other amount
payable hereunder or under any Note or other Loan Document remains unpaid:

SECTION 7.01  Limitation on Debt. The Borrower will not incur, create, assume or permit to exist any Debt, including,
without limitation, Derivatives Obligations except:

(i) Debt of the Borrower under or permitted by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; and

(il)) Derivatives Obligations of the Borrower under Derivatives Agreements to the extent entered into with the express
written consent of the Administrative Agent to manage interest rate risks and not for speculative purposes.
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SECTION 7.02 Restriction on Liens. The Borrower will not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any property
or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it or on any income or rights in respect of any thereof, except Permitted Liens.

SECTION 7.03 Nature of Business. The Borrower will not alter the character or conduct of the business conducted by it as of
the Closing Date and activities directly related thereto.

SECTION 7.04  Consolidation, Merger and Dissolution. The Borrower will not enter into any transaction of merger or
consolidation or liquidate, wind up or dissolve itself or its affairs (or suffer any liquidations or dissolutions), convert into any other
Person or enter into a Division.

SECTION 7.05 Railcar Partial Prepayments; Asset Dispositions and Permitted Discretionary Acquisitions.

(a) The Borrower will not make or permit or consent to any Railcar Partial Prepayment or Asset Disposition, except that:

(i) following an Event of Loss with respect to a Railcar, the Borrower may make or permit or consent to any Asset
Disposition for salvage or other obtainable value, “free and clear” of the Collateral Agent’s security interests, so long as the
insurance proceeds of such Asset Disposition shall have been directly paid or upon receipt shall be paid to the Optional
Reinvestment Account;

(il) the Borrower may make or permit or consent to any Permitted Discretionary Sale (including in connection with a
Securitization) if the Net Cash Proceeds of such Asset Disposition have or will simultaneously with such Asset Disposition be
deposited into the Optional Reinvestment Account for use in connection with a Permitted Discretionary Acquisition;

(iii) the Borrower may make or permit or consent to any Permitted Discretionary Sale (including in connection with a
Securitization) if the Net Cash Proceeds of such Asset Disposition have or will simultaneously with such Asset Disposition be
utilized by the Borrower to make a Railcar Partial Prepayment; and

(iv)  the Borrower may make or permit or consent to any Asset Disposition not otherwise described in clauses (i)
through (iii) of this paragraph at the direction of the Administrative Agent (as directed by the Required Lenders), subject to any
conditions imposed by the Administrative Agent relating thereto;

provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower will not make or permit or consent to any Railcar Partial Prepayment or
Asset Disposition (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Permitted Discretionary Sales) if, after giving effect thereto, the remaining
aggregate principal balance of the outstanding Loans shall be less than the Minimum Loan Amount (except that this proviso shall not
apply to any Asset Dispositions described in clause (i) above).
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(b) Inrespect of each Permitted Discretionary Acquisition:

)] the Borrower, prior to a contemplated Permitted Discretionary Sale, shall provide written notice to the
Administrative Agent if it intends to use the Net Cash Proceeds of such Permitted Discretionary Sale to acquire Qualifying
Replacement Railcars pursuant to a Permitted Discretionary Acquisition to replace the Portfolio Railcars subject to the
contemplated Permitted Discretionary Sale; and

(i)  if the effective date of the purchase of such Replacement Railcars pursuant to such, and in accordance with the
requirements of the definition of, Permitted Discretionary Acquisition does not occur within the period from the effective date
of such sale of the Portfolio Railcars subject to the Permitted Discretionary Sale until the Settlement Date immediately
preceding the date falling 180 days after the effective date of such sale, a “Railcar Sale Trigger Event” shall have occurred.

For the avoidance of doubt, all Railcars that replace Portfolio Railcars subject to a Permitted Discretionary Sale pursuant to a
Permitted Discretionary Acquisition shall be Qualifying Replacement Railcars in order to be Portfolio Railcars, and upon acquisition,
such Replacement Railcars (and any related Leases) will become subject to the Lien of the Security Agreement (and related Loan
Documents).

(¢) Upon consummation of an Asset Disposition permitted under this Section 7.05, the Collateral Agent shall (to the extent
applicable) deliver to the Borrower, upon the Borrower’s reasonable request and at the Borrower’s expense, such documentation as
is reasonably necessary to evidence the release of the Collateral Agent’s security interests, if any, in the assets being disposed of,
including amendments or terminations of Uniform Commercial Code Financing Statements, if any.

(d) Upon the request of the Collateral Agent (at the direction of the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders) from
time to time, the Borrower will promptly and duly execute and deliver any and all such further instruments and documents as may
be specified in such request which are reasonably necessary to perfect, preserve or protect the security interests created or intended
to be created for the Replacement Railcars subject to such Permitted Discretionary Acquisition under the Collateral Documents, or
to establish that the Borrower has title to such Railcars; provided that any such request shall be commercially reasonable and
otherwise consistent with the security interests and Liens granted pursuant to the Collateral Documents.

SECTION 7.06 Investments. The Borrower will not hold, make or acquire, any Investment in any Person, except that:

(i) the Borrower may invest in cash and Cash Equivalents pursuant to this Agreement and the Depository Agreement;
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(il))  the Borrower may acquire and hold receivables owing to it, if created or acquired in the ordinary course of
business and payable or dischargeable in accordance with customary trade terms;

(iii))  the Borrower may acquire and own Investments (including Debt obligations) received in connection with the
bankruptcy or reorganization of suppliers and customers and in settlement of delinquent obligations of, and other disputes with,
customers and suppliers arising in the ordinary course of business; and

(iv) to the extent permitted hereunder, the Borrower may purchase Eligible Railcars, Eligible Leases and other related
inventory, machinery and equipment in the ordinary course of business.

SECTION 7.07  Restricted Payments, Etc. The Borrower will not declare or pay any Restricted Payments (other than
Restricted Payments payable solely in Equity Interests (exclusive of Disqualified Stock) of the Borrower), except that, so long as no
Insolvency Event, Payment Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, the Borrower may
make Restricted Payments from time to time to the extent cash is made available to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.07(c).

SECTION 7.08 Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower will not engage in any transaction or series of transactions with
(i) any officer, director, holder of any Equity Interest in or other Affiliate of the Borrower or (ii) any Affiliate of any such officer,
director, holder or Affiliate, other than (A) the payment of the Servicer’s Fees as provided in Section 2.07(c), (B) reimbursement of
Servicer Advances pursuant to the Servicing Agreement and Section 2.07(c), (C) transfers of assets permitted by Section 7.05, (D) as
otherwise expressly provided for or contemplated in any Loan Document and (E) so long as no Insolvency Event, Payment Default or
Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, other transactions (including the purchase of Railcars) which are engaged in by the
Borrower in the ordinary course of its business on terms and conditions as favorable to it as would be obtainable by it in a comparable
arm’s-length transaction with an independent, unrelated third party.

SECTION 7.09  Fiscal Year; Organization and Other Documents. The Borrower will not (i) change its fiscal year, (ii) enter
into any amendment, modification or waiver to its Organization Documents or (iii) except with the consent of the Administrative
Agent (at the direction of the Required Lenders) and subject to Section 7.13, amend, modify, extend, renew, cancel or terminate the
Purchase and Contribution Agreement, any Bill of Sale, any Servicing Document, any Lease Document or any other Assigned
Agreement (as defined in the Security Agreement), waive any material default under or breach of any such agreement, compromise or
settle any material dispute, claim, suit or legal proceeding relating to any such agreement, sell or assign any such agreement or interest
therein, consent to or permit or accept any prepayment of amounts to become due under or in connection with any such agreement,
except as expressly provided therein, or take any other action in connection with any such agreement which would materially impair
the value of the interests or rights of the Borrower thereunder or which would impair the interests or rights of the Administrative Agent
under this Agreement, except that, unless the Administrative Agent shall have notified the Borrower upon the occurrence of an
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Event of Default that this exception is no longer available or if the same would otherwise be adverse in any material respect to the
interests of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, the Borrower may (or may permit the Servicer to) modify, make adjustments
with respect to, extend or renew any Assigned Agreements in the ordinary course of business, and except that Sections 7.13 and 7.14
shall govern the right of the Borrower to waive or permit the waiver of a Lease Default or Lease Event of Default. The Borrower will
promptly provide the Lenders with copies of all amendments to the foregoing documents and instruments as in effect as of the
Restatement Closing Date.

SECTION 7.10 Additional Negative Pledges. The Borrower will not enter into, assume or become subject to any agreement
prohibiting or otherwise restricting the creation or assumption of any Lien upon its properties or assets, whether now owned or
hereafter acquired, or requiring the grant of any security for an obligation if security is given for some other obligation, except
pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

SECTION 7.11  Impairment of Security Interests. The Borrower will not take or omit to take any action which action or
omission might or would materially impair the security interests in favor of the Collateral Agent with respect to the Collateral.

SECTION 7.12 Financial Ratios and Tests.

(a) Loan-to-Value Ratio.

(i) If the Loan-to-Value Ratio on any LTV Test Date exceeds the LTV Maximum Ratio (a “LTV Breach”), and the
Borrower has not effected an LTV Cure within the period from such LTV Test Date until the first Settlement Date thereafter, a
“LTV Trigger Event” shall have occurred. If the Loan-to-Value Ratio on any LTV Test Date is greater than the LTV Cash
Sweep Ratio Threshold but less than or equal to the LTV Maximum Ratio, a “LTV Cash Sweep Event” shall have occurred (a
LTV Breach or a LTV Cash Sweep Event, each a “LTV Failure”).

(i) Ifa LTV Failure has occurred, the Borrower shall be entitled, at any time (but in the case of a LTV Breach, only
prior to the occurrence of the LTV Trigger Event resulting from such LTV Breach), in any combination, to (A) prepay all or a
portion of the principal amount of the Loans, and/or (B) add Eligible Railcars to the Portfolio, in each case in an amount
sufficient to cause the Loan-to-Value Ratio to not exceed the LTV Cash Sweep Ratio Threshold after giving pro forma effect to
such addition or other action; provided that, in the case of clause (B) above, any such additional Eligible Railcars may not be
added unless the applicable criteria set forth in clauses (ii) and (v) of the definition of Permitted Discretionary Acquisition are
satisfied as if such Eligible Railcars were being added to the Portfolio as Replacement Railcars (each of clauses (A) and (B), a
“LTV Cure”).

(b) Debt Service Coverage Ratio.
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(1) Ifthe DSCR on any DSCR Test Date is less than the DSCR Minimum, a “DSCR Failure” shall have occurred.

(il)) If a DSCR Failure has occurred, the Borrower shall be entitled, at any time, in any combination, to (A) prepay all
or a portion of the principal amount of the Loans, (B) add Eligible Railcars to the Portfolio, and/or (C) accept cash Capital

DSCR were recalculated during the same DSCR Calculation Period and (x) such prepayment or addition of Eligible Railcars
was deemed to have occurred at the commencement of such DSCR Calculation Period as described in clause (iii) below or
such cash Capital Contribution was deemed to have been received in the immediately preceding calendar month and (y) as a
result, no DSCR Failure would have occurred; provided that, in the case of clause (B) above, any such additional Eligible
Railcars may not be added unless the applicable criteria set forth in clauses (ii) and (v) of the definition of Permitted
Discretionary Acquisition are satisfied as if such Eligible Railcars were being added to the Portfolio as Replacement Railcars

(iii))  For the purposes of recalculating the DSCR as set forth above in connection with any DSCR Cure: (x) any
prepayment of the Loans shall be deemed to have occurred at the commencement of the relevant DSCR Calculation Period,
(y) if one or more Eligible Railcars are added to the Portfolio then the Monthly Rent under the Leases attributable to each such
Eligible Railcar shall be deemed to have been paid during the entire such DSCR Calculation Period and (z) any cash Capital
Contribution shall be deemed to have been received in the immediately preceding calendar month. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, cash Capital Contributions in no more than two months in any 12-month period and in an amount no greater than
the amount necessary to achieve a DSCR of 1.15:1.00 may be included in the calculation of the DSCR.

(c) Utilization. If at any time the Utilization Ratio is less than 80% (a “Utilization Failure”), and the Borrower has not,
within a period ending on or before the second Settlement Date from the date on which such Utilization Failure occurred, cured
such Utilization Failure in accordance with Section 6.13 or otherwise, a “Utilization Trigger Event” shall have occurred.

SECTION 7.13 No Amendments to the Lease Documents. Without prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (in its
sole discretion) or as expressly provided by the terms of this Agreement, the Borrower will not amend, modify, consent to or permit
any change in the terms or otherwise alter or grant any consent or approval under any Lease Document unless consistent with the
Standard of Care.

SECTION 7.14  Lease Default. Without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (in its sole discretion), which
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, the Borrower will not waive (or permit the waiver of) a Lease Default or Lease Event
of Default under a Lease; provided, however, that unless a Payment Default or an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the
Borrower may elect, in its reasonable discretion, to the extent
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consistent with the Standard of Care, to give such waiver (or permit such waiver), so long as such waiver is limited to the particular
facts giving rise to such Lease Default or Lease Event of Default and does not prejudice the Borrower’s (or Collateral Agent’s, by
assignment) rights under the relevant Lease to exercise remedies with respect to any other future Lease Events of Default.

SECTION 7.15 [Intentionally Omitted].

SECTION 7.16 Special Purpose. The Borrower will not:

(a) employ or maintain any employees other than as required by Applicable Law; provided that officers and directors shall
not be deemed to be employees for purposes of this Section 7.16;

(b) hold or own any Subsidiaries;

(c) engage in any activity other than the purchase, ownership, leasing, exploitation and sale of the Portfolio Railcars or
own any assets other than the Portfolio Railcars and other assets expressly contemplated under this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents or Lease Documents and matters incidental thereto;

(d) incur any obligation to any third party except as permitted by this Section 7.16, as provided in a Lease or any other
Lease Document, any Loan Document or any related documents; or

(e) own, or otherwise have title to, any deposit account or securities account other than the Collection Account or other
accounts required by the Loan Documents or by the Lease Documents or otherwise consented to by the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 7.17 Independence of Covenants. All covenants contained herein shall be given independent effect so that if a
particular action or condition is not permitted by any of such covenants, the fact that such action or condition would be permitted by
an exception to, or otherwise be within the limitations of, another covenant shall not avoid the occurrence of a Default if such action is
taken or condition exists.

SECTION 7.18 Concentration Limits. The Borrower shall not acquire, dispose of, substitute, lease or re-lease any Railcar if
such transaction would cause the Portfolio to exceed any of the Concentration Limits.

SECTION 7.19 PATRIOT Act; OFAC.

(a) The Borrower shall ensure that at all times that neither it nor any of its directors, officers nor, to the Knowledge of the
Borrower, employees, agents or Affiliates is subject to any Sanctions.

(b) The Borrower shall ensure that at all times each of the Borrower and its directors, officers and, to the Knowledge of the
Borrower, employees, agents, advisors and
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Affiliates is in compliance with: (i) all Sanctions Laws, (ii) all Anti-Corruption Laws in all material respects and (iii) all Anti-
Terrorism Laws in all material respects.

(c) No part of the proceeds of the Loans (including, for the avoidance of doubt, New Term Loans) will be used, directly or
indirectly, (A) for the purpose of financing any activities or business of or with any Person or in any country or territory that at such
time is the subject of any Sanctions or (B) for any payments to any governmental official or employee, political party, official of a
political party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business
or obtain any improper advantage, in violation of any Anti-Corruption Law.

ARTICLE VIII

OTHER REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

SECTION 8.01 Lender’s Representation and Warranty. Each Lender represents and warrants as to itself on the Restatement
Closing Date, and as to itself at all times until the Termination Date that no part of the assets to be used by such Lender to fund the
Loans or Notes constitutes assets of an “employee benefit plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is subject to Title I of
ERISA, a “plan” as defined in Section 4975 of the Code which is subject to Section 4975 of the Code, an entity whose underlying
assets include “plan assets” by reason of any such employee benefit plan or plan’s investment in such entity, or a governmental, church
or non-U.S. plan which is subject to any federal, state, local or non-U.S. law that is similar to the prohibited transaction provisions of
Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

SECTION 8.02  Quiet Enjoyment. The Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender hereby covenant and
agree that so long as no Lease Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, neither it nor any Person claiming by, through or under
it shall take or cause to be taken any action contrary to any Lessee’s or any permitted sublessee’s right to quiet enjoyment of, and the
continuing possession, use and operation of, the relevant Portfolio Railcar during the term of such Lease and in accordance with the
terms of such Lease. To the extent reasonably requested by a Lessee in connection with the Restatement Closing Date, the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender shall confirm this Section 8.02.

ARTICLE IX

DEFAULTS

SECTION 9.01  Events of Default. An Event of Default shall exist upon the occurrence of any of the following specified
events or conditions (each an “Event of Default”):

(a) Payment. (i) Any default shall occur in the payment when due (whether by scheduled maturity, prepayment,
acceleration or otherwise) of any principal of the Loans (x) on the Maturity Date or (y) on any Mandatory Prepayment Date and, in
the case of clause (y), such payment is not received within three (3) Business Days of the due date therefor, (ii) any default shall
occur in the payment when due of any principal of the Loans (to the extent not
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subject to clause (i)), interest on the Loans, fees or other amounts owing to any Protected Party under any Loan Document or
Derivatives Agreement or in connection herewith or therewith and such payment is not received within ten (10) Business Days of
the due date therefor, or (iii) the amount on deposit in the Liquidity Reserve Account fails to be equal to or greater than the
Liquidity Reserve Target Amount then in effect on any Settlement Date and such failure shall continue for ten (10) Business Days
from such date.

(b) [Intentionally Omitted].

(¢) Representations. Any representation, warranty or statement made or deemed to be made by the Borrower in any Loan
Document, or in any statement, report or certificate delivered or required to be delivered pursuant hereto or thereto (including, for
the avoidance of doubt, any representation, warranty or statement made or deemed to be made by the Servicer, on behalf of the
Borrower, in any Monthly Report or Compliance Certificate) shall prove untrue or incorrect in any material respect (or if already
qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect, in any respect) on the date as of which it was made or deemed to have been
made and if capable of being cured shall not have been cured within 30 days after the earlier of a Responsible Officer of the
Borrower or the Servicer becoming aware of such untruth or notice thereof given by the Administrative Agent to the Borrower or
the Servicer.

(d) Covenants.

(i)  The Borrower shall default in the due performance or observance by it of any term, covenant or agreement
contained in Sections 6.06(a), 7.01, 7.02 (in respect of any Collateral with an Appraised Fair Market Value in excess of
$1,000,000 in the aggregate), 7.03, 7.04, 7.05(a), 7.06, 7.07, 7.08, 7.09, 7.10, 7.11 (in respect of any Collateral with an

Appraised Fair Market Value in excess of $1,000,000 in the aggregate), 7.16 or 7.19 of this Agreement;

(i)  the Borrower shall default in the due performance or observance by it of any term, covenant or agreement
contained in Sections 6.01(f), 6.01(i), the first sentence of 6.10 or 6.14(c) and such default shall continue unremedied for a
period of two Business Days;

(iii)) a LTV Trigger Event or Utilization Trigger Event shall have occurred and be continuing; or

(iv) the Borrower shall default in the due performance or observance by it of any term, covenant or agreement (other

avoidance of doubt, including a default with respect to Sections 7.02 or 7.11 to the extent not referred to in subsection (d)(i))
contained in this Agreement or any other Loan Document and such default shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days
after the earlier of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower becoming aware of such default or notice thereof given by the

Administrative Agent to the Borrower.
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(e) Loan Documents. Except pursuant to the terms thereof, any Loan Document shall (i) fail to be in full force and effect
or the Borrower, TILC or any Seller shall so assert or (ii) fail to give (or the Borrower, TILC or any Seller shall so assert the failure
to give) the Collateral Agent and/or the Lenders the perfected first priority security interests (subject to Permitted Liens), liens,
rights, powers and privileges purported to be created thereby.

(f)  Cross-Default. (i) There occurs under any Derivatives Agreement an Early Termination Date (as defined in such
Derivatives Agreement) resulting from any event of default under such Derivatives Agreement as to which the Borrower is the
Defaulting Party (as defined in such Derivatives Agreement), and the Derivatives Termination Value owed by the Borrower as a
result thereof is greater than $10,000,000. (ii) The Borrower shall fail to pay any principal or interest, regardless of amount, due in
respect of any Debt (other than Debt under the Loan Documents) with a principal balance in excess of $10,000,000, when and as
the same shall become due and payable (except to the extent such payment is being contested by the Borrower in good faith by
appropriate proceedings diligently conducted).

(g)  Insolvency Events. (i) The Borrower shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation,
reorganization or other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or
hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any
substantial part of its property, or shall consent to any such relief or to the appointment of or taking possession by any such official
in an involuntary case or other proceeding commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or
shall fail generally to pay its debts as they become due, or shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the foregoing or (ii) an
involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against the Borrower seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief
with respect to it or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its property, and such
involuntary case or other proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed for a period of 60 days, or any order for relief shall be
entered against the Borrower under the federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in effect.

(h) Judgments. One or more judgments, orders, decrees or arbitration awards is entered against the Borrower involving in
the aggregate a liability (to the extent not covered by independent third-party insurance as to which the insurer does not dispute
coverage), as to any single or related series of transactions, incidents or conditions, of $5,000,000 or more, and the same shall
remain undischarged, unvacated and unstayed pending appeal or otherwise unpaid or unsatisfied for a period of 30 days during
which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or levy upon
any assets of the Borrower to enforce any such judgment or any non-monetary judgment, order or decree is entered against the
Borrower which has or would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and there shall be any period of 30
consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of such judgment or order, by reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, shall
not be in effect.
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(i) Ownership. There shall occur a Change of Control.

) Servicer Replacement Event. A Servicer Replacement Event shall have occurred and be continuing and the
Administrative Agent shall have directed the Borrower in writing to terminate the Servicing Agreement pursuant to Section 6.15(a)
hereof, and the Borrower shall not have identified and appointed a replacement Servicer in accordance with Section 6.15(a) to
assume the duties of such Servicer within 60 days of the date that the Administrative Agent has provided such direction; provided
that, if the Borrower demonstrates by evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, that it is diligently working
toward appointing a replacement Servicer, such period shall be extended for an additional 60 days.

(k) Administrative Services Agreement. An event under Section 4(b) of the Administrative Services Agreement shall have
occurred and be continuing and the Administrative Agent shall have directed the Borrower in writing to terminate the
Administrative Services Agreement pursuant to the terms thereof, and the Borrower shall not have identified and appointed a
replacement Administrator reasonably acceptable, and pursuant to documentation in form and substance reasonably acceptable, to
the Administrative Agent within 60 days of the date that the Administrative Agent has provided such direction; provided that, if the
Borrower demonstrates by evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, that it is diligently working toward
appointing a replacement Administrator, such period shall be extended for an additional 60 days.

its capacity as Servicer) shall have defaulted in any material respect in the performance of any of its obligations under the Marks
Company Servicing Agreement or a default giving rise to a right to take remedial action shall occur under Section 6(a) of the TILC
Account Administration Agreement, and, in each case, the Borrower shall have failed to exercise its rights thereunder in respect of
such default for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt by the Borrower of written notice from the Administrative Agent,
demanding that such action be taken.

(m) TILC Insurance Agreement. The TILC Insurance Manager (or any successor thereto) shall have defaulted in any
material respect in the performance of any of its obligations under the TILC Insurance Agreement, and the Borrower shall have
failed to exercise its rights under the TILC Insurance Agreement in respect thereof for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt by
the Borrower of written notice from the Administrative Agent, demanding that such action be taken.

SECTION 9.02  Acceleration; Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, and at any
time thereafter unless and until such Event of Default has been waived in writing by the Required Lenders (or all of the Lenders as
may be required pursuant to Section 11.03), the Collateral Agent upon the request and written direction of the Administrative Agent (at
the direction of the Required Lenders), shall by written notice to the Borrower (with a copy to the Derivatives Creditors), take any of
the following actions
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without prejudice to the rights of the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent or any Lender to enforce its claims against the
Borrower except as otherwise specifically provided for herein:

(a) Acceleration of Loans. Declare the unpaid principal of and any accrued interest in respect of all Loans and any and all
other indebtedness or obligations of any and every kind owing by the Borrower to any of the Lenders hereunder to be due
whereupon the same shall be immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of
which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

(b)  Enforcement of Rights. Enforce any and all rights and interests created and existing under the Loan Documents,
including, without limitation, directing the Collateral Agent to enforce any and all rights and remedies existing under the Collateral
Documents and all rights of set-off.

(c) Lessee Notices. Deliver the Lessee Notices to the applicable Lessees with respect to any or all of the Portfolio Leases
and direct such Lessees to make all payments thereunder directly to the Collection Account.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Event of Default specified in Section 9.01(g) shall occur, then all Loans, all accrued
interest in respect thereof and all accrued and unpaid fees and other indebtedness or obligations owing to the Lenders hereunder and
under the other Loan Documents shall immediately become due and payable, in each case without the giving of any notice or other
action by the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, which notice or other action is expressly waived by the
Borrower.

Notwithstanding the fact that enforcement powers reside primarily with the Collateral Agent and the Administrative Agent,
each Lender has, to the extent permitted by law, a separate right of payment and shall be considered a separate “creditor” holding a
separate “claim” within the meaning of Section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code or any other insolvency statute.

In case any one or more of the covenants and/or agreements set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall have
been breached by the Borrower, then the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent may, at the written direction of the
Administrative Agent, proceed to protect and enforce the Lenders’ rights by suit in equity and by action at law, including an action for
damages as a result of any such breach or an action for specific performance of any such covenant or agreement contained in this
Agreement or such other Loan Document. Without limitation of the foregoing, the Borrower agrees that failure to comply with any of
the covenants contained herein may cause irreparable harm and that specific performance shall be available as a remedy in the event of
any breach thereof. The Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, as the case may be, acting pursuant to this paragraph shall be
indemnified by the Borrower against all liability, loss or damage, together with all reasonable costs and expenses related thereto
(including reasonable legal and accounting fees and expenses) in accordance with Section 11.05.

SECTION 9.03  Priority of Security Interests. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (including the Lien
priorities set forth herein), all proceeds from Collateral
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shall be applied against all or any part of the Obligations as set forth in Section 2.07(c)(i) or Section 2.07(c)(ii), as applicable.

ARTICLE X
AGENCY PROVISIONS

SECTION 10.01 Appointment; Authorization. (a) Appointment. Each Lender hereby designates and appoints the
Administrative Agent as agent of such Lender to act as specified herein and in the other Loan Documents, and each such Lender
hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, as the agent for such Lender, to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated by the
terms hereof and of the other Loan Documents, together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto, including, but not
limited to the appointing of the Collateral Agent under the Security Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary
elsewhere herein and in the other Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent shall not have any duties or responsibilities, except those
expressly set forth herein and therein, or any fiduciary relationship with any Lender, and no implied covenants, functions,
responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities shall be read into this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, or shall
otherwise exist against the Administrative Agent. In performing its functions and duties under this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, the Administrative Agent shall act solely as an agent of the Lenders and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have
assumed any obligation or relationship of agency or trust with or for the Borrower. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing
two sentences, the use of the term “agent” herein and in the other Loan Documents with reference to the Administrative Agent is not
intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any Applicable Law.
Instead, such term is used merely as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship
between independent contracting parties. The provisions of this Article X (other than Section 10.09) are solely for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and the Lenders, and the Borrower shall not have any rights as a third party
beneficiary of the provisions hereof (other than Section 10.09). Each Lender incorporated in Germany hereby relieves each of the
Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent from the restrictions on multi-representation pursuant to section 181 alternative 2 of the
German Civil Code (Biirgerliches Gesetzbuch) and similar restrictions under any other applicable law.

(b) Collateral Documents. Without limiting the generality of clause (a) of this Section 10.01, each Lender hereby further
designates and appoints U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association as Collateral Agent and U.S. Bank National Association as
Depositary and each such Lender hereby authorizes the Collateral Agent to enter into any Collateral Document as secured party on
behalf of and for the benefit of such Lender or otherwise and to require the delivery of any Collateral Document which the
Administrative Agent determines is necessary or advisable to protect or perfect the interests of the Protected Parties in any
Collateral and agrees to be bound by the terms of each of the Collateral Documents. Anything contained in any of the Loan
Documents to the contrary notwithstanding, but subject to
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Section 11.08, each Lender agrees that no Lender shall have any right individually to realize upon any of the Collateral under any
Collateral Document or Loan Document, it being understood and agreed that all powers, rights and remedies under the Collateral
Documents may be exercised solely by the Administrative Agent (or its designee, including the Collateral Agent and the
Depositary) for the benefit of Protected Parties in accordance with the terms thereof. Each Lender hereby authorizes the
Administrative Agent (or its designee, including the Collateral Agent and the Depositary) (a) to release or subordinate Collateral as
permitted or required under this Agreement or the Collateral Documents, and agrees that a certificate or other instrument executed
by the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent evidencing such release of Collateral shall be conclusive evidence of such release
as to any third party and (b) except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 11.03 hereof, to enter into any amendments or
waivers of the Collateral Documents which the Administrative Agent determines are necessary or advisable, including, without
limitation, Collateral Documents the form of which are exhibits to this Agreement.

SECTION 10.02 Delegation of Duties. The Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent may execute any
of their respective duties hereunder or under the other Loan Documents by or through agents, employees or attorneys-in-fact and shall
be entitled to advice of counsel and other consultants or experts concerning all matters pertaining to such duties. None of the
Administrative Agent, the Depositary or the Collateral Agent shall be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any agents or
attorneys-in-fact selected by it in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct.

SECTION 10.03  Exculpatory Provisions. None of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary, the Collateral Agent, or any of
their respective directors, officers, employees or agents, shall be (i) liable for any action lawfully taken or omitted to be taken by any
of them under or in connection herewith or in connection with any of the other Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated
hereby or thereby (except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with its duties expressly set forth herein) or
(i1) responsible in any manner to any of the Lenders or participants for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by
the Borrower, TILC, any Seller or any other Person (other than itself) contained herein or in any of the other Loan Documents or in
any certificate, report, document, financial statement or other written or oral statement referred to or provided for in, or received by the
Administrative Agent, the Depositary or the Collateral Agent under or in connection herewith or in connection with the other Loan
Documents, or enforceability or sufficiency therefor of any of the other Loan Documents, or for any failure of the Borrower, TILC,
any Seller or any other Person (other than itself) to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder or be required to ascertain or
inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the terms, conditions, provisions, covenants or agreements contained herein or
therein or as to the use of the proceeds of the Loans or of the existence or possible existence of any Default or Event of Default or to
inspect the properties, books or records of the Borrower, TILC or any Seller.

SECTION 10.04 Reliance on Communications. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent
shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any note, writing, resolution, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit,
letter,
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cablegram, telegram, telecopy, telex, teletype or e-mail message, statement, order or other document or conversation believed by it to
be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons and upon advice and statements of legal
counsel (including, without limitation, counsel to the Borrower, TILC or any Seller, independent accountants and other experts
selected by the Administrative Agent in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct). The Administrative Agent may deem
and treat each Lender as the owner of its interests hereunder for all purposes unless a written notice of assignment, negotiation or
transfer thereof shall have been filed with the Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 11.06(b). Each of the Administrative
Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action under this Agreement or
under any of the other Loan Documents unless it shall first receive such advice or concurrence of all the Lenders (to the extent
specifically provided in Section 11.03) or the Required Lenders as it deems appropriate or it shall first be indemnified to its
satisfaction by the Lenders against any and all liability and expense which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to
take any such action. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in
acting, or in refraining from acting, hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents in accordance with a request of all the
Lenders (to the extent specifically provided in Section 11.03) or the Required Lenders and such request and any action taken or failure
to act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all the Lenders (including their successors and assigns). Where this Agreement expressly
permits or prohibits an action unless all the Lenders (to the extent specifically provided in Section 11.03) or the Required Lenders
otherwise determine, each of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent shall, and in all other instances each of
the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent may, but shall not be required to, initiate any solicitation for the
consent or vote of the Lenders.

SECTION 10.05  Notice of Default. Neither the Collateral Agent nor the Administrative Agent shall be deemed to have
Knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Trigger Event, DSCR Failure, Default, Servicer Replacement Event or Event of Default,
except with respect to defaults in the payment of principal, interest and fees required to be paid to the Administrative Agent for the
accounts of the Lenders, unless such party has received notice from a Lender, the Servicer or the Borrower referring to this Agreement
or the Servicing Agreement, as applicable, describing such Trigger Event, DSCR Failure, Default, Servicer Replacement Event or
Event of Default and stating that such notice is a “notice of trigger event”, “notice of DSCR failure”, “notice of default”, “notice of
servicer replacement event” or a “notice of event of default” as the case may be. If the Administrative Agent receives such a notice, the
Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to the Lenders. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent shall
take such action with respect to such Trigger Event, DSCR Failure, Default, Servicer Replacement Event or Event of Default as shall
be reasonably directed by, in the case of the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent and, in the case the Administrative Agent, the
Required Lenders; provided, however, that unless and until the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent, as the case may be, has
received any such direction, the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent, as the case may be, may (but shall not be obligated to)
take such action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to such

109



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

Trigger Event, DSCR Failure, Default, Servicer Replacement Event or Event of Default as it shall deem advisable or in the best
interest of the Lenders.

SECTION 10.06  Credit Decision; Disclosure of Information by Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent. Each Lender
expressly acknowledges that neither the Administrative Agent nor the Collateral Agent has made any representations or warranties to it
and that no act by the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent hereinafter taken, including any consent to and acceptance of any
assignment or review of the affairs of the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or
warranty by the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent to any Lender as to any matter, including whether the Administrative Agent
or Collateral Agent has disclosed material information in its possession. Each Lender represents to the Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any other
Lender, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own appraisal of and investigation into
the business, assets, operations, property, financial and other condition, prospects and creditworthiness of the Borrower, TILC and
each Seller, and all requirements of Applicable Law, and made its own decision to make its Loans hereunder and enter into this
Agreement. Each Lender also represents that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its
own credit analysis, appraisals and decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and
to make such investigation as it deems necessary to inform itself as to the business, assets, operations, property, financial and other
conditions, prospects and creditworthiness of the Borrower, TILC and each Seller. Except for notices, reports and other documents
expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent hereunder, neither the
Administrative Agent nor the Collateral Agent shall have any duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any credit or other
information concerning the business, operations, assets, property, financial or other conditions, prospects or creditworthiness of the
Borrower or its respective Affiliates which may come into the possession of the Administrative Agent or Collateral Agent, as the case
may be.

SECTION 10.07 Indemnification. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Lenders agree,
severally but not jointly, to indemnify the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent (to the extent not reimbursed
by the Borrower and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so), ratably according to their respective Commitments (or
if the Commitments have expired or been terminated, in accordance with the respective principal amounts of outstanding Loans of the
Lenders), from and against any and all Indemnified Liabilities which may at any time (including, without limitation, at any time
following payment in full of the Obligations and including the costs and expenses of enforcing such Obligations) be imposed on,
incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or the Collateral Agent in each of their respective capacities
as such in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or any documents contemplated by or
referred to herein or therein or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or any action taken or omitted by the Administrative
Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; provided that no Lender shall be liable

110



[Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement]

for the payment to the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent of any portion of such Indemnified Liabilities
resulting from such Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided, however, that no action taken in accordance with the
directions of the Required Lenders shall be deemed to constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct for purposes of this Section. If
any indemnity furnished to the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent for any purpose shall, in the opinion of the
Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent, as the case may be, be insufficient or become impaired, each of the
Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent may call for additional indemnity and cease, or not commence, to do the acts
indemnified against until such additional indemnity is furnished. Without limitation of the foregoing, each Lender shall reimburse each
of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and Collateral Agent upon demand for its ratable share of any costs or out-of-pocket
expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred by each of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and Collateral
Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, amendment or enforcement (whether
through negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities under, this Agreement,
any other Loan Document, or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, to the extent that the Administrative Agent, the
Depositary or Collateral Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by or on behalf of the Borrower. The agreements in this
Section shall survive the payment of the Obligations and all other obligations and amounts payable hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents.

SECTION 10.08 Administrative Agent, Depositary and Collateral Agent in Their Individual Capacities. The Administrative
Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and their respective Affiliates may make loans to, issue letters of credit for the account of,
accept deposits from, acquire Equity Interests in, and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust, financial advisory, underwriting
and other business with the Borrower as though the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent were not the
Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent hereunder or under another Loan Document. The Lenders acknowledge that,
pursuant to any such activities, the Administrative Agent, the Depositary, the Collateral Agent or their respective Affiliates may receive
information regarding the Borrower or its Affiliates (including information that may be subject to confidentiality obligations in favor
of the Borrower or such Affiliate) and acknowledge that none of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or the Collateral Agent shall
be under any obligation to provide such information to them. With respect to the Loans made by and all obligations owing to it, each
of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement as
any Lender and may exercise the same as though it was not the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or the Collateral Agent, and the
terms “Lender” and “Lenders” shall include the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent, as the case may be, in their
respective individual capacities. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary and the Collateral Agent shall have the same rights,
protections, indemnities, and immunities hereunder as are afforded to the Collateral Agent under the Security Agreement.

SECTION 10.09 Term; Successor Administrative Agents. The Administrative Agent may resign upon 30 days’ written notice
to the Lenders and the Borrower. If the Administrative Agent resigns as described above, the Required Lenders shall appoint a
successor
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Administrative Agent that is either (a) a Lender party to this Agreement on the Restatement Closing Date (each such Lender, an
“Original Lender”) or an Affiliate of an Original Lender (each Original Lender and their respective Affiliates, an “Approved Successor
Administrative Agent”), (b) a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender, or (c) a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United
States that has a combined capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000; provided that, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing at the time of such appointment, the Required Lenders shall have first obtained the prior written consent of the Borrower to
any successor Administrative Agent that is not an Approved Successor Administrative Agent, a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender
(which consent of the Borrower shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed). If no successor Administrative Agent is appointed
prior to the effective date of the resignation of the resigning Administrative Agent, the resigning Administrative Agent may appoint,
after consulting with the Lenders and the Borrower, a successor Administrative Agent that is an Approved Successor Administrative
Agent, a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender, or a commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States that has a combined
capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as an Administrative Agent hereunder by a
successor, such successor Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges
and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring Administrative Agent, shall be discharged from its duties and
obligations as an Administrative Agent, as appropriate, under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents and the provisions of this
Article X shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was an Administrative Agent under this
Agreement. If no successor Administrative Agent has accepted appointment as Administrative Agent within 60 days after the retiring
Administrative Agent’s giving notice of resignation, the retiring Administrative Agent’s resignation shall nevertheless become
effective and the Lenders shall perform all duties of the Administrative Agent hereunder until such time, if any, as the Required
Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided for above.

SECTION 10.10 Request for Documents. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent shall from time to time
upon reasonable request therefor furnish each Lender with copies of the Funding Package, Railcar Documentation, Lease Documents
and/or Loan Documents (to the extent such Funding Package, Railcar Documentation, Lease Documents and/or Loan Documents are
provided by the Borrower or other third parties, in the form and to the extent provided to the Administrative Agent or the Collateral
Agent by the Borrower or such third parties).

SECTION 10.11 Erroneous Payments.

(a) Each Lender, each other Protected Party and any other party hereto hereby severally agrees that if (i) the Administrative
Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary notifies (which such notice shall be conclusive absent manifest error) such Lender or
any other Protected Party (or the Lender Affiliate of a Protected Party) or any other Person that has received funds from the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary or any of their respective Affiliates, either for its own account or on behalf
of'a Lender or other Protected Party (each such recipient, a “Payment Recipient”) that the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
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Agent or the Depositary has determined in its sole discretion that any funds received by such Payment Recipient were erroneously
transmitted to, or otherwise erroneously or mistakenly received by, such Payment Recipient (whether or not known to such Payment
Recipient) or (ii) any Payment Recipient receives any payment from the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary
(or any of their respective Affiliates) (x) that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of
payment, prepayment or repayment sent by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary (or any of their respective
Affiliates) with respect to such payment, prepayment or repayment, as applicable, (y) that was not preceded or accompanied by a
notice of payment, prepayment or repayment sent by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary (or any of their
respective Affiliates) with respect to such payment, prepayment or repayment, as applicable, or (z) that such Payment Recipient
otherwise becomes aware was transmitted or received in error or by mistake (in whole or in part) then, in each case, an error in
payment shall be presumed to have been made (any such amounts specified in clauses (i) or (ii) of this Section 10.11(a), whether
received as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees, distribution or otherwise; individually and collectively, an
“Erroneous Payment”), then, in each case, such Payment Recipient is deemed to have knowledge of such error at the time of its receipt
of such Erroneous Payment; provided that nothing in this Section shall require the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the
Depositary to provide any of the notices specified in clauses (i) or (ii) above. Each Payment Recipient agrees that it shall not assert any
right or claim to any Erroneous Payment, and hereby waives any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or recoupment with
respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary for the return of any
Erroneous Payments, including without limitation waiver of any defense based on “discharge for value” or any similar doctrine.

(b) Without limiting the immediately preceding clause (a), each Payment Recipient agrees that, in the case of clause (a)(ii)

above, it shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, in writing of such
occurrence.

(¢) In the case of either clause (a)(i)_or (a)(ii) above, such Erroneous Payment shall at all times remain the property of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, and shall be segregated by the Payment Recipient and held
in trust for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, and upon demand from the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, such Payment Recipient shall (or, shall cause any Person
who received any portion of an Erroneous Payment on its behalf to), promptly, but in all events no later than one Business Day
thereafter, return to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, the amount of any such Erroneous
Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made in same day funds and in the currency so received, together with
interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such
Payment Recipient to the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable,
at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as
applicable, in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect.
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(d) In the event that an Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, for any reason, after demand therefor by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the
Depositary, as applicable, in accordance with immediately preceding clause (c), from any Lender that is a Payment Recipient or an
Affiliate of a Payment Recipient (such unrecovered amount as to such Lender, an “Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency”), then at
the sole discretion of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, and upon the Administrative
Agent’s, the Collateral Agent’s or the Depositary’s, as applicable, written notice to such Lender (i) such Lender shall be deemed to
have made a cashless assignment of the full face amount of the portion of its Loans (but not its Commitments) with respect to which
such Erroneous Payment was made (the “Erroneous Payment Impacted Class™) to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or
the Depositary, as applicable, or, at the option of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, the
Administrative Agent’s, the Collateral Agent’s or the Depositary’s, as applicable, applicable lending affiliate in an amount that is equal
to the Erroneous Payment Return Deficiency (or such lesser amount as the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the
Depositary, as applicable, may specify) (such assignment of the Loans (but not Commitments) of the Erroneous Payment Impacted
Class, the “Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment”) plus any accrued and unpaid interest on such assigned amount, without
further consent or approval of any party hereto and without any payment by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the
Depositary, as applicable, or its applicable lending affiliate as the assignee of such Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment.
Without limitation of its rights hereunder, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, may cancel
any Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment at any time by written notice to the applicable assigning Lender and upon such
revocation all of the Loans assigned pursuant to such Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment shall be reassigned to such Lender
without any requirement for payment or other consideration. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that (1) any assignment
contemplated in this clause (d) shall be made without any requirement for any payment or other consideration paid by the applicable
assignee or received by the assignor, (2) the provisions of this clause (d) shall govern in the event of any conflict with the terms and
conditions of Section 11.06 and (3) the Administrative Agent may reflect such assignments in the Register without further consent or
action by any other Person.

(e) Each party hereto hereby agrees that (x) in the event an Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered from any
Payment Recipient that has received such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) for any reason, the Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as applicable, (1) shall be subrogated to all the rights of such Payment Recipient with respect to
such amount and (2) is authorized to set off, net and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Payment Recipient under
any Loan Document, or otherwise payable or distributable by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary, as
applicable, to such Payment Recipient from any source, against any amount due to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or
the Depositary, as applicable, under this Section 10.11 or under the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, (y) the receipt of an
Erroneous Payment by a Payment Recipient shall not for the purpose of this Agreement be treated as a payment, prepayment,
repayment, discharge or other satisfaction of any Obligations owed by the
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Borrower, the Servicer or a Seller, except, in each case, to the extent such Erroneous Payment is, and solely with respect to the amount
of such Erroneous Payment that is, comprised of funds received by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Depositary,
as applicable, from the Borrower, the Servicer or a Seller for the purpose of making a payment on the Obligations and (z) to the extent
that an Erroneous Payment was in any way or at any time credited as payment or satisfaction of any of the Obligations, the Obligations
or any part thereof that were so credited, and all rights of the Payment Recipient, as the case may be, shall be reinstated and continue
in full force and effect as if such payment or satisfaction had never been received.

(f) Each party’s obligations under this Section 10.11 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent,
the Collateral Agent and the Depositary or any transfer of right or obligations by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of
the Commitments or the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all Obligations (or any portion thereof) under any Loan Document.

(g) Nothing in this Section 10.11 will (i) constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from any
Payment Recipient’s receipt of an Erroneous Payment or (ii) give rise to any additional or increased costs or obligations on the part of
the Borrower.

(h) This Section 10.11 shall not apply to any Derivatives Creditor and the related Derivatives Agreements.

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 11.01  Notices and Other Communications. (a) General. Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, all notices
and other communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing (including by facsimile transmission) and mailed, faxed or
delivered, to the address, facsimile number or electronic mail address specified for notices as set forth on Schedule 11.01 or at such
other address as shall be designated by such party in a notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. All such notices and other
communications shall be deemed to be given or made upon the earlier to occur of (i) actual receipt by the intended recipient and
(i1) (A) if delivered by hand or by courier, when signed for by the intended recipient; (B) if delivered by mail, (x) in the case of any
notice or communication addressed or copied to the Collateral Agent or the Depositary only, upon receipt by the addressee thereof, and
(y) in the case of any notice or communication addressed or copied to any other Person, four Business Days after deposit in the mails,
postage prepaid; (C) if delivered by facsimile, when sent and receipt has been confirmed by telephone; and (D) if delivered by
electronic mail, upon the sender’s receipt of an acknowledgment from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested”
function, return e-mail or other written acknowledgment); provided, however, that notices and other communications to the
Administrative Agent pursuant to Article II shall not be effective until actually received by such Person. Any notice or other
communication permitted to be given, made or confirmed by telephone hereunder shall be given, made or confirmed by means of a
telephone call to the intended recipient at the number specified on
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Schedule 11.01, it being understood and agreed that a voicemail message shall in no event be effective as a notice, communication or
confirmation hereunder.

(b) Effectiveness of Facsimile Documents and Signatures. Loan Documents may be transmitted and/or signed by facsimile
or other electronic means. The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, subject to requirements of Applicable Law,
have the same force and effect as manually-signed originals and shall be binding on the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent, the Depositary and the Lenders. The Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Depositary may also
require that any such documents and signatures be confirmed by a manually-signed original thereof; provided, however, that the
failure to request or deliver the same shall not limit the effectiveness of any facsimile document or signature.

(c) Reliance by Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent and Lenders. The Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the
Depositary and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely and act upon any notices purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower
even if (i) such notices were not made in a manner specified herein, were incomplete or were not preceded or followed by any other
form of notice specified herein or (ii) the terms thereof, as understood by the recipient, varied from any confirmation thereof. The
Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and each Lender from all losses, costs,
expenses and liabilities resulting from the reliance by such Person on each notice purportedly given by or on behalf of the
Borrower. All telephonic notices to and other communications with the Administrative Agent may be recorded by the
Administrative Agent, and each of the parties hereto hereby consents to such recording.

SECTION 11.02  No Waiver;_Cumulative Remedies. No failure or delay on the part of the Administrative Agent, the
Collateral Agent, the Depositary or any Lender in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any other Loan
Document and no course of dealing between the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary or any Lender and the
Borrower shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder or under
any other Loan Document preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege
hereunder or thereunder. The rights and remedies provided herein are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary or any Lender would otherwise have. No notice to or demand on the
Borrower in any case shall entitle the Borrower to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances or constitute
a waiver of the rights of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary or the Lenders to any other or further action in
any circumstances without notice or demand.

SECTION 11.03 Amendments, Waivers and Consents. Subject to Section 3.06(c), neither this Agreement nor any other Loan
Document (other than the Administrative Agent Fee Letter which may be amended in accordance with its terms and, solely with
respect to a joinder thereto of any Person that becomes a Seller after the Restatement Closing Date, the Purchase and Contribution
Agreement which may be amended in accordance with its terms) nor any of the
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terms hereof or thereof may be amended, changed, waived, discharged or terminated except, in the case of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements or a consent or consents in writing entered into by the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent (acting at the direction of the Required Lenders); provided that the foregoing shall not restrict the ability of the
Administrative Agent (x) at the direction of the Required Lenders to waive any Event of Default prior to the time the Administrative
Agent (at the direction of the Required Lenders) shall have declared the Loans immediately due and payable pursuant to Article IX, or
(y) to effect any amendments to the Loan Documents as a result of the making of any New Term Loans in accordance with Section
2.14; provided, however, that:

(i) no such amendment, change, waiver, discharge or termination shall, without the consent of each Lender affected
thereby:

(A) extend the Maturity Date or any payment of the Loans due thereon; provided that this clause (A) shall not
restrict the ability of the Required Lenders to waive any Event of Default (other than an Event of Default the waiver of
which would effectively result in any such extension or waiver), prior to the time the Administrative Agent shall have
declared, or the Required Lenders shall have requested the Administrative Agent to declare, the Loans immediately due
and payable pursuant to Article IX;

(B) reduce the rate, or extend the time of payment, of interest (other than as a result of waiving the
applicability of any post-default increase in interest rates) thereon or fees hereunder or amend or modify or, if
applicable, waive the effects of the definition of “Applicable Facility Margin”;

(C) reduce or waive the principal amount of any Loan or amend or modify or, if applicable, waive the effects
of the definition of “Required Principal Payment Amount”;

(D) increase the Commitment of a Lender over the amount thereof in effect (it being understood and agreed
that a waiver of any Default, Servicer Replacement Event or Event of Default or a mandatory reduction in the
Commitments shall not constitute a change in the terms of any Commitment of any Lender);

(E) release any Collateral securing the Credit Obligations hereunder (provided that the Collateral Agent may,
without consent from any other Lender, release any Collateral that is sold or transferred by the Borrower in compliance
with Section 7.05, or released in compliance with Section 9.12 of the Security Agreement);

(F) amend, modify or waive any provision of Section 7.12;

(G) release the Borrower, TILC or any Seller from its respective obligations under the Loan Documents;
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(H) amend, modify or waive any provision of this Section 11.03, amend or modify any reference to or, if
applicable, waive the effects of the definition of “Required Lenders”, “Supermajority Lenders” or to any other
provisions requiring a particular number or percentage of Lenders (whether based on number, Credit Exposure or
otherwise), or reduce any percentage specified in, or otherwise modify, the definition of “Required Lenders” or
“Supermajority Lenders”;

(I) amend or modify or, if applicable, waive the effects of the definition of “Advance”, “Advance Rate”, “New
Term Loan Advance Rate”, “Loan-to-Value Ratio”, “LTV Maximum Ratio”, “LTV Cash Sweep Ratio Threshold”,
“LTV Breach”, “LTV Cash Sweep Event”, “LTV Trigger Event”, “LTV Failure”, “DSCR”, “DSCR Minimum” or
“DSCR Failure”;

(J)  consent to the assignment or transfer by the Borrower of any of its rights and obligations under (or in
respect of) the Loan Documents except as permitted thereby;

(K) amend or modify or, if applicable, waive the effects of the definition of “Maturity Date”;
(L) amend, modify or waive any provision of Section 2.07(¢c);

(M) amend, modify or waive any provision of Sections 2.10 or 2.11; or

(N) subordinate any of the Credit Obligations in right of payment or otherwise adversely affect the priority of
payment of any of such Credit Obligations or subordinate any of the Liens securing the Credit Obligations;

(i)  no such amendment, change, waiver, discharge or termination shall, without the consent of the Supermajority

Lenders affected thereby:

(A) amend or modify or, if applicable, waive the effects of the definition of “Monthly Report” or amend,
modify or waive any of Exhibit A-3; or

(B) amend or modify or, if applicable, waive the effects of the definition of “Concentration Limits” or amend,
modify or waive any of Schedule A; and

(iii)) no provision of Article X may be amended without the consent of the Administrative Agent.

Notwithstanding the fact that the consent of all the Lenders is required in certain circumstances as set forth above, (i) each
Lender is entitled to vote as such Lender sees fit on any bankruptcy reorganization plan that affects the Loans, and each Lender
acknowledges that the provisions of Section 1126(c) of the Bankruptcy Code supersede the unanimous consent
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provisions set forth herein and (ii) the Required Lenders may consent to allow the Borrower to use cash collateral in the context of a
bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding.

No amendment to (a) the definitions of “Creditor”, “Derivatives Agreement”, “Derivatives Creditor”, “Derivatives
Obligations”, “Derivatives Termination Value”, “Obligations” or “Protected Party” contained in Section 1.01 and the definition of
“Secured Obligations” in Section 1.01 of the Security Agreement, Section 2.07(a)(iii), Section 2.07(b) or Section 2.07(c), Section 5.25,
Section 9.01, Section 9.03, this paragraph of Section 11.03, Section 11.05, Section 11.17, and Section 9.06 of the Security Agreement
only, shall be effective without the written consent of the Derivatives Creditors and (b) any other provision of this Agreement in a
manner that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on a Derivatives Creditor shall be effective without the
written consent of such Derivatives Creditor.

Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else herein to the contrary, the Administrative Agent (and, if applicable, the
Borrower) may, without the consent of any Lender or any other party hereto, enter into amendments or modifications to this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or enter into additional Loan Documents in order to implement any Benchmark
Replacement or any Conforming Changes or otherwise effectuate the terms of Section 3.06(c) in accordance with the terms of Section
3.06(c).

The various requirements of this Section 11.03 are cumulative. Each Lender and each holder of a Note shall be bound by any
waiver, amendment or modification authorized by this Section 11.03 regardless of whether its Note shall have been marked to make
reference therein, and any consent by any Lender or holder of a Note pursuant to this Section 11.03 shall bind any Person subsequently
acquiring a Note from it, whether or not such Note shall have been so marked.

SECTION 11.04 Expenses. The Borrower shall pay promptly on demand, but in any event by the next Settlement Date that is
at least ten (10) Business Days following demand, all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses (including all reasonable
and documented attorneys’ fees and expenses of a single law firm as primary counsel to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, to
the extent reasonably necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction and, solely in the event of an actual or
perceived conflict of interest, one additional law firm (and, if necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction) to
each group of similarly situated affected Persons, and a single law firm as primary counsel to the Collateral Agent and the Depositary
and, to the extent reasonably necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction) incurred by the Administrative Agent
(and its Affiliates), the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and, in respect of such expenses set forth in clause (iii) below, the Lenders: (i)
in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, supplement or amendment of the Loan
Documents and in connection with the Borrowing, including, without limitation, (A) due diligence, collateral review, syndication,
duplication, audit, insurance, consultant, search, filing and recording fees and expenses and (B) the reasonable and documented fees
and expenses of a single law firm as primary counsel to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, to the extent reasonably necessary,
a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction and, solely in the event of an actual or perceived conflict of
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interest, one additional law firm (and, if necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction) to each group of similarly
situated affected Persons, and a single law firm as primary counsel to the Collateral Agent and the Depositary and, to the extent
reasonably necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction, in each case, with respect thereto, with respect to
advising the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Lenders and the Depositary as to its rights and responsibilities, or the
perfection, protection or preservation of rights and interests, under the Loan Documents and Lease Documents, (ii) in connection with
wire transfers to be made by the Administrative Agent, the Depositary or Collateral Agent in connection with the distribution of
proceeds under this Agreement and (iii) in connection with any amendment, modification, supplement (or, if related to a request by the
Borrower or any Lessee, interpretation), or waiver under any of the Notes or other Loan Documents and Lease Documents whether or
not such amendment, refinancing, modification, supplement, interpretation or waiver is obtained or becomes effective, and in
connection with any potential, actual or proposed restructuring or workout of the transactions contemplated hereby or by the other
Loan Documents.

The Borrower shall pay promptly on demand, but in any event by the next Settlement Date that is at least ten (10) Business
Days following demand, (i) all reasonable and documented filing fees and all reasonable and documented attorneys’ fees and expenses
incurred by the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and the Administrative Agent and all reasonable and documented fees and expenses of
special STB or other collateral or regulatory counsel (and other local counsel reasonably engaged by the Collateral Agent, the
Depositary or the Administrative Agent), as the case may be, in connection with the preparation and review of the Collateral
Documents and the other Loan Documents and Lease Documents from time to time entered into or reviewed pursuant to this
Agreement and all documents related thereto, the search of railcar conveyance and Lien records, the recordation of documents with the
STB or other applicable Governmental Authority, inspection and appraisal fees and the making of the Loans hereunder, whether or not
the Restatement Closing Date or other transaction contemplated hereby closes and (ii) all Taxes which the Collateral Agent or any
Protected Party may be required to pay solely by reason of the security interests granted in the Collateral (including any applicable
transfer Taxes) or to free any of the Collateral from the lien thereof.

In addition, the Borrower shall pay promptly on demand, but in any event by the next Settlement Date that is at least ten (10)
Business Days following demand, all reasonable and documented out of pocket expenses (including reasonable and documented
attorneys’ fees and expenses of a single law firm as primary counsel to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, to the extent
reasonably necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction and, solely in the event of an actual or perceived conflict
of interest, one additional law firm (and, if necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction) to each group of
similarly situated affected Persons and fees and expenses of any expert witnesses, and a single law firm as primary counsel to the
Collateral Agent and, to the extent reasonably necessary, a single law firm in each relevant material jurisdiction) incurred by the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders in connection with the enforcement and protection of the rights of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders under any of the Loan Documents and any amendments thereto and
waivers thereof and any Servicer Replacement Event, Default
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or Event of Default, including, without limitation, the performance by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the Lenders of
any act the Borrower, TILC or any Seller has covenanted to do under the Loan Documents and/or the Servicing Documents to the
extent the Borrower, TILC or any Seller fails to comply with any such covenant.

The Borrower shall pay all fees and expenses in connection with the Depository Agreement, including, without limitation, all
fees (including any annual fee payable to the Depositary pursuant to the Depository Agreement), expenses and any indemnity
payments to the Depositary and all fees and expenses in creating, maintaining and administrating the Accounts.

Except in respect of the Taxes specifically referred to above, this Section 11.04 shall not apply with respect to Taxes, which are
governed solely by Section 3.01 and Section 3.03.

SECTION 11.05 Indemnification. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Borrower
agrees to indemnify, save and hold harmless the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary, each Lender, each
Derivatives Creditor and their respective Affiliates, directors, officers, employees, counsel, agents and attorneys-in-fact (collectively,
the “Indemnitees”) from and against (and without duplication of amounts payable or the provisions which relate to such payment
under the other provisions of the Loan Documents) any losses, costs or expenses arising from: (i) any and all claims, demands, actions
or causes of action that may at any time (including at any time following repayment of the Obligations and the resignation or removal
of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or the replacement of any Lender) be asserted or imposed against any Indemnitee,
arising out of or relating to, the Loan Documents, the Commitments, the use of or contemplated use of the proceeds of any Loan, or
the relationship of the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement or any other Loan Document (other
than those resulting from a dispute solely among Indemnitees other than any claims against an Indemnitee in its capacity or fulfilling
its role as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent or Depositary); (ii) any administrative or investigative proceeding by any
Governmental Authority arising out of or related to a claim, demand, action or cause of action described in clause (i); (iii) any Loan
Document, Lease Document or any document contemplated hereby or thereby and payments made pursuant hereto or thereto or any
transaction contemplated hereby or thereby or the exercise of rights and remedies hereunder or thereunder, and any breach by TILC,
the Borrower or any Seller of any Loan Document or Lease Document, (iv) any Railcar, any Part or the Borrower’s acquisition or
ownership of, or the selection, design, financing, lease, control, operation, condition, location, storage, modification, repair, sale, use,
maintenance, possession, registration, delivery, non-delivery, transportation, transfer or disposition of, any Railcar or Part; (v) any and
all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, claims, demands, actions, suits, judgments, costs and expenses of any kind,
including, without limitation, the reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of counsel and the reasonable and documented
fees and expenses of enforcing the Borrower’s contractual and indemnification obligations under the Loan Documents, which may be
incurred by, imposed on or asserted against such Indemnitee in connection with any investigation or administrative or judicial
proceeding (whether or not such Indemnitee shall be designated a party thereto) brought or threatened relating to or arising out of any
Loan Document or in any other way connected with the enforcement of any of the terms of,
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or the presentation of any rights under, or in any way relating to or arising out of the manufacture, ownership, ordering, purchasing,
delivery, control, acceptance, lease, financing, possession, operation, condition, sale, return or other disposition or use of the Collateral
(including, without limitation, intent or other defects, whether or not discoverable), the violation of any laws of any country, state or
other governmental body or unit, or any tort (including, without limitation, any claims arising or imposed under the doctrine of strict
liability), or for or on account of injury to or the death of any Person (including any Indemnitees), or property damage or contract
claim; and (vi) any and all liabilities (including liabilities under indemnities), losses, costs or expenses (including reasonable fees and
disbursements of one legal counsel, collectively, of the Indemnitees other than the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent, and
one legal counsel of each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent (or one legal counsel for both the Administrative Agent
and the Collateral Agent if the same Person serves in both capacities)) that any Indemnitee suffers or incurs as a result of the assertion
of any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding, or as a result of the preparation of any defense in connection
with any foregoing claim, demand, action, cause of action or proceeding, in all cases, and whether or not an Indemnitee is a party to
such claim, demand, action, cause of action, or proceeding (all the foregoing, collectively, the “Indemnified Liabilities”). THE
FOREGOING INDEMNIFICATION SHALL APPLY WHETHER OR NOT SUCH LIABILITIES AND COSTS ARE IN ANY
WAY OR TO ANY EXTENT OWED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, UNDER ANY CLAIM OR THEORY OF STRICT
LIABILITY OR CAUSED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF ANY KIND BY ANY
INDEMNITEE; provided that no Indemnitee shall be entitled to indemnification for any claim caused by its own fraud, gross
negligence or willful misconduct; provided, further, that no Indemnitee shall be entitled to indemnification under this Section 11.05 in
respect of (a) Taxes (which shall be governed solely by Section 3.01 and Section 3.03), other than Taxes imposed with respect to
indemnity payments arising from a non-tax claim or (b) losses which result from or arise out of or are attributable to a non-exempt
prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code caused by the incorrectness of a Lender’s representation in Section
8.01. In the case of an investigation, litigation or other proceeding to which the indemnity in this Section 11.05 applies, such
indemnity shall be effective whether or not such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by TILC, the Borrower, any Seller,
their respective directors, shareholders or creditors or an Indemnitee or any other Person or any Indemnitee is otherwise a party thereto
and whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated. Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement
of the Borrower or any Indemnitee hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, the agreements and obligations of the Borrower
and each Indemnitee contained in this Section 11.05 shall survive the repayment of the Loans and other obligations under the Loan
Documents and the termination of the Commitments hereunder.

The Borrower shall, no later than the next Settlement Date that is at least ten (10) Business Days following demand, reimburse
any Indemnitee for any Indemnified Liability referred to above or, upon request from any Indemnitee, shall pay such amounts directly.
Any payment made to or on behalf of any Indemnitee pursuant to this Section 11.05 shall be adjusted to such amount as will, after
taking into account all Taxes imposed with respect to the accrual or receipt of such payment (as the same may be increased pursuant to
this sentence), equal the
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amount of the payment. To the extent that the Borrower in fact indemnifies any Indemnitee pursuant to the provisions of this Section
11.05 (other than in respect of Taxes), the Borrower shall be subrogated to such Indemnitee’s rights in the affected transaction and
shall have a right to determine the settlement of claims therein.

If a claim of the type described above is made against an Indemnitee and such Indemnitee has notice thereof, such Indemnitee
shall promptly, upon receiving such notice, give notice of such claim to the Borrower; provided that the failure to provide such notice
shall not release the Borrower from any of its obligations hereunder except if and to the extent that such failure results in an increase in
the Borrower’s indemnification obligations hereunder. The Borrower shall be entitled, in each case at its sole cost and expense, acting
through counsel reasonably acceptable to the relevant Indemnitee: (i) in any judicial or administrative proceeding that involves solely
a claim of the type described above, to assume responsibility for and control thereof, (ii) in any judicial or administrative proceeding
involving a claim of the type described above and other claims related or unrelated to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
or any other Loan Document (other than with respect to Taxes), to assume responsibility for and control of such claim, to the extent
that the same may be and is severed from such other claims (and such Indemnitee shall use its best efforts to obtain such severance),
and (iii) in any other case, to be consulted by such Indemnitee with respect to judicial proceedings subject to the control of such
Indemnitee. Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, the Borrower shall not be entitled to assume responsibility for
and control of any such judicial or administrative proceedings: (A) while an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;
(B) if such proceedings will involve any risk of criminal liability or a material risk of the sale, forfeiture or loss of any part of the
Collateral; or (C) to the extent that the Indemnitee has defenses available to it which are not available to the Borrower and allowing
the Borrower to assert such defenses will be prejudicial to the interests of such Indemnitee; provided that the limitation on the
Borrower’s ability to control such judicial or administrative proceeding shall apply only to those aspects of such proceeding which
address issues with respect to which such defenses are available.

The relevant Indemnitee shall supply the Borrower with such information reasonably requested by the Borrower as is
necessary or advisable for the Borrower to control or participate in any proceeding to the extent permitted by this Section 11.05. Such
Indemnitee shall not enter into a settlement or other compromise with respect to any covered claim without the prior written consent of
the Borrower, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, unless such Indemnitee waives its right to be protected
with respect to such covered claim.

SECTION 11.06  Successors, Assigns, and Participants. (a) Generally. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of and be enforceable by the respective successors and assigns of the parties hereto; provided that the Borrower may not assign
or transfer any of its interests and obligations without the prior written consent of the Lenders.

(b) Assignments. Any Lender may assign all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including,
without limitation, all or a portion of its Loans); provided, however, that:
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(i) each such assignment shall be to an Eligible Assignee;

(il))  the aggregate amount of the Loans of the assigning Lender subject to such assignment shall not be less than
$5,000,000 (or such lesser amount as shall equal the assigning Lender’s entire Loans); and

(iii)  the parties to such assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent for its acceptance an
Assignment and Acceptance in the form of Exhibit C, together with any Note subject to such assignment and, unless waived by
the Administrative Agent, a processing fee of $3,500, payable by the assigning Lender to the Administrative Agent.

(c) Assignment and Acceptance. By executing and delivering an Assignment and Acceptance in accordance with this
Section 11.06, the assigning Lender thereunder and the assignee thereunder shall be deemed to confirm to and agree with each other
and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) such assigning Lender warrants that it is the legal and beneficial owner of the interest
being assigned thereby free and clear of any adverse claim and the assignee warrants that it is an Eligible Assignee; (ii) except as set
forth in clause (i), such assigning Lender makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any
statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents or any
other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto, or the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness,
sufficiency or value of this Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant
hereto or thereto or the financial condition of the Borrower, TILC or any Seller or the performance or observance by the Borrower
of any of its obligations under this Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents or any other instrument or document furnished
pursuant hereto or thereto; (iii) such assignee represents and warrants that it is legally authorized to enter into such assignment
agreement; (iv) such assignee confirms that it has received a copy of this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, together with
copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.01 and such other documents and information as it
has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into such Assignment and Acceptance; (v) such
assignee will independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, such assigning Lender or any
other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own
credit decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents; (vi) such assignee appoints and
authorizes each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent to take such action on its behalf and to exercise such powers
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document as are delegated to each of the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent by
the terms hereof or thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto; and (vii) such assignee agrees that it will
perform in accordance with their terms all the obligations which by the terms of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are
required to be performed by it as a Lender. Upon execution, delivery, and acceptance of such Assignment and Acceptance and the
recording of such assignment in the Register under Section 11.06(d), the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the
extent of such
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assignment, have the obligations, rights, and benefits of a Lender hereunder and the assigning Lender shall, to the extent of such
assignment, relinquish its rights and be released from its obligations under this Agreement. Upon the consummation of any
assignment pursuant to this Section 11.06(c), the assignor, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall make appropriate
arrangements so that, if required, new Notes are issued to the assignor and the assignee. The assignee shall deliver to the Borrower
and the Administrative Agent certification as to exemption from deduction or withholding of Taxes in accordance with Section 3.01.

(d)  Register. The Borrower hereby designates the Administrative Agent to serve as the Borrower’s agent, solely for
purposes of this Section 11.06(d), to (i) maintain a register (the “Register’”) on which the Administrative Agent will record the
Commitments from time to time of each Lender, the Loans made by each Lender and each repayment in respect of the principal
amount (and stated interest) of the Loans of each Lender and to (ii) retain a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to
the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Section. Failure to make any such recordation, or any error in such recordation, shall not
affect the Borrower’s obligation in respect of such Loans. The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, in the absence of manifest
error, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person in whose name a Loan and the Note
evidencing the same is registered as the owner thereof for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice or any provision
herein to the contrary. With respect to any Lender, the assignment or other transfer of the rights to the principal of, and interest on,
any Loan made and any Note issued pursuant to this Agreement shall not be effective until such assignment or other transfer is
recorded on the Register and, except to the extent provided in this Section 11.06(d), otherwise complies with Section 11.06, and
prior to such recordation all amounts owing to the transferring Lender with respect to such Loans and Notes shall remain owing to
the transferring Lender. The registration of assignment or other transfer of all or part of any Loans and Notes for a Lender shall be
recorded by the Administrative Agent on the Register only upon the acceptance by the Administrative Agent of a properly executed
be available at the offices where kept by the Administrative Agent for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender at any reasonable
time upon reasonable prior notice to the Administrative Agent.

(e) Participations. Each Lender may, without the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell participations
to one or more Eligible Assignees in all or a portion of its rights, obligations or rights and obligations under this Agreement
(including all or a portion of the Loans owing to it and any Notes held by it); provided, however, that (i) such Lender’s obligations
under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the
performance of such obligations, (iii) the participant shall be entitled to the benefit of right of setoff contained in Section 11.08 and
the yield protection provisions contained in Sections 3.01 and 3.03 solely to the extent that the Lender from which such participant
acquired its participation would be entitled to the benefits of such yield protections; provided that the Borrower shall not be
required to reimburse any participant pursuant to Sections 3.01 or 3.03 in an amount which exceeds the
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amount that would have been payable thereunder to such Lender had such Lender not sold such participation; provided further, that
no participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 3.01 unless it shall have complied with Section 3.01 as if it were a Lender
and (iv) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in
connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, and such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce
the obligations of the Borrower relating to the Obligations owing to such Lender and to approve any amendment, modification or
waiver of any provision of this Agreement (other than amendments, modifications or waivers decreasing the amount of principal of
or the rate at which interest is payable on such Loans or Notes, extending any scheduled principal payment date or date fixed for the
payment of interest on such Loans or Notes or extending its Commitment). Each Lender that sells a participating interest in any
Loan, Commitment or other interest to a participant shall, as agent for the Borrower solely for the purpose of this Section 11.06,
maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of
each participant’s interest in the Loans, Commitments or other interest (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall
have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any participant or any
information relating to a participant’s interest in any commitments, loans, or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any
Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, or other interest is in
registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations and Section 1.163-5(b) of the United States
Proposed Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender
shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this
Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Administrative Agent (in its capacity as
Administrative Agent) shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.

(f) Other Assignments. Any Lender may at any time (i) assign all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement and any
Loans and Notes to a Federal Reserve Bank or other similar central bank and (ii) pledge or assign a security interest in all or any
portion of its interest and rights under this Agreement (including all or any portion of its Loans and Notes, if any) to secure
obligations of such Lender; provided that no such assignment, option, pledge or security interest shall release a Lender from any of
its obligations hereunder or substitute any such Federal Reserve Bank or other similar central bank or other person to which such
option, pledge or assignment has been made for such Lender as a party hereto.

SECTION 11.07 Confidentiality. Each of the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain
the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (i) to its Affiliates and its and its
Affiliates’ directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors and its insurers, reinsurers
and insurance brokers (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential
nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential); (ii) to the extent requested by any regulatory
authority with jurisdiction over the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or Lender, as
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applicable; (iii) to the extent required by Applicable Laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process; (iv) to any other
party to this Agreement; (v) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this
Agreement or any other Loan Documents or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder; (vi) subject to an agreement containing
provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (A) any Eligible Assignee of or participant in, or any prospective Eligible
Assignee of or participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement and any Federal Reserve Bank or other similar
central bank or other Person to whom pledge or assignment is or is contemplated to be made as described in Section 11.06(f), or
(B) any direct or indirect contractual counterparty or prospective counterparty (or such contractual counterparty’s or prospective
counterparty’s professional advisor) to any credit derivative transaction relating to obligations of the Borrower; (vii) with the written
consent of the Borrower; (viii) to the extent such information (A) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this
Section or (B) becomes available to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a
source other than the Borrower; or (ix) to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or any other similar organization or
any nationally recognized rating agency that requires access to information about a Lender’s or its Affiliates’ investment portfolio in
connection with ratings issued with respect to such Lender or its Affiliates. For the purposes of this Section, “Information” means all
information received from or on behalf of the Borrower, TILC, any Seller or the Servicer relating to the Borrower, TILC, such Seller
or the Servicer or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or
any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by or on behalf of the Borrower, TILC, such Seller or the Servicer. Any
Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its
obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such
Person would accord to its own confidential information. The provisions of this Section 11.07 are in addition to, and not in substitution
of, any additional, separate agreements related to confidentiality and/or non-disclosure entered into between the Borrower and any
Protected Party from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing herein prohibits any individual from communicating or
disclosing information regarding suspected violations of laws, rules, or regulations to a governmental, regulatory, or self-regulatory
authority without any notification to any party.

SECTION 11.08  Set-off. In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under Applicable Law or otherwise, and not by
way of limitation of any such rights, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, each Lender (and each of
its Affiliates) is authorized at any time and from time to time, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind (all of
such rights being hereby expressly waived), to set-off and to appropriate and apply any and all deposits (general or specific) and any
other indebtedness at any time held or owing by such Lender (including, without limitation, branches, agencies or Affiliates of such
Lender wherever located) to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against obligations and liabilities of the Borrower to the
Lenders hereunder, under the Loans and Notes, under the other Loan Documents or otherwise, irrespective of whether the
Administrative Agent or the Lenders shall have made any demand hereunder and although such obligations, liabilities or claims, or
any of them, may be contingent or unmatured, and any such set-off shall
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be deemed to have been made immediately upon the occurrence of an Event of Default even though such charge is made or entered on
the books of such Lender subsequent thereto. The Borrower hereby agrees that to the extent permitted by law any Person purchasing a
participation in the Loans hereunder may exercise all rights of set-off with respect to its participation interest as fully as if such Person
were a Lender hereunder and any such set-off shall reduce the amount owed by the Borrower to the Lender.

SECTION 11.09 Interest Rate Limitation. The Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower and any other parties to
the Loan Documents intend to contract in strict compliance with applicable usury law from time to time in effect. In furtherance
thereof such Persons stipulate and agree that none of the terms and provisions contained in the Loan Documents shall ever be
construed to create a contract to pay, for the use, forbearance or detention of money, interest in excess of the maximum amount of
interest permitted to be charged by Applicable Law from time to time in effect (the “Maximum Rate”). Neither the Borrower nor any
present or future guarantors, endorsers, or other Persons hereafter becoming liable for payment of any Credit Obligation shall ever be
liable for unearned interest thereon or shall ever be required to pay interest thereon in excess of the maximum amount that may be
lawfully charged under Applicable Law from time to time in effect, and the provisions of this Section shall control over all other
provisions of the Loan Documents which may be in conflict or apparent conflict herewith. The Lenders and the Administrative Agent
expressly disavow any intention to charge or collect excessive unearned interest or finance charges in the event the maturity of any
Credit Obligation is accelerated. If (i) the maturity of any Credit Obligation is accelerated for any reason, (ii) any Credit Obligation is
prepaid and as a result any amounts held to constitute interest are determined to be in excess of the legal maximum, or (iii) any Lender
or any other holder of any or all of the Credit Obligations shall otherwise collect moneys which are determined to constitute interest
which would otherwise increase the interest on any or all of the Credit Obligations to an amount in excess of that permitted to be
charged by Applicable Law then in effect, then all sums determined to constitute interest in excess of such legal limit shall, without
penalty, be promptly applied to reduce the then outstanding principal of the related Credit Obligations or, at such Lender’s or holder’s
option, promptly returned to the Borrower or the other payor thereof upon such determination. In determining whether or not the
interest paid or payable, under any specific circumstance, exceeds the maximum amount permitted under Applicable Law, the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower (and any other payors thereof) shall to the greatest extent permitted under
Applicable Law, (i) characterize any non-principal payment as an expense, fee or premium rather than as interest, (ii) exclude
voluntary prepayments and the effects thereof, and (iii) amortize, prorate, allocate, and spread the total amount of interest throughout
the entire contemplated term of the instruments evidencing the Credit Obligations in accordance with the amounts outstanding from
time to time thereunder and the maximum legal rate of interest from time to time in effect under Applicable Law in order to lawfully
charge the maximum amount of interest permitted under Applicable Law.

SECTION 11.10  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so
executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. It shall not be necessary in
making proof of this Agreement to produce or account for more than one such counterpart. It is agreed by the parties
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LR I3 LIS

hereto that, notwithstanding the use herein of the words “writing,” “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” or other words of similar
import, the parties hereto intend that the use of digital or electronic signatures and the keeping of records in electronic form be granted
the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a signature affixed by hand or the use of a paper-based record keeping system (as the
case might be) to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and
National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the
Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. The Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Depositary shall not incur any liability in
acting upon any signature (including an electronic or digital signature), notice, request, consent, certificate, opinion, or other
instrument reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

SECTION 11.11  Integration. THIS WRITTEN AGREEMENT, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS
AND ANY OTHER CONFIDENTIALITY OR NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE
BORROWER AND ANY PROTECTED PARTY ON OR PRIOR TO THE DATE HEREOF, REPRESENTS THE FINAL
AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS
OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN THE PARTIES. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and those of any other Loan
Document, the provisions of this Agreement shall control; provided that the inclusion of supplemental rights or remedies in favor of
the Collateral Agent, the Administrative Agent or the Lenders in any other Loan Document shall not be deemed a conflict with this
Agreement. Each Loan Document was drafted with the joint participation of the respective parties thereto and shall be construed
neither against nor in favor of any party, but rather in accordance with the fair meaning thereof.

SECTION 11.12  Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties made hereunder and in any
other Loan Document or other document delivered pursuant hereto or thereto or in connection herewith or therewith shall survive the
execution and delivery hereof and thereof. Such representations and warranties have been or will be relied upon by the Administrative
Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender, regardless of any investigation made by the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent
or any Lender or on their behalf and notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender may have had
notice or Knowledge of any Default or Event of Default at the time of the Borrowing, and shall continue in full force and effect as
long as any Loan or any other Obligation shall remain unpaid or unsatisfied.

SECTION 11.13  Severability. Any provision of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a
party that is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition
or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions thereof, and any such prohibition or unenforceability in any
jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
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SECTION 11.14 Headings. The headings of the sections and subsections hereof are provided for convenience only and shall
not in any way affect the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement.

SECTION 11.15 Marshalling; Payments Set Aside. None of the Administrative Agent, the Depositary, the Collateral Agent or
any Lender shall be under any obligation to marshal any assets in favor of the Borrower or any other party or against or in payment of
any or all of the Obligations. To the extent that the Borrower makes a payment or payments to the Administrative Agent, the
Depositary or the Collateral Agent (or to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, or to the Collateral Agent or the
Depositary for the benefit of the Protected Parties), or the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent enforces any security interests
or exercises its rights of set-off, and such payment or payments or the proceeds of such enforcement or set-off or any part thereof are
subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any
other party under any bankruptcy law, any other state or federal law, common law or any equitable cause, then, to the extent of such
recovery, the obligation or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied, and all Liens, rights and remedies therefor or related thereto,
shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if such payment or payments had not been made or such enforcement or set-
off had not occurred.

SECTION 11.16 Performance by the Administrative Agent. If the Borrower fails to perform any of its obligations under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document or any Servicing Document in a timely fashion, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled,
but not obliged, to perform such obligation at the expense of the Borrower and without waiving any rights that it may have with
respect to such breach.

SECTION 11.17 Third Party Beneficiaries. Each Protected Party and Indemnitee is an express third party beneficiary hereof;
provided that this Agreement may be amended without the consent of any such Protected Party or Indemnitee, except to the extent
required pursuant to Section 11.03.

SECTION 11.18 Consequential Damages. None of the Borrower nor any Indemnitee shall assert any claim against any other
party hereto on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages arising out of or otherwise relating to
the Loan Documents or any of the transactions contemplated herein or therein; provided that the foregoing shall not prohibit any
Indemnitee from seeking indemnification under Section 11.05 for any such damages claimed by a third party.

SECTION 11.19 Governing_Law;_Submission to Jurisdiction. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS AND ANY RIGHT, OBLIGATION, CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE OF THE PARTIES
HEREUNDER AND THEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, SECTION 5-1401 AND SECTION 5-1402 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK), WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES. Any
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legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement or any other Loan Document may be brought in the courts of the State of
New York in the Borough of Manhattan, or of the United States for the Southern District of New York and, by execution and delivery
of this Agreement, the Borrower hereby irrevocably accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the
nonexclusive jurisdiction of such courts. The Borrower irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which
it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such proceeding brought in such court and any claim that any such
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.

SECTION 11.20  Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING UNDER ANY
LOAN DOCUMENT OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF
THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO ANY LOAN DOCUMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS
RELATED THERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER
FOUNDED IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE; AND EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS
THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL
WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A
COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE SIGNATORIES
HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

SECTION 11.21 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall become effective at such time when: (a) it shall have been executed
by the Borrower, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary and the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall have received
copies hereof (telefaxed or otherwise) which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each Lender, and (b) each of the conditions
set forth in Sections 4.01 and 4.02 shall have been satisfied or waived, and thereafter this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure
to the benefit of the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender and their respective successors and
assigns.

SECTION 11.22  Federal Income Tax Treatment. The Borrower, each Lender, the Administrative Agent, and each assignee
and successor thereto hereby agrees to treat the Loans as indebtedness for federal income tax purposes, and shall maintain such
position in all returns and proceedings relating to such federal income taxes, unless required otherwise pursuant to a final
“determination” within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code.

SECTION 11.23  Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among any such parties, each party
hereto acknowledges that any liability of any Affected Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document, to the extent such
liability is unsecured, may be subject to the Write-Down and
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Conversion Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority and agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

(a)  the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority to any such
liabilities arising hereunder that may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and

(b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
(1) areduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(il)) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such Affected
Financial Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that
such shares or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this
Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(iii)  the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the Write-Down and Conversion
Powers of the applicable Resolution Authority.

SECTION 11.24 Limited Recourse and Non-Petition.

(a) Each of the Protected Parties (other than the Collateral Agent (acting at the written direction of the Required Lenders))
agrees that it shall not instigate any bankruptcy, insolvency, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization, amalgamation or dissolution or
other similar process with respect to the Borrower, although it may make or file a claim or proof, or take any other action, in any
existing bankruptcy, insolvency, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization, amalgamation or dissolution of the Borrower.

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Section 11.24 shall:
(i) release or discharge the Borrower or any other Person from their obligations under any of the Loan Documents;
(i) prevent any sum from falling due in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents,

(iii)  limit or restrict in any way the accrual of interest on any unpaid sum in accordance with the terms of the Loan
Documents,

(iv)  limit the exercise and enforcement of the rights and remedies of the Protected Parties under the Collateral
Documents;

(v) restrict the Protected Parties from obtaining (but not enforcing) a declaratory judgment or similar order as to the

obligations of the Borrower, TILC or any Seller expressed to be assumed hereunder or under any other Loan Document, but
only to the extent that such declaratory judgment or similar order is a necessary procedural step
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to enable the realization of the full benefit of the Collateral and the rights granted pursuant to the Collateral Documents; or

(vi) limit the Collateral Agent (acting at the written direction of the Required Lenders) from instigating any
bankruptcy, insolvency, winding-up, liquidation, reorganization, amalgamation or dissolution or other similar process with
respect to the Borrower.

SECTION 11.25 Acknowledgment Regarding Any Supported QFCs.
(a) Acknowledgments.

To the extent that the Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for any Derivatives Agreements or
any other agreement or instrument that is a QFC (such support, “QFC Credit Support” and each such QFC a “Supported QFC”), the
parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the
Federal Deposit Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together with the
regulations promulgated thereunder, the “U.S. Special Resolution Regimes™) in respect of such Supported QFC and QFC Credit
Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated
to be governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of the United States):

(i) In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a “Covered Party”) becomes
subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported QFC and the benefit of
such QFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or under such Supported QFC and such QFC Credit
Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported QFC or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered
Party will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if
the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were
governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.

(i)  In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject to a
proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan Documents that might otherwise
apply to such Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such Covered Party are
permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special
Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a
state of the United States. Without limitation of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that the rights and remedies
of the parties with respect to a defaulting Lender shall in no event affect the rights of any Covered Party with respect to
a Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support.
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(b) Definitions.
As used in this Section 11.25, the following terms have the following meanings:

“BHC Act Affiliate” of any party means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in accordance with 12
U.S.C. §1841(k)) of such party.

“Covered Entity” means any of the following: (i) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance
with, 12 C.F.R. §252.82(b); (ii) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §47.3(b); or
(iii) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §382.2(b).

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §252.81, 47.2
or 382.1, as applicable.

“QFC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12
U.S.C. §5390(c)(8)(D).

SECTION 11.26  PATRIOT Act Notice. Each Lender and the Administrative Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any
Lender) hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the PATRIOT Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record
information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that

will allow each Lender and the Administrative Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) to identify the Borrower in
accordance with the PATRIOT Act.

SECTION 11.27  No Other Duties, Etc. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, none of the syndication agents,
documentation agents, co-agents, structuring agents, arrangers, bookrunners or green advisors listed on the cover page hereof shall
have any powers, duties or responsibilities under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, except in its capacity, as
applicable, as the Administrative Agent or a Lender hereunder, but each such Person shall have the benefit of the indemnities and
exculpatory provisions hereof.

SECTION 11.28 Amendment and Restatement; No Novation.

(a) This Agreement constitutes an amendment and restatement of the Existing Loan Agreement effective from and after
the Restatement Closing Date. The execution and delivery of this Agreement shall not constitute a novation of any debt or other
obligations owing to the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary or the Existing Derivatives Creditors
under the Existing Loan Agreement or any other Loan Document based on facts or events occurring or existing prior to the execution
and delivery of this Agreement. On the Restatement Closing Date, the credit facility described in the Existing Loan Agreement shall be
amended, supplemented, modified and restated in its entirety by the credit facility described herein, and all loans and other obligations
of the Borrower outstanding as of such date under the Existing Loan Agreement, to the extent not repaid in accordance with the terms
herein, shall be deemed to be loans and obligations outstanding under the credit facility described herein, without duplication or any
further action by any Person, except that the Administrative Agent shall make
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such transfers of funds as are necessary in order that the outstanding balance of such Loans, together with any Loans funded on the
Restatement Closing Date, reflect the respective Commitments of the Lenders hereunder.

(b)  On the Restatement Closing Date, all Existing Loans under the Existing Loan Agreement shall be continued and
reconstituted as Loans hereunder in accordance with Section 2.01, and, for the avoidance of doubt, all accrued but unpaid interest on
the Existing Loans to the Restatement Closing Date, all accrued but unpaid fees (if any) under or in connection with the Existing Loan
Agreement to the Restatement Closing Date and all other amounts, costs and expenses (if any) accrued but unpaid to the Restatement
Closing Date or then owing as of the Restatement Closing Date, in each case, under or in connection with the Existing Loan
Agreement, to any of the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the Depositary or the Existing Derivatives
Creditors, shall be due and payable on the first Settlement Date that occurs after the Restatement Closing Date in accordance with the
terms and priorities for payment set forth in Section 2.07(c) (with such interest, fees, other amounts, costs and expenses accorded the
same priorities for payment as interest, fees, corresponding other amounts, costs and expenses under this Agreement) and shall be
without duplication to any such interest, fees, other amounts, costs and expenses accrued under this Agreement.

(c) In furtherance of the foregoing, the parties hereto hereby confirm that each of the Collateral Documents entered into in
connection with the Existing Loan Agreement shall continue to be in full force and effect and is hereby in all respects ratified and
reaffirmed as if fully restated as of the date hereof by this Agreement; provided that: (i) all references therein to the “Loan Agreement”
shall be deemed to be references to this Agreement, (ii) all references to (x) “Administrative Agent” shall be deemed to be references
to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, in its capacity as Administrative Agent under this Agreement, (y) “Collateral Agent” shall
be deemed to be references to U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, in its capacity as Collateral Agent under this
Agreement and (z) “Depositary” shall be deemed to be references to U.S. Bank National Association, in its capacity as Depositary
under this Agreement; and (iii) all references to “Lenders” shall be deemed to be references to the Lenders under this Agreement. The
Collateral Documents, as confirmed, ratified and reaffirmed by this Agreement, secure and guaranty the Obligations as defined herein.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized
officers as of the day and year first above written.

TRINITY RAIL LEASING 2023 LLC,
as Borrower

By: Trinity Industries Leasing Company, its
sole equity member and manager

By:__/s/ Joshua Yeretsky
Name: Joshua Yeretsky
Title: Vice President and Managing Director, Capital Markets
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent

By:__/s/ Michael Barath
Name: Michael Barath
Title: Vice President
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U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, not in its
individual capacity, but solely in its capacity as Collateral Agent

By:__/s/ Chris McKim
Name: Chris McKim
Title: Vice President

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, not in its individual capacity, but
solely in its capacity as Depositary

By:__/s/ Chris McKim
Name: Chris McKim
Title: Vice President
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Michael Barath
Name: Michael Barath
Title: Vice President
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CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANK,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Brian Bolotin
Name: Brian Bolotin
Title: Managing Director

By:__/s/ Elisa Lajonchere
Name: Elisa Lajonchere
Title: Managing Director
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Andrew Castellos
Name: Andrew Castellos
Title: Director
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ING CAPITAL LLC (as successor by assignment from ING Bank, a branch
of ING-DiBa AG),
as Lender

By:__/s/ Stephen Nettler
Name: Stephen Nettler
Title: Managing Director

By:__/s/ Fabien Villemalard
Name: Fabien Villemalard
Title: Director
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REGIONS BANK,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Josh Aycox
Name: Josh Aycox
Title: Managing Director
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PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Nina Austin
Name: Nina Austin
Title: Senior Vice President
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FIFTH THIRD BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Lender

By:__/s/ Matt Glahn
Name: Matt Glahn
Title: AVP
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CITIZENS BANK, N.A.,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Vu Nguyen
Name: Vu Nguyen
Title: Director
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MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A.,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Ricardo Rivera Saad
Name: Ricardo Rivera Saad
Title: Authorized Signatory
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BANK OF TEXAS,
as Lender

By:__/s/ Christine Keating__
Name: Christine Keating
Title: Senior Vice President
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Derivatives Creditor

By:__/s/ Harold E. Sprague
Name: Harold E. Sprague
Title: Designated Signer
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ING CAPITAL MARKETS LLC,
as Derivatives Creditor

By:__/s/ Paola Corradetti
Name: Paola Corradetti
Title: Director

By:__/s/ Juan Carlos Vallarino
Name: Juan Carlos Vallarino
Title: Director
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Acknowledged and consented to:

TRINITY INDUSTRIES LEASING COMPANY,
as Servicer

By:__/s/ Joshua Yeretsky
Name: Joshua Yeretsky
Title: Vice President and Managing Director, Capital Markets




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, E. Jean Savage, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Trinity Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The reg
defined

istrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.

b.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 1, 2025

[s/ E. Jean Savage

E. Jean Savage
Chief Executive

Officer and President
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CERTIFICATION

I, Eric R. Marchetto, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Trinity Industries, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.

b.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 1, 2025

[s/ Eric R. Marchetto

Eric R. Marchetto
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, E. Jean Savage, Chief Executive Officer and President of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company, as of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.

[s/ E. Jean Savage

E. Jean Savage
Chief Executive Officer and President
May 1, 2025

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Eric R. Marchetto, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company, as of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.

[s/ Eric R. Marchetto

Eric R. Marchetto
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 1, 2025

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



